University of Bath



PHD

The role of tumour necrosis factor alpha in lung inflammation

White, Anna-Marie

Award date: 1996

Awarding institution: University of Bath

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

University 2.

The role of tumour necrosis factor α in lung inflammation

submitted by Anna-Marie White for the degree of PhD of the University of Bath 1997

Attention is drawn to the fact that copyright of this thesis rests with its author. This copy of the thesis has been supplied on the condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without prior written consent of the author.

This thesis may be made available for consultation within the University library and may be photocopied or lent to other libraries for the purpose of consultation.

A.M. White.

UMI Number: U601474

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U601474 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

UNIVERSITY OF EATH LIPEANNE 23 - 9 DEC 1397 PHD SH7631

•

To Mum and Dad

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr Malcolm Watson and Professor John Westwick, for their continuous support throughout this project. Their enthusiasm and intellectual stimulation together with their editorial guidance in the preparation of this thesis have been greatly valued. I am also grateful for every aspect of their support during these studies, including ensuring that I possess a passport prior to leaving for the airport. I would also like to thank Dr Anthony Smith for his guidance during all cloning studies.

In addition, I wish to thank Dr Andrew Bourne who during my undergraduate project was involved (together with my supervisors) in convincing me to remain at Bath and embark on this project. None the less Andrew, I am still grateful to you! Both Andrew Bourne and Emma Campbell, working in the same field, provided excellent sounding boards for ideas. My thanks also extents to the staff in the department and especially to Mr Charlie Chambers and all the members of the animal house. Dr Nicola Jordan deserves a special mention for not only her guidance in Northern blot analysis, but also for her help during the preparation of this thesis. Furthermore, I must thank Mrs Rosemary Walker for her friendship and allowing me to stay with her over the past 6 years.

I am grateful to the Wellcome Trust for funding this research project.

Finally, my thanks go to my family, Nicky, Holly and Tupence but especially to my parents; who have taken the brunt of all experimental disasters but received little consideration when the project finally planned out, for their extreme patience whilst writing up and for their total confidence in my ability to succeed in my future ventures.

Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS i
ABBREVIATIONS viii
ABSTRACT xii
1. INTRODUCTION1
1.1 TUMOUR NECROSIS FACTOR α (TNFα)
1.1.1 History, isolation, characterisation and cloning2
1.1.2 Regulation of TNFα biosynthesis4
1.1.3 Biosynthesis and processing of TNF $lpha$
1.1.4 TNFα receptors
1.1.5 Biological activity and disease pathogenesis12
1.1.6 Distribution and clearance of TNFα15
1.2 AIRWAY INFLAMMATION AND ASTHMA
1.2.1 Allergic asthma
1.3 EVIDENCE FOR THE ROLE OF CYTOKINES IN ASTHMA
1.3.1 Leukocyte accumulation25
1.4 ANIMAL MODEL OF AIRWAY INFLAMMATION
1.5 AIMS OF THIS PROJECT
2. MATERIALS & METHODS
2.1 MATERIALS
2.2 Expression of gpTNFα
2.2.1 cDNA for gpTNFα
2.2.2 Transfection of gpTNFα cDNA into XL1-Blue
2.2.3 Storing bacterial cultures at -70°C
2.2.4 Preparation of oligo nucleotide primers40
2.2.5 Plasmid vector generation41
2.2.5.1 Amplification of gpTNFα cDNA
2.2.5.2 Tris-Borate EDTA (TBE) agarose gels
2.2.5.3 'Cleaning' DNA recovered from agarose gels or in solution
2.2.5.4 Preparing gpTNFα cDNA for insertion into pMAL-p2 plasmid
2.2.6 Preparation of pMAL-p2 plasmid4
2.2.6.1 Isolation of pMAL-p2 plasmid DNA
2.2.6.2 Double digestion of pMAL-p2 with XmnI and Hind III

2.2.7 Cloning of gpTNFa cDNA into pMAL-p2 plasmid	49
2.2.8 Preparing the host cell	49
2.2.9 Cloning of vector into host cell	49
2.2.10 Screening for the presence of vector insertion	51
2.2.11 Production of gpTNFα-MBP fusion protein	54
2.3 Purification of gPTNFα	54
2.3.1 Affinity chromatography over amylose	54
2.3.2 Cleavage with factor Xa	55
2.3.3 Removal of MBP	56
2.3.3.1 Hydroxyapatite column	56
2.3.3.2 Amylose column	57
2.3.4 Removal of endotoxin	57
2.4 TNF α cytotoxicity bioassay and immunological activity	58
2.4.1 TNF bioassay	58
2.4.2 Whole lung tissue sample preparation	58
2.4.3 Neutralisation of TNF α cytolytic activity	59
2.4.4 Preparation of rabbit anti murine TNF α IgG fraction	59
2.4.5 ELISA for gpTNFα	60
2.5 SDS-PAGE AND WESTERN BLOTTING	61
2.5.1 Sample preparation for PAGE gels	61
2.5.1.1 Protein containing solutions	61
2.5.1.2 Whole lung tissue	61
2.5.1.3 Protein assay	61
2.5.2 SDS gel preparation	62
2.5.3 Detection of proteins in SDS-PAGE gels	63
2.5.3.1 Coomassie blue staining	
2.5.3.2 Silver staining	
2.5.4 Electrophoretic transfer of proteins to nitrocellulose membrane	64
2.5.5 Blocking and antibody probing of membranes	65
2.6 NORTHERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF MRNA	67
2.6.1 Extraction of total RNA from samples	67
2.6.2 Agarose/formaldehyde gel electrophoresis	68
2.6.3 Transfering RNA from the gel to nitrocellulose membrane	68
2.6.4 Digoxigenin (DIG)-labelled probes for northern analysis	69
2.6.5 Hybridisation of northern blots with DIG labelled probes	71
2.6.6 Immunodetection of DIG-labelled probes for northern analysis	71
2.7 INDUCTION OF CHEMOKINE-LIKE ACTIVITY BY TNFα	73

2.7.1 Guinea-pig peritoneal macrophage and eosinophil collection	73
2.7.2 Production of gpTNF α by stimulated macrophages	74
2.7.3 Stimulation of guinea-pig spleen cells, peritoneal macrophages and JH-4 cells wit	h gpTNFα
and recombinant human cytokines	74
2.7.4 Elevations in intracellular free calcium concentration [Ca ²⁺] _i in guinea-pig perito	neal
leukocytes	76
2.7.4.1 Guinea-pig peritoneal neutrophil collection	76
2.7.4.2 Measurement of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded guinea-pig peritoneal leukocytes	76
2.7.4.3 Calculating [Ca ²⁺] _i	77
2.8 IN VIVO STUDIES OF AIRWAY INFLAMMATION IN THE GUINEA-PIG	79
2.8.1 Antigen sensitisation procedure and antigen challenge	79
2.8.2 In vivo cytokine and murine anti TNF α antibody challenge	79
2.8.2.1 Aerosol challenge using a nose-cone	79
2.8.2.2 Tracheal aerosol challenge	82
2.8.2.3 Tracheal instillation	
2.8.3 Measurement of guinea-pig lung function <u>in vivo</u>	83
2.8.4 Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cell accumulation	84
2.8.5 Storage of lung tissue	84
2.9 Measurement of $TNF\alpha$ and chemokine protein content and bioactivity in BAL	AND LUNG
TISSUE	86
2.9.1 Immunohistochemical analysis of BAL cell TNF $lpha$ content	86
2.10 MEASUREMENTS OF EOSINOPHIL PEROXIDASE (EPO) ACTIVITY IN LUNG TISSUE	87
2.11 Statistical analysis	88
3. EXPRESSION & PURIFICATION OF GPTNFα	89
3.1 Predicted protein sequence of gpTNFα	90
3.2 Expression of gPTNFa	90
3.3 PURIFICATION OF GPTNFα	95
3.4 CYTOLYTIC ACTIVITY OF GPTNFa	95
3.5 Detection of TNFα by ELISA	100
3.6 SUMMARY OF EXPRESSION AND PURIFICATION OF GPTNFa	102
4. INDUCTION OF CHEMOKINES BY TNFα	103
4.1 The induction of chemokines by TNFα	104
4.2 Summary of the induction of IL-8 and chemokine-like activity by $TNF\alpha$	109
5. IN VIVO BIOACTIVITY OF TNFα IN THE GUINEA-PIG LUNG	110

5.1 <u>ΙΝ VIVO</u> ΒΙΟΑCΤΙVITY OF GPTNFα	.111
5.2 <u>In vivo</u> bioactivity of human TNFα	.120
5.3 SUMMARY OF THE IN VIVO ACTIVITY OF TNF α in the guinea-pig	.125
6. LEUKOCYTE ACCUMULATION, AIRWAY REACTIVITY AND TNF α GENERATION	IN
GUINEA-PIG ALLERGIC AIRWAY INFLAMMATION	.126
6.1 THE EFFECT OF ANTIGEN SENSITISATION ON IN VIVO BRONCHIAL REACTIVITY	.128
6.2 AIRWAY LEUKOCYTE RECRUITMENT FOLLOWING ANTIGEN CHALLENGE OF SENSITISED GUINEA-PIGS	s130
6.3 TNF α generation in antigen challenged sensitised guinea-pigs	.135
6.4 BAL INDUCED ELEVATION OF [Ca ²⁺], IN GUINEA-PIG PERITONEAL LEUKOCYTES	.139
6.5 Effect of instilling anti $TNF\alpha$ antibody 20 min prior to antigen challenge on antigen	
INDUCED BAL LEUKOCYTE ACCUMULATION	.142
6.6 SUMMARY OF THE EFFECT OF ANTIGEN CHALLENGE OF SENSITISED ANIMALS	.144
7. EFFECT OF HUMAN IL-13 ON ANTIGEN- AND GPTNF α - INDUCED LUNG	
INFLAMMATION IN VIVO	.145
7.1 THE EFFECT OF IL-13 AND IL-4 ON GPTNFα INDUCED BAL LEUKOCYTE ACCUMULATION	.146
7.2 EFFECT OF IL-13, INSTILLED 20 MIN PRIOR TO ANTIGEN CHALLENGE, ON ANTIGEN-INDUCED BAL	
LEUKOCYTE ACCUMULATION	.150
7.3 EFFECT OF IL-13 ON CHEMOKINE-LIKE ACTIVITY IN BAL OF ANTIGEN CHALLENGED SENSITISED	
GUINEA-PIGS	.152
7.4 SUMMARY OF THE IN VIVO ACTIVITY OF IL-13 IN GUINEA-PIG MODELS OF AIRWAY INFLAMMATION	.154
8. DISCUSSION	.155
8.1 INITIAL AIMS OF THE PROJECT	.156
8.2 Expression and purification of gpTNFα	.156
8.3 The <u>in vivo</u> bioactivity of TNFα	.159
8.4 Is TNFα involved in allergic airway inflammation?	.162
8.5 Mechanisms by which TNFα induces airway inflammation	.165
8.6 EFFECT OF IL-13 ON ANTIGEN AND GPTNFα-INDUCED AIRWAY INFLAMMATION	.167
8.7 CYTOKINE NETWORKING IN ALLERGIC LUNG INFLAMMATION	.172
8.8 IMPLICATION AS POSSIBLE THERAPEUTIC AGENTS	.176
8.9 FINAL CONCLUSIONS	.176
9. REFERENCES	.178
PUBLICATIONS	A1

.

Abbreviations

$[Ca^{2+}]_i$	intracellular free calcium concentration		
5-HPETE	5-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid		
5-HT	5-hydroxytryptamine		
A-SMase	acidic sphingomyelinase		
AA	arachidonic acid		
Amino acid residues:			
A, C, D, E, F,	alanine, cysteine, aspartic acid, glutamic acid, phenylalanine,		
G, H, I, K, L, M,	glycine, histidine, isoleucine, lysine, leucine, methionine,		
N, P, Q, R, S, T,	asparagine, proline, glutamine, arginine, serine, threonine,		
V, W, Y	valine, tryptophan, tyrosine		
AP-1	activator protein-1		
APC	antigen presenting cell		
BAL	bronchoalveolar lavage		
BCIP	5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate		
Bromophenol blue	3',3",5',5"-tetrabromophenolsulphonephthalein		
BSA	bovine serum albumin (low endotoxin)		
C5a	complement fragment 5		
Ca ²⁺	calcium		
САРК	ceramide activated protein kinase		
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid		
CNS	central nervous system		
CSPD	disodium 3-(4-methoxyspiro{1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-(5'-		
	chloro)tricyclo[3.3.1.1 ^{3,7}]decan}-4-yl) phenyl phoshphate		
DAB	diaminobenzidine		
DAG	diacylglycerol		
dATP	2'-deoxy-adenosine-5'-triphosphate		
dCTP	2'-deoxy-cystisine-5'-triphosphate		
dGTP	2'-deoxy-guanosine-5'-triphosphate		
DIG	digoxigenin		
DMSO	dimethyl sulphoxide		
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid		
DTT	dithiothreitol		
dTTP	thymidine-5'-triphosphate		
dUTP	2'-deoxy-uridine-5'-triphosphate		

	EDTA	ethylene diaminetetraacetic acid
	EGTA	ethylene glycol-bis (β -aminoethylether) N,N,N',N'- tetraacetic
		acid
	ELAM-	endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-
	ELISA	enzyme linked immunoassay
	EPO	eosinophil peroxidase
	ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinases
	FceRI/II	IgE receptor I (high affinity) /II (low affinity)
	FCS	foetal calf serum
	Fura-2AM	{1-[2-(5-carboxyoxazol-2-yl)-6-aminobenzofuran-5-oxy]-2(2'-
		amino-5'-methylphenoxy)-ethane-N,N,N', N'-tetraacetic acid,
		pentaacetoxymethyl ester}
	GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
	gpTNFα	guinea-pig tumour necrosis factor α
	HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution pH 7.2-7.4 without Ca ²⁺ Mg ²⁺ or
		phenol red
	Heparin	heparin sodium
	HTAB	hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide
	I-ĸB	inhibitor of NF-ĸB
•	ICAM-	intercellular adhesion molecule-
	IFN-	interferon-
	Ig	immunoglobulin
	IL-	interleukin-
	IL-1ra	interleukin-1 receptor antagonist
	iNOS	inducible nitric oxide synthase
	kDa	kilo Daltons
	LPS	lipopolysaccharide
	LT	leukotrienes
	MAP	mitogen-activated protein kinase
	MBP	maltose-binding protein
	MCP-	monocyte chemotactic protein-
	Mg ²⁺	magnesium
	MHC	major histocompatibility complex
	MIP-	macrophage inflammatory peptide-
	mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid

N-SMase	neutral sphingomyelinase
NAP-	neutrophil activating peptide-
NBT	nitro blue tetrazolium
NF-κB	nuclear factor - KB
OA	ovalbumin (antigen)
OD	optical density
OPD	o-phenylenediamine
p50+p65	proteins of NF-κB complex
p55	p55 TNF receptor
p55-sR / p75-sR	p55 soluble TNFα receptor / p75 soluble TNFα receptor
p75	p75 TNF receptor
PAF	platelet activating factor (1-o-hexadecyl-2-acetyl-sn-glycerol-
	3-phosphorylcholine)
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PC	phosphatidylcholine
PC-PLC	phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PG	prostaglandin
РКС	protein kinase C
PL	phospholipid
PLA ₂	phospholipase A ₂
Protogel	30%(w/v) acrylamide, 0.8%(w/v) bisacrylamide stock solution
	37.5:1
RANTES	regulated upon activation in normal T cells expressed and
	secreted
RNA	ribonucleic acid
s-TNFaR-Fc	soluble TNFα receptor : Ig construct
SDS	lauryl sulphate (sodium dodecyl sulphate)
Selectins: E-, P-, L-	endothelial-, platelet-, leukocyte-selectin
SM	sphingomyelin
TACE	TNFα converting enzyme
TBE	tris-borate EDTA
TBS	tris-buffered saline
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine

TNF	tumour necrosis factor	
TNFα	tumour necrosis factor α / cachectin	
τηγβ	tumour necrosis factor β / lymphotoxin, two forms $TNF\beta_{\alpha}$ and	
	$\text{TNF}\beta_{\beta}$	
TNFa-BP	TNFα binding protein	
TNFRrp	TNF receptor related protein	
TRADD	TNF receptor associated death domain	
TRAF-1, -2	TNF receptor associated factor-1, -2	
Triton X-100	octylphenoxyolyethoxyethanol	
Tween-20	polyoxyethylene-sorbitan monolaurate	
Tx	thromboxane	
VCAM-	vascular cell adhesion molecule-	
VLA-	very late activation antigen-	
WEHI	Walter and Eliza Hall Institute (in Melbourne, Australia)	

Abstract

Recombinant guinea-pig TNF α (gpTNF α) has been cloned, expressed and purified, and its *in vivo* biological activity in the guinea-pig lung examined. cDNA corresponding to the secreted form of gpTNF α was amplified by the polymerase chain reaction, cloned into the pMAL-p2 vector and expressed in *E. coli*. This system results in the expression of a maltose binding protein-gpTNF α fusion protein incorporating a factor Xa cleavage site. The fusion protein was extracted from the *E. coli* lysate by affinity chromatography. Factor Xa cleavage releases gpTNF α from the fusion protein, resulting in a 17kDa protein detectable with anti murine TNF α antibodies in western blotting. Hydroxyapatite, amylose and polymyxin B-bound agarose columns were used for further purification. gpTNF α exhibited a cytotolytic activity 4 fold greater than recombinant human TNF α standards in a murine TNF α bioassay.

The *in vivo* bioactivity of gpTNF α in the lung was characterised in guineapigs. gpTNF α induced a pronounced and protracted airway eosinophilia which was both time-related (peaking at 24 hours) and dose dependent. Pre-incubating gpTNF α with anti TNF α antibody or heat inactivating the protein, prior to tracheal instillation inhibited gpTNF α induced leukocyte accumulation. The instillation of human TNF α elicited a weaker inflammatory cell recruitment with different cellular characteristics than that induced by gpTNF α indicating species selectivity.

The role of TNF α in a guinea-pig model of allergic airway inflammation was also examined. Following antigen challenge temporal changes in lung leukocyte infiltration and chemokine-like activity in the airways were observed. The administration of anti TNF α antibody partially inhibited antigen-induced eosinophil accumulation. In addition, treatment with human IL-13, a cytokine which exhibits anti-inflammatory activities, inhibited both gpTNF α - and antigen-induced airway eosinophilia, and inhibited the generation of chemokine-like bioactivity in the airways in response to antigen.

This thesis indicates the importance of TNF α as mediator of airway eosinophil accumulation *in vivo*.

1. Introduction

1.1 Tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α)

Cell to cell communication is a complex set of events involving receptorligand interactions, intracellular signaling pathways, gene expression and protein synthesis. In order to exert an effect on a biological system these events must occur in a coordinated manner. One system which is highly regulated by cell to cell communication is the immune/inflammatory system. The controlled modulation of immune-cell derived protein mediators is essential since these mediators not only orchestrate the inflammatory response, but are also involved in normal cellular growth and differentiation. One such mediator is tumour necrosis factor (TNF).

1.1.1 History, isolation, characterisation and cloning

The phenomenon of bacterial induced tumour necrosis was reported at the turn of the century by William Coley (Coley, 1893; Coley, 1906) and later further investigated by Shear and colleagues (Shear et al. 1943). This was probably the first report of the concept of TNF. Shear isolated a gram-negative bacterial factor responsible for the induced necrosis, now known as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and then showed that LPS did not directly cause tumour necrosis (O'Malley et al. 1962). A decade later, 1975, Carswell et al. 1975 reported similar and more extensive findings that the serum derived from mice, rats and rabbits treated with Bacillus Calmette-Guérin (BCG) prior to injection of endotoxin contained a necrotising factor capable of acting upon tumours implanted in the skin of recipient mice with no apparent effect on the recipient. This activity of the serum was named TNF. Initial in vitro studies in 1975, using the supernatant from endotoxin stimulated rat peritoneal macrophages provided evidence that TNF was cytotoxic to benzpyrene-induced sarcoma cells but not normal rat kidney or diaphragm cells (Currie & Basham, 1975). This cytotoxic selectivity was also observed by Helson (Helson, 1975) who induced lysis of human melanoma cells with partially purified murine TNF.

The nature and sequence of the protein TNF was not identified until the mid-80's when two forms were isolated from human sources and subsequently their cDNA was cloned (Aggarwal *et al.* 1985b; Pennica *et al.* 1984; Gray *et al.* 1984; Wang *et al.* 1985; Shirai *et al.* 1985). The 2 forms of TNF defined as TNF α and lymphotoxin (TNF β) exhibited 34% amino acid sequence homology, with TNF α believed to be produced by monocytes/ macrophages and TNF β by lymphocytes. Originally it was generally perceived that these 2 proteins which exhibited structural homology and bound common receptors functioned similarly, but it is now becoming clear that TNF β is not a redundant aspect of TNF α biology. Indications that TNF β could induce separate biological functions from TNF α were implicated by the identification of a TNF β -specific receptor (Crowe *et al.* 1994) named TNF receptor related protein (TNFRrp). TNF β (TNF β_{α}) binds to TNFR-rp as a heterotrimer produced by binding with a third member of the TNF ligand family TNF β_{β} , forming a TNF $\beta_{\alpha 2}$:TNF $\beta_{\beta 1}$ complex (Browning *et al.* 1993).

At a similar time a report described a factor, in a murine system, which was involved in the suppression of lipoprotein lipase and the induction of cachexia (Kawakami *et al.* 1982). Cachexia is a state of malnutrition which often complicates illness as the host continues to catabolise vital lipid and protein stores despite reducing food intake. This factor termed cachectin possessed similar biological activity and NH₂-terminal sequence homology to TNF α . Following the purification of cachectin it was found to be identical to TNF α (Beutler *et al.* 1985a). By the end of the eighties the sequencing and cloning of rabbit (Ito *et al.* 1986), murine (Pennica *et al.* 1985) and rat (Shirai *et al.* 1989) TNF α confirmed TNF α to be a 17kDa protein under denaturing conditions and 45-51kDa under native conditions, suggesting activity as a trimer. TNF α was subsequently classified as a cytokine, a large family of host-derived proteins which are involved in cell to cell communication.

1.1.2 Regulation of TNF α biosynthesis

TNF α is produced primarily by activated macrophages, but also by a wide variety of inflammatory and tissue cell types of which an abridged list is shown in table 1.1. The protein is also produced by a range of tumour cells (Cordingley et al. 1988), and it is currently speculated that under the appropriate conditions all nucleated cell types are capable of producing TNFa. Although it was first thought that TNFa was solely synthesised *de novo* following cell activation it has been shown that in mast cells TNFa can exist in a stored form (Gordon & Galli, 1990). The biosynthesis of TNF α is highly regulated at the transcriptional, translational, and post-translational levels. The involvement of transcriptional regulation was noted in peritoneal murine macrophages by Beutler et al (Beutler et al. 1986a). In resting cells the TNFa gene was transcriptionally active and TNFa mRNA detected but TNFa protein was not measurable, indicating that the mRNA was not being translated. Cellular activation by LPS was postulated to mobilise the sequestered mRNA for translation and to stimulate the biosynthesis of additional message. Following stimulation the rate of transcription was increased approximately threefold whilst TNFa mRNA levels increased 50-100 times and protein secretion 10,000 times (Beutler et al. 1986a; Chung et al. 1992), suggesting the involvement of transcriptional and translational regulation. Dexamethasone inhibits both gene transcription and mRNA translation, but dexamethasone will only suppress the latter if added prior to LPS stimulation (Beutler et al. 1986a). Once induction of the translation phase had occurred dexamethasone was incapable of regulating TNF α production, hence dexamethasone may only be an effective suppresser of TNF α biosynthesis in a prophylactic manner.

The use of protein synthesis inhibitors has demonstrated that post-translational mechanisms also regulate TNF α biosynthesis. The addition of cycloheximide increased mRNA levels and the gene transcription rate in phorbol ester stimulated

Cell type	Reference
monocytes	(Beutler <i>et al.</i> 1985a)
neutrophils	(Dubravec et al. 1990)
eosinophils	(Costa <i>et al.</i> 1993)
lymphocytes	(Cuturi <i>et al.</i> 1987)
mast cells	(Gordon & Galli, 1990)
smooth muscle cells	(Warner & Libby, 1989)
endothelial cells	(Shanahan <i>et al</i> . 1989)
epithelial cells	(Spriggs <i>et al.</i> 1988)
fibroblasts	(Havell & Rogerson, 1993)
Kupffer cells	(Karck <i>et al.</i> 1988)
mesangial cells	(Baud et al. 1989)
cardiac myocytes	(Kapadia <i>et al</i> . 1995)
astrocytes	(Robbins <i>et al.</i> 1987)

<u>Table 1.1:</u> An abridged list of different cell types which produce $TNF\alpha$.

monocytes. As mRNA levels were also increased in the presence of a combination of actinomycin D (an inhibitor of transcription) and cycloheximide this suggests that labile proteins may reduce the stability of TNF α mRNA and that gene activation can occur in the absence of protein synthesis presumably via modification of pre-existing cellular factors and the inhibition of repressor protein synthesis (Sariban *et al.* 1988; Chung *et al.* 1992; Collart *et al.* 1986). Such factors may include NF- κ B which is activated by the phosphorylation and subsequent cleavage of an inhibitory factor I- κ B. The TNF α gene promoter region contains NF- κ B binding motifs which on activation by active NF- κ B induces gene transcription (Collart *et al.* 1990). Another factor controlling gene expression is the regulation of mRNA stability. A region of 3'-untranslated TNF α mRNA contains a long U + A exclusive region bearing overlapping and repeating octameric elements (UUAUUUAU) which is similar to 3'-untranslated sequences in other cytokine mRNAs. Using gene constructs it has been shown that the A U region is involved in mRNA destabilisation and enhanced

translation efficiency (Shaw & Kamen, 1986; Caput *et al.* 1986; Han *et al.* 1990). Due to TNF α biosynthesis being regulated at several levels it is perhaps not surprising that the agents capable of altering TNF α production are highly diverse, an abridged list is shown in table 1.2.

	Induction of TNFa production	
Agent type	example	reference
Cytokines	ΤΝΓα	(Philip & Epstein, 1986)
	interferon-γ (IFNγ)	(Philip & Epstein, 1986)
	IL-1	(Philip & Epstein, 1986)
	IL-2	(Nedwin <i>et al.</i> 1985)
Drugs and	inducers of PKC (phorbol esters)	(Sariban <i>et al.</i> 1988)
biologically	leukotrienes	(Dubois <i>et al.</i> 1989)
active lipids	platelet activating factor (PAF)	(Dubois <i>et al.</i> 1989)
Parasite products	malaria exoantigens	(Bate et al. 1988)
Viruses	influenza virus	(Beutler et al. 1986b)
Bacterial	LPS	(Beutler et al. 1986a)
products	Borrelia burgdorferi	(Radolf <i>et al.</i> 1991)

<u>Table 1.2:</u> An abridged list of agents capable of modulating TNF production.

	Suppression of TNFa production		
Agent type	example	reference	
Cytokines	IL-4	(Hart <i>et al.</i> 1991)	
	IL6	(Aderka et al. 1989)	
	TGF-β	(Chantry <i>et al.</i> 1989)	
Drugs and	lipooxygenase inhibitors	(Dubois <i>et al.</i> 1989)	
biologically	dexamethasone	(Beutler et al. 1986a)	
active lipids	phosphodiesterase inhibitors e.g. pentoxifylline	(Doherty et al. 1991)	
	inhibitors of NF-κB	(Takasuka <i>et al.</i> 1995)	
	cyclosporin A	(Espevik <i>et al.</i> 1987)	
Viruses	Epstein-Barr	(Gosselin et al. 1991)	

1.1.3 Biosynthesis and processing of $TNF\alpha$

TNFa is synthesised as a 26kDa, type II cell-surface associated, propeptide anchored to the cell membrane by an NH₂-terminal hydrophobic domain (Kriegler et al. 1988). In human cells mature TNF α is produced following the proteolytic cleavage of the membrane bound 233 amino acid protein resulting in the secretion of a 157 amino acid 17kDa peptide (Jue et al. 1990). The enzyme or enzymes responsible for this process, termed TNF α converting enzyne (TACE) have yet to be fully characterised but have recently been cloned (Black et al. 1997; Moss et al. 1997). Both the transmembrane and mature protein are biologically active. Elegant studies by Perez et al (Perez et al. 1990) using transmembrane TNFa mutants which were resistant to proteolytic processing showed that the membrane form mediated tumour and virus-infected cell cytotoxicity by cell to cell contact. Further studies have implicated the membrane bound form of $TNF\alpha$ as a mediator of cell-cell interaction in co-stimulatory signalling for B lymphocyte activation by T lymphocytes (Aversa et al. 1993). Secreted mature TNF α is active as a noncovalently associated homotrimer, the lack of biological activity induced by the monomeric form has been ascribed to the decreased affinity of a monomer for the receptor (Smith & Baglioni, 1987). Crystal structure resolution suggests that each monomer contains an elongated, antiparallel β -pleated sheet which displays the topology of the classical viral "jelly-roll" (Jones et al. 1989). A diagrammatic sketch of the homotrimer is shown in figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1: Ribbon representation of the trimeric form of human TNF α . Individual subunits are coloured green, red and blue. The NH₂-termini are marked by blue spheres and the COOH-termini by red spheres. The yellow spheres (near the top of the molecule) represent disulphide bridges. (From Jones *et al.* 1989).

1.1.4 TNF a receptors

TNF α binds to at least two types of receptor, the p55 receptor (also referred to as the p60 receptor, TNF receptor I, high affinity receptor and the TNF receptor type B) and to the p75 receptor (also referred to as the p80 receptor, TNF receptor II low affinity receptor and the TNF receptor type A) these having molecular weights of approximately 55kDa and 75kDa respectively (Loetscher et al. 1990; Lewis et al. 1991; Gray et al. 1990). The two types of receptor mediate both overlapping and nonoverlapping functions (Tartaglia et al. 1991; Tartaglia & Goeddel, 1992b). The distribution of TNF α receptors is believed to be wide spread, being present to varying extents on virtually all cells except red blood cells. These receptors are members of large family of receptors which are all characterised by common cysteine-rich domains (3-6 domains/molecule) in the extracellular portion of the receptor and include; Fas, CD27, nerve growth factor receptor and TNFR-rp (Smith et al. 1990). Typical of all the members of this family p55 and p75 have distinct cytoplasmic domains. One exception is a short section of the p55 cytoplasmic domain which has homology with the Fas receptor (28% homology over 65 amino acids) (Tartaglia et al. 1993). Mutations of both the Fas and p55 receptor have indicated that this region is involved in the signal mediation of target cell apoptosis and cytotoxicity, respectively, and is referred to as the death domain (Tartaglia & Goeddel, 1992a; Tartaglia et al. 1993).

Results from crystal structure resolution of homotrimeric TNF β binding to the p55 receptor (Banner *et al.* 1993) and multivalent anti-TNF receptor antibodies mediating TNF α cytotoxicity (Engelmann *et al.* 1990) support a putative mechanism that on the binding of secreted TNF α homotrimer to the receptor, receptor clustering occurs with the trimer binding to 3 receptors and stabilising the complex (Banner *et al.* 1993). If receptor clustering is required for optimum receptor signalling it can be postulated that this would render the monomeric form, which is unable to induce receptor clustering, less active than the oligomeric forms of TNF α . This would be in accordance with the findings of Smith & Baglioni, 1987 that monomeric TNF α lacks

biological activity. The signalling events which occur following receptor activation are complex and not at present fully understood. Unravelling this complex signalling pathway to establish how the stimulation of a TNF α receptor can induce such diverse cellular responses is an expanding area of TNF α biology. TNF α receptor stimulation has been shown to recruit TNF receptor associated factors (e.g. TRAF-1, -2) to the receptor complex and subsequently induce the activation of various signalling pathways including serine/threonine kinases (e.g. protein kinase C (PKC) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK)), protein tyrosine kinases (e.g. mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAP)), acidic and neutral sphingomyelinase, phospholipase A₂, transcription factors (e.g. NF- κ B, AP-1). Although signalling will not be described in detail in this report a possible signalling pathway is shown in figure 1.2 and reference should be made to reviews and references in Beutler & Van Huffel, 1994; Warzocha *et al.* 1994 and Aggarwal & Natarajan, 1996.

Like TNF α , receptor expression has been shown to be regulated by a wide variety of agents with the modulation being cell type dependent. For example IFN γ is capable of either upregulating and downmodulating receptor expression in different cell types (Aggarwal *et al.* 1985a; Drapier & Wietzerbin, 1991). The mechanisms for inducing up- and down-regulation are unclear, although both appear to involve protein phosphorylation. Receptor shedding is a major pathway for the downregulation of receptor expression and although the proteases responsible have not yet been identified metalloproteases have recently been implicated (Crowe *et al.* 1995; Mullberg *et al.* 1995). Interestingly, TNF α can regulate expression of its own receptor. (Higuchi & Aggarwal, 1994) showed that in histiocytic lymphoma U-937 cells TNF α induced the internalisation of the p55 receptor whereas the p75 form was secreted into the external environment. Conversely, in a human epithelial cell line it was demonstrated that TNF α could upregulate the expression of the p75 but not the p55 receptor (Kalthoff *et al.* 1993).



Figure 1.2: A schematic diagram to represent potential signalling pathways activated following activation of the p55 and p75 TNFα receptors. Both receptors are linked to PLA₂, PC-PLC and SMase ultimately resulting in gene induction by the pathways shown. The transcription factor NF- κ B heterodimer is bound to an inhibitor protein, I- κ B, which blocks the dimer's translocation to the nucleus. Phosphorylation and proteolysis of I- κ B resulting in the activation of NF- κ B involves multiple intermediates including ceramide, serine kinase, protein phosphatase and protein kinase. The transcription factor AP-1, which consists of homodimers (*jun* proteins) or heterodimers (*jun* and *fos* proteins) is also activated by TNFα.

AA, arachidonic acid; AP-1 and NF- κ B are both transcription factor complexes, A-SMase, acidic sphingomyelinase; CAPK, ceramide activated protein kinase, DAG, diacylglycerol; I- κ B, inhibitor of NF- κ B; LT, leukotrienes; PC, phosphatidylcholine; PC-PLC phosphatidylcholine-specific phospholipase C; PG, prostaglandins; PL, phospholipid; PLA₂, phospholipase A₂; PKC, protein kinase C, p50+p65; proteins of NF- κ B complex; N-SMase, neutral sphingomyelinase; SM, sphingomyelin; TRAF-1, -2, TNF receptor associated factor-1, -2; TRADD, TNF receptor associated death domain; 5-HPETE, 5-hydroperoxyeicosatetraenoic acid; black area of p75 receptor, death domain.

Soluble fragments of the TNF α receptors were initially isolated and purified as TNF α binding proteins (TNF α -BP) in the urine of patients with febrile illnesses or serum of patients with cancer (Seckinger *et al.* 1997; Gatanaga *et al.* 1990). Sequence analysis of TNF α -BP showed that the two proteins were the extracellular domains of the p55 and p75 receptors (Gray *et al.* 1990; Lantz *et al.* 1990a; Seckinger *et al.* 1990; Schall *et al.* 1990). Proteolytic cleavage of the membrane-bound receptors to produce soluble receptors (p55-sR and p75-sR) reduces both the level of cellular expression and the circulating levels of the active TNF α protein by the binding of the soluble receptors to TNF α , hence receptor shedding decreases the biological response by two mechanisms. In addition to this inhibitory effect, it is thought that the dissociation of bound TNF α from the soluble receptors may be capable of maintaining circulating TNF α at a biologically active level (Aderka *et al.* 1992; Bemelmans *et al.* 1993a; Van Zee *et al.* 1992).

1.1.5 Biological activity and disease pathogenesis

As described earlier during the cloning and purification of TNF α two diverse functions for the protein were discovered, these being the necrosis of tumours and regulating lipid metabolism during infection (hence the name cachectin). The production of the recombinant protein has lead to extensive studies of the activity of TNF α in *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems, the results from which have established a role for TNF α in the physiological and pathological state. It is believed that TNF α is important in a variety of normal physiological processes including embryogenesis (reviewed in Wride & Sanders, 1995), hematopoiesis (Jacobsen *et al.* 1992) and inflammation. However it is thought that the distinction between the physiological and pathological states may be due to the local TNF α concentration (Kunkel *et al.* 1989). At low levels TNF α acts to maintain/promote cellular and tissue homeostasis. By increasing the level, as in the case of a local tissue injury a controlled immune response is orchestrated to repair the tissue, but if the concentration is further increased a pathological state is reached.

With the wide distribution of receptors $TNF\alpha$ can stimulate virtually any cell type acting in an autocrine and paracrine fashion. Following activation TNF α induces a range of biological activities including the alteration of growth, differentiation and metabolism of a variety of cell types. These effects are cell dependent, for example proliferation is induced by TNF α in fibroblasts (Vilcek *et al.* 1986) but suppressed in endothelial and keratinocyte cell cultures (Pillai et al. 1989; Schweigerer et al. 1987). This broad range of actions is reflected in the diverse pathological conditions in which TNF α is implicated. One of the first documented pathological roles for TNF α was as a major mediator of the lethal metabolic effects of endotoxin-mediated (septic) shock (Beutler et al. 1985b). The administration of TNFa to rats induces shock syndrome symptoms, hypotension, tachypnea, metabolic acidosis, hyperglycemia followed by hypoglycemia, and multiple end-organ damage with death usually resulting from respiratory arrest. Latterly, the involvement of TNFa has been suggested in two extreme conditions of body weight: cachexia and obesity. TNFa can modulate the metabolic activities of adipocytes suppressing lipoprotein lipase activity, reducing adipose tissue lipid accumulation and leading to the wasting associated with cachexia, and the inhibition of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake observed in obesity-related insulin resistance (Hotamisligil et al. 1993).

TNF α has both peripheral and central effects. Although only low amounts of TNF α cross the blood-brain barrier (Beutler *et al.* 1985) cells within the central nervous system (CNS) are capable of producing the protein (Robbins *et al.* 1987). TNF α stimulation of the CNS can produce anorexia (Moldawer *et al.* 1988), changes in sleep patterns, pyrogenic responses (fever) (Dinarello *et al.* 1986), induction of the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone and prolactin from the pituitary (Milenkovic *et al.* 1989). Furthermore the overproduction of TNF α by cells within the CNS may be

detrimental to the integrity of the blood brain barrier as TNF α is cytotoxic to oligodendrocytes, the myelin producing cells, which may facilitate demyelination (Selmaj & Raine, 1988) in, for example, multiple sclerosis.

<u>Table 1.3</u>: A partial list of the responses mediated by TNF α which may be involved in inflammatory responses.

Cell type	Responses mediated by TNFa	Reference
Endothelial	Rearrangement of the cytoskeleton to increase vascular	(Brett et al. 1989)
cell	permeability	
	Coagulation (via down modulation of	(Nawroth & Stern, 1986)
	thrombomodulin) to generate thrombin and fibrinogen	
	to induce cell contraction	
	Increased expression of adhesion molecules (E-,	(Mantovani <i>et al.</i> 1992)
	P-selectin, ICAM-1, VCAM-1)	
	Induction of bioactive mediators (e.g. IL-1, PAF,	(Naworth et al. 1986;
	PGI ₂) and nitric oxide synthase	Camussi et al. 1987;
		Kawakami <i>et al.</i> 1986)
	Induction of chemokine expression (e.g.IL-8, MCP-1)	(Brown <i>et al.</i> 1994)
	Increased cell surface antigen expression	(Pober et al. 1986; Collins et
		al. 1986)
Leukocytes	Induction of bioactive mediators (e.g. IL-1, PAF,	(Shalaby et al. 1985;
	TNFα, leukotrienes, prostaglandins, chemokines)	Klebanoff et al. 1986)
	Stimulates phagocytosis and cellular degranulation	(Shalaby <i>et al.</i> 1985)
	Increase MHC expression	(Perlmutter et al. 1986)
	Induced superoxide production, release of lysozyme	(Tsujimoto <i>et al</i> . 1986;
	and hydrogen peroxide	Klebanoff et al. 1986)
Resident	Induction of bioactive mediators (e.g. IL-1, PAF,	(Lukacs et al. 1995a; Le et al.
tissue cells	RANTES, MCP-1, IL-8) and nitric oxide synthase	1984; Robson et al. 1995;
		Jordan et al. 1995; Jordan et
		al. 1996)
	Cellular proliferation	(Vilcek et al. 1986)
	Acute-phase protein synthesis	(Perlmutter et al. 1986)
	Bone and cartilage resorption	(Saklatvala, 1986; Bertolini
		et al. 1986)

Perhaps the most important role of TNFa is as a primary mediator of inflammation. It is widely hypothesised that an inflammatory response is initiated, maintained and resolved via the interplay of the cytokine network. TNF α , thought to be an integral part of this network, is capable of inducing many of the events which are associated with inflammation as described in table 1.3. In addition to the indirect recruitment of leukocytes via increased vascular permeability, enhanced adhesion molecule expression and the induced release of chemoattractants and inflammatory mediators, TNF α also influences tissue remodelling. Tissue remodelling may potentiate the inflammatory condition by stimulating bone and cartilage reabsorption (Saklatvala, 1986; Bertolini et al. 1986) or help resolve the damage incurred during the inflammatory response by acting as a growth factor (Vilcek et al. 1986) and inducing the production of other cytokines which stimulate matrix production (Hajjar et al. 1987). Raised TNFa levels in body fluids have implicated the involvement of the protein in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory disorders including rheumatoid arthritis (Saxne et al. 1988), congestive heart failure (Levine et al. 1990), allograft rejection (Maury & Teppo, 1987), bowel necrosis (Tracey et al. 1986; Sun & Hsueh, 1988), multiple sclerosis (Selmaj.K et al. 1991) and bacterial meningitis (Leist et al. 1988).

1.1.6 Distribution and clearance of $TNF\alpha$

TNF α release into the circulation following the administration of LPS has been extensively studied. Within minutes of endotoxin delivery there is a burst of serum TNF α that peaks in 1-2 hours and is rapidly cleared from the serum becoming undetectable by 4-6 hours, exhibiting a kinetic profile which is similar in most species (table 1.4). In these studies the rapid decline in TNF α bioactivity was not attributed to the presence of soluble TNF α -BP (Brittain *et al.* 1985; Remick *et al.* 1989), however increases in TNF α levels have been associated with increases in TNF α -BP (Spinas *et al.* 1990; Lantz *et al.* 1990b; Bemelmans *et al.* 1993a; Bemelmans *et al.* 1993b). Repeat administration of LPS two hours following the first injection failed to induce a second serum TNF α peak and a state of tolerance was induced (Ulich *et al.* 1990). In accordance with earlier *in vitro* studies (Beutler *et al.* 1986a), *in vivo* studies demonstrated that dexamethasone was only effective at reducing serum TNF α levels if administered concomitant or prior to LPS (Remick *et al.* 1989). In studies monitoring TNF α production at ascites, where there was a ten fold increase in TNF α levels compared with plasma concentrations, dexamethasone if administered at the site of inflammation reduced both the local production and systemic (serum) appearance of TNF α protein. Both protein and mRNA levels at the ascites were reduced by dexamethasone, however administration 20 minutes following LPS did not reduce TNF α levels in the ascitic fluid or in the serum (Remick *et al.* 1989). The regulation of the decline of serum TNF α levels is believed to involve corticosteroids as serum levels in LPS challenged adrenalectomised animals remain at elevated levels. In this situation TNF α concentration is though to persist because the corticosteroid feedback loop, which normal reduces TNF α biosynthesis, is incomplete (Bertini *et al.* 1988).

<u>Table 1.4:</u> A comparison of kinetics of TNFα following *in vivo* LPS challenge. CFA: complete Freunds adjuvant.

Species	Time of peak serum levels	Priming agent	Resolved to basal levels	Route of LPS administration	Reference
rabbits	2 hours	none	4-6 hours	intravenous	(Beutler et al. 1985)
mice	2 hours	BCG	4 hours ?	intravenous	(Carswell <i>et al.</i> 1975)
	1 hour	none	4 hours	intraperitoneal	(Brittain <i>et al.</i> 1985)
	1 hour	CFA	4 hours	intraperitoneal	(Remick <i>et al.</i> 1989)
rats	1-2 hours	none	4 hours	intravenous	(Ulich <i>et al.</i> 1990)
	1-2 hours	C. parvum	4 hours ?	intravenous	(Ulich <i>et al.</i> 1990)

Studies injecting radio-labelled TNF α in mice provided evidence that the serum half-life of the protein is short, approximately 6 minutes in mice, and it is

rapidly (within 10 minutes of TNFa injection) concentrated in liver, skin, gastrointestinal tract, kidney and lung when administered via a peripheral vein. With the exception of lung and skin this accumulation was shown to be via $TNF\alpha$ specific binding sites (Beutler et al. 1985). Although a large amount of the administered TNFa was detected in the kidney only a small amount was observed in the urine as degraded products. The clearance of TNF α is thought to be via the kidney and liver. Experiments using nephrectomised mice (Bemelmans et al. 1993b) showed that following the administration of LPS the serum levels of TNF α peaked at 2 hours but the decline was slower than that observed in sham treated animals, with immunologically detectable levels still present 6 hours following challenge. It was suggested that this increase was accompanied by an increase in TNF α -BP as the bioactivity of the serum was similar to the serum levels of the sham treated animals and chromatography studies identified an immunological protein of 95kDa (possibly TNF α bound p75-sR). Similarly, following the administration of TNF α the biological activity, but not the immunological detectability, was rapidly removed from the circulation of nephrectomised animals. It would appear from studies following unilateral nephrectomy in mice that one functioning kidney is sufficient for the maintenance of normal TNFa clearance. The study by Bemelmans et al. 1993b, in agreement with others (Lantz et al. 1990a), implicated the involvement of the kidney in the clearance of TNF α and TNF α -sR from the circulation. Studies by Bemelmans et al. 1993a stress the importance of considering the methods used to measure $TNF\alpha$ levels when interpreting data. Although immunological detectable levels of $TNF\alpha$ (e.g. measured by ELISA) following LPS administration remained high the levels of biologically active TNF α rapidly returned to the level observed in control animals. This is due to immunological assays not distinguishing between the active and inactive (TNFa bound to the soluble receptor or fragmented TNFa) forms of TNFa, unlike the TNFa bioassays (e.g. WEHI 164 clone 13 cytolytic assay) which only measure biologically active $TNF\alpha$.

1.2 Airway inflammation and asthma

Under normal physiological conditions an inflammatory reaction is an appropriate response by the body to rid the host of invading pathogens, but when the control on this system is in some way disturbed the inappropriate release of mediators from cells can lead to the destruction of healthy tissue, and the onset of a disease state.

Asthma, an inflammatory disease of the airways, displays reversible obstruction of the bronchi and bronchioles causing varying extents of dyspnea resulting from the much reduced airflow in the lungs. Asthmatics are often divided into one of 3 types; 1) extrinsic asthma, where the agent initiating the asthmatic attack originates outside the body, with initially a classical Type I hypersensitivity reaction occurring (atopic). 2) occupational asthma which is mainly atopic and 3) intrinsic asthma not being allergenic in nature (Corrigan & Kay, 1992). An asthmatic attack comprises of 2 main components: bronchial hyperreactivity, with the airways exhibiting increased sensitivity to a variety of non-allergenic stimuli and a localised inflammatory reaction occurring within the lung.

The allergic component of asthma was noted in the early 1900s and an extensive study by Huber & Koessler (Huber & Koessler, 1922) revealed increased eosinophil levels in the blood, sputum and lung tissue of asthmatic patients. The eosinophil has been shown to have a prominent role in asthma as: (1) asthmatic patients exhibit an increased number of eosinophils in the bronchial secretion and lung tissue and an increase in activated or hypodense eosinophils in the peripheral blood (which is often correlated with disease severity) (Bousquet *et al.* 1990; Fukuda *et al.* 1985), (2) increased eosinophil-derived toxic mediators including major basic protein (Frigas *et al.* 1981) and eosinophil cationic protein (Bousquet *et al.* 1990) are present in asthmatic sputum. Apart from lung eosinophilia histological studies show that the asthmatic patients' airway walls exhibit abnormal features; a degraded epithelium, a thickened basement membrane, increased intraluminal secretions and smooth muscle

hypertrophy and hyperplasia (Huber & Koessler, 1922; Laitinen et al. 1985; Jeffery, 1993; Dunnill, 1960; Barnes et al. 1988).

1.2.1 Allergic asthma

The allergic asthmatic attack consists of an early and late phase response with the first early phase response occurring within minutes of contact with the antigen, the agent to which the individual is sensitised. On initial exposure to the antigen an immune response occurs with the inappropriate synthesis of IgE antibodies. The total IgE level is much lower than the levels of other antibodies (in human serum 50-300ng/ml compared with 10mg/ml of IgG) however, the response is amplified via receptor activation (Sutton & Gould, 1993). The Fc region of IgE molecule binds to a high affinity receptor (FcERI) present on the surface of mast cells, basophils, eosinophils and activated monocytes (atopic individuals) (Soussi Gounni et al. 1994; Maurer et al. 1994) and to a low affinity receptor (FcERII) on a variety of cells, including B lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, eosinophils, macrophages and platelets. The bound IgE molecules act as receptors for the antigen. Cross linkage between the antigen and the cell bound IgE - FceRI, principally involving mast cells and basophils, triggers cellular degranulation and mediator release from cellular granules by modifying the cell membrane permeability and activating a series of intracellular signalling pathways. Both mast cells, resident within the lung, and basophils contain a vast array of preformed mediators as well as the capacity to synthesise and secrete other mediators including cytokines, chemokines and biologically active lipids (Galli, 1993; Wodnar-Filipowicz et al. 1989; Plaut et al. 1989).

The released mediators exhibit an array of bronchoconstricting and inflammatory activities. Prior to the recognition of the involvement of cytokines eicosanoids were thought to be one of the major mediators of inflammation. The arachidonic acid metabolites leukotrienes (LT) C₄, LTD₄, LTE₄ (then called the slow reacting substance of anaphylaxis) were suggested, in the 1940's, to be released from

sensitised tissue following antigen challenge (Kellaways & Trethewie, 1940). Elevated eicosanoid levels have been detected in the bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) of atopic asthmatics (Lam et al. 1988; Liu et al. 1990), especially LTE₄ (a metabolite of LTC₄ and LTD₄), prostaglandin (PG) D₂ and thromboxane (Tx) A₂ all of which induce bronchoconstriction. Unlike LTD₄ and LTE₄, which induce bronchconstriction within 5 minutes, the effect of LTC_4 is delayed occurring after 10-20 minutes (Drazen, 1988). Apart from inducing acute bronchoconstriction eicosanoids also exhibit inflammatory activities, for example PGD₂ increases vascular permeability and LTB₄ is a neutrophil and eosinophil chemoattractant (Ford-Hutchinson et al. 1980) both of which in turn enhance leukocyte accumulation. In the development of anti-asthmatic drugs much attention has also focused on two other mediators released from mast cells which demonstrate bronchoconstricting and inflammatory activities and are elevated in BAL from asthmatics, these being histamine (Casale et al. 1987) and platelet activating factor (PAF) (Averill et al. 1991; Wardlaw et al. 1986). Although H₁ receptor antagonists reduce anaphylaxis they have a limited role in the management of asthma, currently various approaches are under investigation and in clinical trials ranging from selective phosphodiesterase isoenzyme inhibitors to 5-lipoxygenase inhibitors, specific PAF and leukotriene antagonists to more specific muscarinic receptor antagonists. At present several of these new therapies relieve bronchospasm but their ability to prevent the underlying inflammatory damage to the lung is limited.

1.3 Evidence for the role of cytokines in asthma

The presence of cytokines in allergic airway inflammation has been demonstrated in the bronchial fluid and lung sections from asthmatic individuals and animal models of the disease. Changes in cytokine levels have been investigated at mRNA and protein levels using various techniques including polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and *in situ* hybridisation. Studies of bronchial fluid and biopsy specimens from asthmatic patients have shown elevated levels of several cytokines including IL-1, IL-6, (Borish *et al.* 1992; Mattoli *et al.* 1991; Marini *et al.* 1992) and TNF α (Gosset *et al.* 1991; Krishnaswamy *et al.* 1993; Cembrzynska-Nowak *et al.*

1993). In addition, recently three chemoattractant cytokines have also been identified in the BAL of antigen challenged asthmatics, lymphocyte chemoattractant factor (IL-16), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 α and IL-8 (Cruikshank *et al.* 1997; Yousefi *et al.* 1995).

Although the involvement of $TNF\alpha$ in asthma is acknowledged, the majority of studies have focused on the interrelationship between T lymphocyte derived cytokines, especially IL-5, and eosinophils. The activation of T lymphocytes is thought to be important in the late phase asthmatic response together with the recruitment of leukocytes into the lungs. Mature T lymphocytes are (mainly) divided into CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ populations based on surface expression markers. CD4⁺ T lymphocytes are activated by processed antigen presented by antigen presenting cells (APC), in particular dendritic cells in the airway mucosa (Holt, 1993), in association with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules. Less efficient APC active in the lung include macrophage/monocytes, epithelial cells, B lymphocytes and fibroblasts. The importance of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in antigen-induced pulmonary eosinophilia was demonstrated in antigen-challenged CD4⁺ depleted mice where eosinophil accumulation was completely abolished (Gavett et al. 1994). CD4⁺ lymphocytes are further divided into at least two sub-types, Th1 and Th2. This classification is based on the profile of cytokines released following activation (Mosmann et al. 1986), Th1 cells produce IL-2, TNF β , and interferon (IFN) γ and Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10. Both subsets produce IL-3, IL-13 and granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Mosmann et al. 1986, Minty et al. 1993).

Recently, a Th2-like cytokine profile in allergy and asthma has been indicated, implicating a role for Th2 lymphocytes (Robinson *et al.* 1992; Robinson *et al.* 1993). Both the BAL and the supernatant from peripheral blood T lymphocytes collected from allergic asthmatics have been shown to contain higher levels of IL-4 and IL-5 than samples from normal individuals (Walker *et al.* 1992; Walker *et al.* 1991). Furthermore, *in situ* hybridisation techniques have demonstrated increased IL-3,
GM-CSF, IL-4 and IL-5 mRNA in BAL cells from atopic asthmatics (Robinson et al. 1993). Asthmatic lung biopsies revealed that the IL-5 mRNA was localised to the inflammatory cells in the bronchial mucosa (Hamid et al. 1991). The Th1 derived cytokines, IL-2 and IFNy, were unchanged or only marginally increased in asthmatic subjects at the mRNA and protein levels when compared with normal subjects (Robinson et al. 1992; Robinson et al. 1993; Walker et al. 1992). In addition, the expression of IL-3 and GM-CSF, hematopoietic growth factors which are linked to the activation and enhanced survival of eosinophils (Rothenberg et al. 1988; Owen et al. 1987), is increased in asthmatic subjects (Robinson et al. 1992; Kato et al. 1992; Broide & Firestein, 1991). Figure 1.3 shows a diagrammatic representation of the potential central role of Th2 lymphocytes in the propagation of the inflammatory response following antigen stimulation. Furthermore the importance of Th2 lymphocytes was indicated by the inhibition of antigen-induced BAL eosinophilia together with IL-4 and IL-5 production following the administration of IL-12 (Gavett et al. 1995), a cytokine which favours Th1 expression by suppressing the production of Th2 lymphocytes and Th2 cytokines (Manetti et al. 1993). The role of IL-4 and IL-13 is unclear but these cytokines are believed to be of importance in allergic reactions. IL-4 is a regulating factor in the commitment of naive T lymphocytes to the Th2 phenotype, which favours the initiation of an immediate antibody reaction (Anderson & Coyle, 1994). In addition to promoting the Th2 phenotype, IL-4 and IL-13 also promote isotype switching increasing B lymphocyte production of IgE and IgG4 (Snapper & Paul, 1987; Punnonen et al. 1993). Furthermore, IL-4 and IL-13 have demonstrated anti-inflammatory activities e.g. IL-4 and IL-13 inhibit monocyte /macrophage production of IL-1, $TNF\alpha$ and chemokines following LPS stimulation of the cells (Hart et al. 1991; Minty et al. 1993).

Once recruited to the lung tissue the eosinophils may then be primed by the eosinophil stimulating factors IL-3, GM-CSF and IL-5 released from the T lymphocytes. IL-5, a weak eosinophil chemoattractant (Wang *et al.* 1989), is of particular interest as unlike IL-3 and GM-CSF it promotes the selective differentiation

of myeloid cells into eosinophils (Campbell *et al.* 1988). IL-5 is also of importance as it prolongs eosinophil survival (Tai *et al.* 1991) and following IL-5 priming of the cells eosinophil release of cytotoxic products is enhanced (Coëffier *et al.* 1991). Hence, modulation of IL-5 bioactivity is a potential mechanism by which to reduce asthmatic



Figure 1.3: Diagram indicating the potential involvement of Th2 lymphocytes in the propagation of the allergic inflammatory response. Processed antigen is presented, by APC, in association with MHC class II molecule to Th2 lymphocytes. Released Th2-derived cytokines increase IgE production which promotes antigen-induced mast cell degranulation, and increase eosinophil activation and survival.

eosinophilia. Several studies have provided evidence that the administration of anti-IL-5 antibodies in asthmatic models reduces antigen induced lung eosinophil infiltration and bronchial hyperreactivity (Nagai et al. 1993; Van Oosterhout et al. 1993a; Gulbenkian et al. 1992; Chand et al. 1992; Mauser et al. 1993). Similarly, recombinant human IL-5 induces both lung eosinophilia and mild bronchial hyperreactivity (Fattah et al. 1990; Van Oosterhout et al. 1993b). Ohnishi (Ohnishi et al. 1993b; Ohnishi et al. 1993a) showed that following antigen challenge, the BAL from allergic subjects contained an activity which prolonged eosinophil survival in culture which was reduced by co-incubating the eosinophils with antibodies to IL-5 and this activity was correlated with eosinophil recruitment, degranulation and lung injury. It is also possible that as the local IL-5 concentration rises within the lung, significant levels of IL-5 could enter the circulation and induce a transient blood eosinophilia which could account for the high tissue eosinophil numbers. In support of this theory Collins et al. (Collins et al. 1995) have shown that after administration of IL-5 there is an increase in blood eosinophil numbers but a decrease in bone marrow levels.

In addition to neutralising antibodies, receptor antagonists have also become a useful tool in establishing the role of specific cytokines in animal models. The administration of an IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra) reduced antigen-induced lung eosinophil accumulation and bronchial hyperreactivity (Watson *et al.* 1993; Selig & Tocker, 1992). IL-1ra is a naturally occurring member of the IL-1 family which competes with IL-1 for the IL-1 receptor (reveiwed by Lennard, 1995). Interestingly, following aerosol administration of IL-1ra to antigen challenged guinea-pigs, TNF α bioactivity in the lung lavage was also reduced (Watson *et al.* 1993). This suggests that there is an interrelationship between these two pro-inflammatory cytokines and that the inhibition of cytokine activity may provide a possible therapeutic target in the treatment of asthma.

1.3.1 Leukocyte accumulation

In order for cells to migrate from the post capillary venules to the inflammatory site a series of events is required; rolling, activation and firm adhesion, diapedesis, and migration. For initial binding between the leukocyte and the vascular endothelium the leukocyte velocity must be reduced allowing the cells to roll along the endothelium. The phenomenon of cellular rolling is mediated by a family of adhesion molecules, called selectins (Lasky, 1992), which form loose tethering bonds between leukocytes and endothelial cells. The family comprises of transmembrane glycoproteins characterised by an NH₂-terminal lectin-like domain, an epidermal growth factor-like region and a number of complement regulatory protein repeat sequences. To date, three selectins have been identified E- selectin (endothelial), P-selectin (platelet) and L-selectin (leukocyte), the cellular expression and ligands for these proteins are summarised in table 1.5. The formation of loose interactions reduces the leukocyte flow velocity allowing the leukocytes to adhere strongly to the endothelium.

Firm adhesion is mediated via the interaction between two families of adhesion proteins, integrins and their immunoglobulin supergene family ligands (Albelda & Buck, 1990; Hynes, 1987). The integrins are a large family of transmembrane heterodimeric glycoproteins consisting of two non covalently linked α and β subunits. There are at least twelve different α subunits and eight different β subunits which associate to form at least fourteen different integrins. The β 2 integrins share a common β chain (CD18) and their expression is restricted to leukocytes, hence they are also known as leukocyte integrins. Three α subunits are associated with CD18, namely CD11a, CD11b and CD11c forming the integrins LFA-1, Mac-1 and p150,95 respectively. Each α subunit glycoprotein is similar in structure, having a NH₂terminal signalling region, a relatively short cytoplasmic region and three putative divalent cation binding sites in the extracellular domain indicating the requirement of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ for integrin function (Springer, 1990). Table 1.5: A summary of the selectin adhesion molecules required for the rolling phenomena displayed in leukocyte-endothelium adhesion.

.

Selectin	Expression	Expression Time	Regulation	Ligand	Ligand expression	Reference
L-	leukocytes	constitutively expressed	receptor shedding following cellular activation	carbohydrate, e.g. sialyated Lewis a and x	endothelial cells	(Kishimoto <i>et al.</i> 1989)
Р-	induced on endothelial cells, platelets	rapid, transient expression, translocated to surface ~ 10 minutes, preformed and stored in endothelial Weibel-Palade bodies, platelet α granules)	induced by histamine, thrombin. Reinternalised (30-60 minutes)	carbohydrate, e.g. sialyated Lewis a and x	leukocytes platelets	(Hattori <i>et al.</i> 1989)
E- `	induced on endothelial cells	1-24 hours Peak 3-8 hours	transcriptionally regulated, <i>de novo</i> synthesis induced by TNF, IL-1, and LPS	carbohydrate, e.g. sialyated Lewis a and x	leukocytes	(Montgomery <i>et al.</i> 1991) (Bevilacqua <i>et al.</i> 1985) (Cotran <i>et al.</i> 1986)

The β 1 (CD29) integrins are mainly receptors for extracellular matrix proteins including fibronectin and collagen. The principle β 1 integrin involved in leukocyte adhesion is very late antigen (VLA)-4 (α 4/ β 1, CD49d/CD29) which mediates cell-cell interactions in addition to fibronectin binding. VLA-4 is of particular interest in diseases which exhibit eosinophilia, such as asthma, as it is expressed constitutively on all leukocytes with the exception of neutrophils (Elices *et al.* 1990).

It appears that integrins are indirectly associated with the cytoskeletal actin filaments via a linkage involving talin, vinculin and other cytoskeletal associated molecules (Burridge *et al.* 1988). Integrin-induced changes in the cytoskeleton may be involved in the conformational changes in the extracellular domains of the integrin resulting in firm adhesion and a high avidity state ligand (Pardi *et al.* 1992). Cytoskeletal activation requires the β subunit and is possibly regulated via a tyrosine phosphorylation site in the cytoplasmic domain of β 1 and β 3 subunits (Tamkun *et al.* 1986). It has been postulated that phosphorylation results in the formation of a core of actin polymerisation and a polarised leading leukocyte edge which is in strong connection with the endothelial cell (Pardi *et al.* 1992). Integrin activation would therefore promote firm adherence to the endothelium by bond formation and by inducing leukocyte shape changes resulting in increased contact surface area of the cell.

The counter-ligands for the integrins are members of the immunoglobulin supergene family (Springer, 1990). Several members of this family are expressed by endothelial cells and are involved in leukocyte adhesion, these include intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1, -2 and vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM) -1. The interactions between integrins and their ligands are summarised in table 1.6. As VLA-4 binds to VCAM-1 this provides an alternative pathway for firm leukocyte adhesion which does not utilise CD11/CD18. The presence of eosinophils and mononuclear leukocytes, but not neutrophils, in inflamed tissue from patients Table 1.6: A summary of integrin-immunoglogulin superfamily adhesion molecules required for firm leukocyte-endothelium adhesion.

Ligand	Ligand expression	Expression Time	Regulation	Integrin	Expression	reference
ICAM-1	endothelial cells, leukocytes and epithelial cells	12-48 hours peak 8-24 hours	transcriptionally regulated, induced by TNF, IL-1, LPS	LFA-1 Mac-1	constitutively on leukocytes (activatable)	(Dustin <i>et al.</i> 1986)
ICAM-2	monocytes, endothelial cells	constitutive		LFA-1		(Staunton <i>et al.</i> 1989)
VCAM-1	endothelial cells, monocytes	6 hours-1 week peak 24 hours	induced by TNF, IL-1, LPS selectivley induced by IL-4	VLA-4	constitutively on leukocytes except for neutrophils (activatable)	(Osborn <i>et al.</i> 1989) (Elices <i>et al.</i> 1990) (Munoz <i>et al.</i> 1991)

Alternative names for integrin molecules:

LFA-1	CD11a/CD18	α_L/β_2
Mac-1	CD11b/CD18	α_M/β_2
VLA-4	CD49d	α_1/β_1

suffering from leukocyte adhesion deficiency syndrome (LAD) type I (Anderson *et al.* 1985), caused by a defected β 2 subunit (Springer *et al.* 1984), reiterates the importance of this alternative pathway.

Once leukocytes have firmly adhered to the endothelium and diapedesed into the extracellular space by a process involving the cyclic modulation of integrin receptor avidity, they move to the inflammatory foci by chemotaxis. The leukocyte movement is directed by chemoattractants many of which are not leukocyte subtype selective, these include PAF, LTB₄ and C5a. Recently much attention has focused on the low molecular weight, leukocyte selective chemotactic cytokines, chemokines. These chemoattractants can be divided into distinct supergene families, C-X-C, C-C, and the recently identified C and C-X-X-C families, designated by the position of the first cysteine amino acid residue (Westwick et al. 1991; Bazan et al. 1997). The C-X-C chemokines are primarily chemotactic for neutrophils and are typified by IL-8, whereas the C-C family are principally chemotactic for mononuclear cells and eosinophils. Monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP)-1, -2, -3, macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 α/β and RANTES are all members of the C-C chemokine family. It has been proposed that chemokines use a hapatotactic mechanism by binding to glycosaminoglycan molecules present on endothelial cell surfaces (Rot, 1992). In vitro studies have suggested that the binding of chemokines to glycosaminoglycan molecules influences their effect on target cells. Webb et al. (Webb et al. 1993) demonstrated that the binding of IL-8 to heparin/heparan sulphate enhanced neutrophil responses and Tanaka (Tanaka et al. 1993) provided evidence that the C-C chemokine MIP-1 β when bound to proteoglycan induces T lymphocyte adhesion. In addition to the chemotactic properties chemokines also directly effect leukocyte adhesion, IL-8 is capable of enhancing neutrophil adherence to endothelial cells by the upregulation of integrins (Carveth et al. 1989) and inducing the shedding of L-selectin (Detmers et al. 1990).

Once recruited to the airways, the leukocytes may be activated by antigen (via $Fc \in RI/II$) or agonist stimulation to induce the production of an array of inflammatory mediators. These substances can amplify the inflammatory response by promoting further leukocyte infiltration. Neutrophils, monocytes/macrophages (both phagocytic cells), and eosinophils are capable of generating numerous toxic substances, principally to remove foreign bodies but if inappropriately released these are often toxic to the surrounding tissue (Weiss, 1989; Gleich *et al.* 1988) and can destroy the architecture of the lung.

1.4 Animal model of airway inflammation

The OA sensitised guinea-pig demonstrates the characteristic features of asthma: bronchial hyperreactivity to a non-allergenic agent and lung inflammation with a pronounced lung eosinophilia. The guinea-pig is a classical model of allergic airway disorders which has been used by various workers since the early 1900's (Samter, 1949; Popa et al. 1973; Lefort & Vargaftig, 1978; Sanjar et al. 1990a). During this time several guinea-pig models of asthma have been developed focusing on both the early and late responses (Hutson et al. 1988; Iijima et al. 1987), and on airway hyperreactivity (Ishida et al. 1989) and lung eosinophilia (Dunn et al. 1987) induced by antigen or environmental / occupational stimuli. However, controversy about the realistic nature of the model arose as the primary antibody in guinea-pigs is IgG₁ whereas in man it is IgE. Andersson produced evidence that guinea-pig IgE levels could be increased by sensitising the animals using low antigen concentration in combination with aluminium hydroxide via intraperitoneal injection (Andersson, 1980a; Andersson & Bergstrand, 1981; Andersson & Brattsand, 1982; Andersson, 1982). He and others later demonstrated that this effect could be further enhanced by repeat administration of sensitisation solution over a period of weeks and by the administration of cyclophosphamide prior to the initial sensitisation (Andersson, 1980b; Andersson, 1981; Graziano et al. 1981). Ishida (Ishida et al. 1989) produced high IgE titers by incorporating Bordetella pertussis vaccine into the sensitisation solutions.

Various protocols have been used to produce antigen-induced airway inflammation, but important differences exist between individual models, in particular the routes of allergen sensitisation and challenge i.e. depot injection (as used by Andersson) or aerosol inhalation (Boichot et al. 1991; Ishida et al. 1989). Whereas in humans, inhalation of airborne allergens is a natural route for both sensitisation and challenge, delivery of aerosol antigen to guinea-pigs presents a problem as they are obligate nose breathers. It is predicted that 80% of the aerosol inhaled by conscious free breathing guinea-pigs is deposited in the nose with less than 12% being demonstrable in the lungs (Varley et al. 1991). Despite the methodological variations the antigen (notably OA) sensitised guinea-pig has been used extensively to assess the efficacy and mechanisms of action of potential anti-asthmatic drugs (Sanjar et al. 1990a; Havill et al. 1990; Sanjar et al. 1990b; Schellenberg et al. 1991; Manzini et al. 1993). In addition to the antigen sensitised guinea-pig, recently several other species have been used as models of antigen-induced airway inflammation including mouse (Lukacs et al. 1995c), rat (Sertl et al. 1988), rabbit (Marsh et al. 1985), sheep (Abraham et al. 1994), dogs (Chung et al. 1985) and primates (Wegner et al. 1990).

1.5 Aims of this project

The aim of this project was to assess the activity of TNF α *in vivo* and to investigate the role of TNF α in airway inflammation. Throughout this project guineapig models were used hence, in order to eliminate species selectivity, recombinant guinea-pig TNF α (gpTNF α) was produced. gpTNF α cDNA was cloned into *E. coli* and gpTNF α expressed and purified. gpTNF α was administered to non-sensitised (naive) animals and lung leukocyte accumulation characterised. Changes in bronchial hyperreactivity, airway leukocyte accumulation, the production of chemokine-like activity in the lung and airway TNF α levels in antigen-sensitised animals were investigated. Finally the effects of administering inhibitory cytokines and a TNF α antibody to animals, which were either antigen-sensitised or treated with gpTNF α , were examined.

2. Materials & Methods

2.1 Materials

All items were purchased from Sigma Chemical Company Ltd., Poole, Dorset UK. unless otherwise stated.

2-mercaptoethanol	BDH Laboratory Supplies Ltd., Lutterworth, UK
Aluminium hydroxide (F2200)	Reheis Ireland, Dublin, Ireland
anti DIG-AP Fab fragments	Boehringer Mannheim Uk Ltd., Lewes, UK
Antibodies:	
Monoclonal Hamster anti murine	gift from Celltech, Slough, UK
TNFα (IgG)	
Polyclonal Goat anti murine TNF α	gift from Celltech, Slough, UK
(IgG)	
Polyclonal Rabbit anti murine TNF α	gift from S. Kunkel Ann Arbor, USA
(sera)	
Polyclonal rabbit anti human factor	gift from DAKO Ltd., High Wycombe, UK
X (IgG)	
Aprotinin	Calbiochem Novabiochem Ltd., Nottingham, UK
Bordetella pertussis vaccine	Wellcome Foundation, Bechenham, UK
Bordetella bronchisepetica vaccine	Solvay -Duphar Veterinary, Southampton, UK
Calcium chloride	Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK
Carbon dioxide	BOC Ltd., Guildford, UK
Cellophane membrane backing	Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hempstead, UK
Chromatography filter paper	Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hempstead, UK
CSPD	Boehringer Mannheim Uk Ltd., Lewes, UK
DIG-11-UTP	Boehringer Mannheim Uk Ltd., Lewes, UK
Digitonin	BDH Laboratory Supplies Ltd., Lutterworth, UK
dTTP	Boehringer Mannheim Uk Ltd., Lewes, UK
Dunkin-Hartley Guinea-pigs	University of Bath, UK
Electrophoresis molecular weight	Novex Experimental Technology, San Diego,

markers Ethanol Factor Xa (bovine) Foetal calf serum Fura-2-acetoxymethyl ester Gallamine Glacial acetic acid Glycerol Hams F12 HBSS without calcium, magnesium and phenol red HBSS without phenol red Horse serum Hydrochloric acid Iso-pentane JH-4 clone 1 Leishman's stain Magnesium chloride Marvel non-fat milk powder Methanol OCT Penicillin Percoll Polymyxin B columns Platelet activating factor pMALTM-2 protein fusion and purification system PolyScreen PVDF transfer membrane Protogel

USA (distributed by R&D systems) Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK New England Biolabs Ltd., Hitchin, UK Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK Calbiochem Novabiochem Ltd., Nottingham, UK May and Baker Ltd., Dagenham, UK Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK BDH Laboratory Supplies Ltd., Lutterworth, UK ECACC, Wiltshire, UK R. A. Lamb Laboratory Supplies, London, UK Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK Premier Brands UK Ltd., Stafford, UK. Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK Miles Inc. Diagnostic Division, Elkhart, USA Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK Pharmacia Biotech Ltd., St. Albans, UK Pierce & Warriner, Chester, UK Bachem UK Ltd., Saffron Walden, UK

New England Biolabs Ltd., Hitchin, UK

DuPont NEN Research Products, Boston, Massachusetts, USA National Diagnostics, Atlanta, USA

Recombinant human IL-1 α/β	gift from Glaxo, Stevenage, UK
Recombinant human IL-8	gift from Glaxo, Stevenage, UK
Recombinant human IFNy	Boehringer Mannheim Uk Ltd., Lewes, UK
Recombinant human MIP-1 α	Preprotech, London, UK
Recombinant human MIP-1β	Preprotech, London, UK
Recombinant human RANTES	gift from Glaxo, Stevenage, UK
Recombinant human TNF α	gift from Bayer UK, Slough, UK
Recombinant human TNF α	NIBSC, Potters Bar, UK
standards	
RNAozl B	Tel-Test, Friendswood, Texas, USA
RPMI 1640	Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK
Saline	Steripak, Runcorn, UK
Sodium chloride	Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK
Sodium hydroxide	Fisons Pharmaceuticals, Loughborough, UK
Sodium pentobarbitone	Rhone Merieux, Dublin, Ireland
Sodium phenobarbitone	BDH Laboratory Supplies Ltd., Lutterworth, UK
Sterile distilled water	Steripak, Runcorn, UK
Sterile sodium bicarbonate (7.5%)	Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK
Streptomycin	Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK
WEHI 164 clone 13	NIBSC, Potters Bar, UK

2.2 Expression of $gpTNF\alpha$

The expression and purification system used to produce recombinant gpTNF α from cDNA is summarised in figure 2.0 and detailed in sections 2.2.1-2.3.4. The cDNA was cloned and sequenced by Dr T. Yoshimura, NCI-FCRDC, Frederick, MD, USA, as described in section 2.2.1. The cDNA, provided inserted in pBluescript SK(-), was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and used to express gpTNF α (sections 2.2.2-2.3.4).

2.2.1 cDNA for $gpTNF\alpha$

gpTNFα cDNA was cloned from guinea-pig spleen cells essentially as described for guinea-pig IL-8 (Yoshimura & Johnson, 1993). Briefly, poly(A) RNA was prepared from guinea-pig splenocytes stimulated with concanavalin A (5µg/ml, 4 hours). A modification of the Gubler and Hoffman method (Gubler & Hoffman, 1983) was used to synthesis cDNA. This was used to prepare a library in a λ ZAP II vector (Short *et al.* 1988), and phages were probed with a 33 base oligo ³²P labelled probe based on a human TNFα cDNA using a sequence which was conserved between human and murine TNFα. Positive phagemids were rescued with helper phage and subcloned into pBluescript SK(-). cDNA was sequenced by the dideoxynucleotide triphosphate chain termination method (Sanger *et al.* 1977).

2.2.2 Transfection of $gpTNF\alpha$ cDNA into XL1-Blue

A 1 in 10 sub-culture of XL-1 Blue cells, from an overnight (37°C) culture, was grown for 2 hours in 40ml LB Broth (1% bacto-tryptone, 0.5% bacto-yeast extract, 1% NaCl, pH 7.0),with tetracycline (10 μ g/ml) at 37°C. The cells were harvested by centrifugation (3000g, 15min, 4°C), washed in 0.5 volume Milli Q H₂O and resuspended in a minimum volume of ice cold 10% glycerol (approx. 250 μ l). A 40 μ l aliquot of cells was placed in a cold 0.5ml tube and kept on ice. The gpTNF α Figure 2.0: (please see next page).

gpTNF a cDNA

 gpTNFα cDNA encoding the mature protein was amplified by PCR using flanking primers.

Bluescript KS(-) with gpTNF α cDNA inserted. amplified gpTNFα cDNA.

 A T₄ polymerase and *Hind* III were used to enzymatically cleave cDNA in order to create cDNA with one blunt and one cohesive end.



during PCR the cDNA produced has non-uniform ends. cDNA with one blunt end and a cohesive end created by *Hind*III.

pMAL-p2 plasmid

 pMAL-p2 plasmid DNA was isolated from E. coli.



pMAL-p2 plasmid

 Plasmid DNA is double digested with *Xmn*1 and *Hind*III to create an insertion site which has a blunt end and a cohesive end corresponding to the cohesive end of the gpTNFα cDNA.



plasmid DNA with a blunt and cohesive (*Hind*III) ended insertion site.

3. Ligation of gpTNFa cDNA and pMAL-p2 plasmid.

⇒ VECTOR



38



5. Transfected cells were induced by IPTG to express the fusion protein (MBP-gpTNFa).



6. MBP-gpTNFa was isolated from E. coli lysate by passing over an amylose column.



Eluate: MBP-gpTNFa

7. The fusion protein was cleaved with factor Xa.



Factor Xa cleavage site

8. Cleaved gpTNFa was purified by a series of affinity chromatography columns.







1) hydroxyapatite column



<u>Figure 2.0:</u> A simplified diagram to show the expression and purification of gpTNF α . (MBP; maltose binding protein, the methodology is detailed in section 2.1-2.2)

2) amylose column

supplied cDNA inserted in pBluescript SK(-) was washed twice in cold 70% ethanol, pelleted by microfugation, and vacuum dried before resuspending in 50µl Milli Q H_2O . cDNA template (2-5µl) was added to the 40 µl aliquot of XL-1 Blue cells and stored on ice. The remaining template was frozen at -20°C for future use. Cell-cDNA mixture (42-45µl) was transfered to a sterile electrophoresis cuvette. Electroporation was performed at 2.5kV, 200 Ohms, 25µFD with a electroporation time constant of approx. 5 ms. Immediately after electrophoresis 1ml of conditioned culture media (LB Broth + 1mM Mg²⁺) was added, the cuvette was mixed and contents were transfered to a conical culture flask containing 2ml LB Broth. The cells were agitated at 37°C for 1 hour.

Following incubation, 100 μ l of XL-1 Blue cell culture was plated out on an agar LB Broth plate (LB Broth, 1.5% agarose) containing ampicillin (100 μ g/ml) and tetracycline (12.5 μ g/ml) which had been over dried to remove surface moisture. Inverted culture plates were incubated at 37°C overnight. Since XL1-Blue cells are tetracycline resistant and ampicillin sensitive, whereas the cDNA template pBluescript SK(-) are tetracycline sensitive and ampicillin resistant, only cultures which contain the template will grow in media containing tetracycline and ampicillin.

2.2.3 Storing bacterial cultures at -70°C

A stable frozen stock of cDNA was generated by freezing the XL1-Blue colonies which contained the Bluescript / cDNA template, to ensure a continued supply of non-contaminated template which is readily accessible. Bacterial cultures were prepared for storage by adding 0.75ml LB Broth to the agar surface and suspending the cultures in the media by gentle scraping. The cells were removed, placed in a 2ml screw capped sterile tube and an equal volume of LB Broth containing 30% glycerol added. The tube was vortexed to ensure that the glycerol was completely dispersed and cultures were stored at -70°C.

2.2.4 Preparation of oligo nucleotide primers

A putative start site for mature gpTNF α was determined from the base sequence of gpTNF α cDNA, provided by Dr T. Yoshimura, and the published start sequences of human, murine and guinea-pig TNF α . Oligonucleotide primers were designed to amplify the region of cDNA encoding the putative mature protein. Primer sequences are shown in figure 2.1.

Forward primer 5' TCAGCTTCTCAAAACGATAAT Reverse primer 3' GTGAGTCAGGAAGGCCAAT<u>TCGAACCC</u>

Figure 2.1: The primers used for the amplification of gpTNF α cDNA. The reverse primer has a *Hin*d III cleavage site incorporated at the 5' end (underlined).

The primers (Biochemistry, Bath University) were supplied attached to resin columns and displaced using concentrated ammonia solution (88%). Ammonia (0.2ml) was applied to the column every 20 min with a 1ml syringe and the eluted primer collected in a 5ml syringe. The eluted primer was transferred to a screw capped 1.5ml tube and sealed with polythene film. This was then placed in a glass bottle containing 0.5ml ammonia solution, the bottle was capped, double sealed and incubated overnight at 55°C. Samples were cooled to room temperature, excess moisture removed by vacuum drying the samples for 1.5-2 hours. The dried primers were precipitated by the addition of 200 μ l Milli Q H₂O, 20 μ l 3M sodium acetate and 400 μ l cold ethanol (-20°C) followed by microcentrifugation (12,000g, room temperature, 10 min). The above precipitation was repeated then the single stranded DNA was washed in 1ml 70% cold ethanol and repelleted by microcentrifugation. The

ethanol was removed and the pellet vacuum dried for 5-10 min before solubilising in 300μ l Milli Q H₂O.

Oligonucleotide concentration was ascertained by optical density (OD) at 260nm, assuming an OD_{260} 1.0 = 37µg/ml for single stranded RNA/DNA. Since the average molecular weight of a nucleotide is 350 the molarity of each primer was calculated.

2.2.5 Plasmid vector generation

A plasmid vector is a small circular molecule of double-stranded DNA used to transport the cDNA of interest into a host cell, which upon replication produces large quantities of cDNA. The plasmid, pMAL-p2 (New England Biolabs Ltd., Hitchin, UK), was used since it encodes a maltose binding protein (MBP) which is coexpressed with the gpTNF α enabling simple purification of the MBP-gpTNF α fusion protein using a MBP affinity column.

As the gpTNF α primers were designed to only amplify the region of gpTNF α cDNA sequence required, it was not necessary to excise the cDNA template from the pBluescript SK(-) prior to amplification by PCR. The concentration of the cDNA template previously prepared and stored at -20°C was determined by OD at 260nm, assuming OD₂₆₀ 1.0 = 50µg/ml double stranded DNA.

2.2.5.1 Amplification of gpTNF \alpha cDNA

The cDNA template was amplified using PCR, to minimise contamination the reagents were added to the PCR vials in the order stated in table 2.1. Nujol mineral oil (75µl) was layered on the top of the reaction mixture to prevent evaporation during the heating cycles. cDNA was amplified in a Crocodile II thermal cycler (Appligene, Pleasanton, California) using an initial 2 min at 95°C followed by 30 cycles of

denaturation (95°C, 60 s), annealing (55°C, 60 s) and extension (72°C, 60 s) followed by a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. The expected PCR product, a low molecular weight fragment of 540 base pairs, was visualised by running on a 1.5% agarose gel containing 0.5μ g/ml ethidium bromide (2.2.5.2).

<u>Table 2.1:</u> PCR-amplification protocol detailing the order in which the reagents were added to minimise contamination.

Order to add reagents	Final concentration		
Milli Q H ₂ O			
MgCl	2.5mM		
NH ₄ Buffer	1x		
dATP/dCTP/dTTP/dGTP	200μΜ		
PRIMERS Forward	0.5µM		
Reverse	0.5µM		
Taq	25U/ml		
TEMPLATE	10ng/ml - 10µg/ml		
Total volume	100µl		

2.2.5.2 Tris-Borate EDTA (TBE) agarose gels

Briefly, agarose (1.5% w/v) was solubilised in 30ml TBE buffer (45mM Trisborate, 1mM EDTA) by heating in a microwave oven for 1-2 min. The solution was allowed to cool to room temperature and Milli Q H₂O added to compensate for liquid lost by evaporation during heating. Ethidium bromide was added to a final concentration of 0.5μ g/ml. The cooled solution was poured into a gel plate (15cm x 6cm) containing an 8 lane comb (0.5cm/lane) and allowed to set. The gel was immersed in a running tank containing TBE buffer. An aliquot of PCR sample (10 μ l) was mixed with 2 μ l 5x sample buffer1 (0.25% bromophenol blue, 0.25% xylene cyanol, 15% Ficoll-type 400), and the samples loaded into the gel wells. *Hind* III molecular weight standards (2 μ l) were run in an outer lane to ensure the product was of the correct size. The gel was electrophoresed at 200V for 15-20 min. Following visualisation using a UV light source the product from the optimal PCR reaction (i.e. maximum product obtained using the minimum template concentration) was immediately excised from the agarose gel and 'cleaned' (see 2.2.5.3).

2.2.5.3 'Cleaning' DNA recovered from agarose gels or in solution

The DNA was 'cleaned' using a Geneclean kit (BIO 101 Inc., La Jolla, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the slice of agarose gel containing the cDNA was weighed and incubated with 4.5 volumes sodium iodide (6M) and 0.5 volume TBE modifier at 50°C for 10 min. Once the gel had melted, glassmilk (5µl) was added, the solution mixed and incubated on ice for 10 min. The DNA was pelleted by microcentrifuging for 30 s, the supernatant removed, and the pellet washed three times in 0.5ml NEW Wash. On the last wash the supernatant was removed, the pellet was then re-spun and any remaining supernatant removed to obtain a dry pellet. Milli Q H₂O or low salt buffer (5µl) was added to the dry pellet and incubated at 50°C for 10 min. During this step the DNA disassociates from the glass particles into the low salt solution. The glass particles were pelleted by microcentrifugation and the supernatant, containing DNA, was transfered to a sterile 500µl tube. The volume of DNA was restored to 10µl with Milli Q H₂O and a 1µl sample was electrophoresed on a 1.5% agarose gel to ensure that the DNA has dissociated from the glassmilk. Remaining DNA was stored at -20°C.

To 'clean' DNA which is in solution, 3 volumes sodium iodine (6M) and 5μ l glassmilk were added to the DNA, the solution mixed and incubated on ice for 10 min. The DNA was then pelleted and washed in NEW Wash as described above.

2.2.5.4 Preparing gpTNF α cDNA for insertion into pMAL-p2 plasmid

When using PCR to amplify a length of cDNA a phenomenon of 'overshooting' often occurs whereby a series of adenosine residues are added to the 3' end of the template. This overshoot is removed by performing T4 polymerase digestion. T4 polymerase has a potent $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity which removes protruding 3' termini from double stranded DNA to create a blunt ended fragment.

The 'cleaned' cDNA was added to the T4 polymerase digestion buffer (50mM Tris hydrochloride pH 8.0, 5mM MgCl₂, 5mM DTT, 100 μ g/ml BSA, 10mM dNTPs, final volume 49 μ l). The reaction was started by the addition of 1 μ l T4 polymerase (3U/ μ l) and the mixture incubated at 11°C (optimum temperature for T4 polymerase enzymatic activity) for 20 min. The reaction was stopped by denaturing the enzyme at 75°C for 10 min. A 5 μ l sample was run on a 1.5% agarose gel to ensure that the DNA was not fragmented during digestion. The DNA in solution, was 'cleaned' using geneclean kit detailed in 2.2.5.3, and finally resuspended in 10 μ l Milli Q H₂O.

In order to create a cohesive end which will orientate the cDNA when it is inserted into the pMAL-p2 plasmid the cDNA must be treated with *Hind* III. A *Hind* III cleavage site had been incorporated into the primer sequence (figure 2.2).

Figure 2.2:. *Hind* III cleavage site. The enzyme recognises the 6 bp and cleaves along the black line.

The T4 polymerase treated cDNA was incubated at 37°C for 2-3 hours with 10U *Hind* III in 10mM Tris.Cl, 10mM MgCl₂, 50mM NaCl, 1mM DTT (final volume

20µl). *Hind* III was inactivated by incubating at 75°C for 20 min. A sample of reaction product (2µl) was run on a 1.5% agarose gel to ensure the cDNA had not been fragmented. DNA was 'cleaned' using the Geneclean kit (2.2.5.3) and resuspended in 10µl Milli Q H₂O. The amplified gpTNF α cDNA was now suitable for cloning into the plasmid, and was stored at -20°C until required.

2.2.6 Preparation of pMAL-p2 plasmid

2.2.6.1 Isolation of pMAL-p2 plasmid DNA

Plasmid DNA was isolated using a Qiagen kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). A 500ml secondary culture of *E.coli* containing the correct plasmid (pMAL-p2) was grown overnight at 37°C in LB Broth containing ampicillin ($50\mu g/ml$). The cells were pelleted by centrifugation (4000g, 15 min, 4°C) and resuspended in 10ml ice cold buffer P1 (50mM Tris hydrochloride, 10mM EDTA pH 8.0, 100 $\mu g/ml$ RNase A). The suspension was transferred to a sterile ultracentrifuge tube containing 10ml prewarmed (37° C) buffer P2 (200mM NaOH, 1% SDS) and gently mixed by inverting the tube 5 times, producing a viscous lysate. After 4 min 10ml chilled buffer P3 (3.0M potassium acetate pH 5.5) were added and the mixture gently mixed by inverting. The mixture was incubated on ice for 30 min prior to ultracentrifugation (25,000g, 90 min, 4°C). The clear, yellow, supernatant was carefully removed, promptly transferred to a 50ml tube and placed on ice.

A Qiagen Tip 500 column was washed with 10ml QBT buffer (750mM NaCl, 50mM MOPS, 15% ethanol, 0.15% Triton X-100, pH 7.0) by gravity induced flow. The collected supernatant was added to the column and washed through with 2 x 30ml QC buffer (1.0M NaCl, 50mM MOPS, 15% ethanol, pH 7.0). DNA was eluted with 15ml QF buffer (1.25M NaCl, 50mM Tris hydrochloride, 15% ethanol, pH 8.5) and the eluate collected in a sterile glass ultracentrifuge tube.

Isopropanol (10.5ml) was added to the eluate and ultracentrifuged (25,000g, 60 min, 4°C) to precipitate the DNA. Supernatant was carefully removed from the pelleted DNA, which resembled a fine spray on the glass, the pellet was washed with 15ml 70% cold ethanol and ultracentrifuged (25,000g, 45 min, 4°C) to repellet. The supernatant was discarded and the DNA pellet was air dried for 10 min before being redissolved in 200-500 μ l TE buffer (10mM Tris hydrochloride, 1mM EDTA pH 8.0).

DNA was quantified by measurement of OD at 260nm and 280nm and the 260:280 ratio was calculated to assess the amount of background contamination in the preparation. The ratio obtained was >1.8 indicating low contamination with proteins. The DNA content was determined assumming OD_{260} 1 = 50µg/ml double stranded DNA.

In order to produce a MBP fusion protein, the gpTNF α cDNA must be incorporated into the circular plasmid structure in the same translational reading frame as the plasmid's *malE* gene. To create an insertion point for gpTNF α cDNA a section of the plasmid's *malE* gene was enzymatically removed using *Xmn*I to create the blunt end and *Hind* III to create a sticky end which will adhere to the sticky (*Hind* III cleaved) end of the gpTNF α cDNA. *Xmn*I and *Hind* III were chosen as both enzymes have unique cleavage sites in the *malE* gene (figure 2.3) preventing fragmentation of either the plasmid or gpTNF α cDNA.

2.2.6.2 Double digestion of pMAL-p2 with <u>XmnI</u> and <u>Hind</u> III

pMal-p2 plasmid DNA (10µg) was incubated with XmnI 12U, 2µg BSA, in 10mM Tris.Cl, 10mM MgCl₂, 50mM NaCl, 1mM DTT (final volume 20µl), at 37°C (the optimum temperature for Xmn1 enzymatic activity) for 2-3 hours. The enzyme was heat inactivated by incubating the mixture at 75°C for 20 min. To assure Xmn1 digestion had occurred digested pMal-p2 DNA (2µl) and an equal amount of DNA from control non-digested pMal-p2 DNA was run and visualised on a 1.5% agarose gel. The digested plasmid had fewer base pairs, hence ran further on the gel than the non-digested fragment. The remaining digested fragment was 'cleaned' (2.2.5.3) and resuspended in 10 μ l Milli Q H₂O. *Hind* III digestion was performed by incubating 10 μ l digested plasmid with 10U *Hind* III in 10mM Tris.Cl, 10mM MgCl₂, 50mM NaCl, 1mM DTT (final volume 20 μ l), at 37°C for 2-3 hours. The enzyme was heat inactivated (75°C, 20 min) prior to running 2 μ l samples of, control non-digested, single digested, and double digested DNA on a 1.5% agarose gel which was visualised to ensure that each sample contained only a single band and that the double digested product had fewer base pairs than the non-digested control. The double digested product was 'cleaned' (2.2.5.3), resuspended in Milli Q H₂O to a final volume of 10 μ l and stored at -20°C.



Figure 2.3: A map of the pMAL-p2 plasmid. The plasmid contains the inducible Ptac promoter, positioned to transcribe a *malE-lacZ* α gene fusion. The *lacl^q* gene encodes the Lac repressor, which turns off transcription from Ptac until IPTG is added. The polylinker provides restriction endonuclease sites to insert the gene of interest, fusing it to the *malE* gene. The unique Xmn I and Hind III cleavage sites are located in the polylinker. Nucleotide numbering starts at the beginning of the *lacl^q* fragment. (Adapted from pMAL-p2 map, New England Biolabs, Hitchin, Hertfordshire).

2.2.7 Cloning of $gpTNF\alpha cDNA$ into pMAL-p2 plasmid

Ligation of the plasmid and cDNA was performed using T4 DNA ligase which catalyses the formation of phosphodiester bonds between adjacent 3'-hydroxyl and 5'-phosphate termini in DNA. Briefly, double digested plasmid (4µl) was added to the reaction mixture containing 1200U T4 DNA ligase, 5µl gpTNF α cDNA in 50mM Tris.Cl (pH 7.5), 10mM MgCl₂, 0.75µg BSA, 10mM dithiothreitol, 1mM ATP (final volume 30µl). The reaction mixture was left at room temperature overnight to ligate (T4 DNA ligase optimal ligation temperature is 16°C) and the reaction stopped by heat inactivation (75°C, 20 min). The ligation mixture was 'cleaned' (2.2.5.3) and resuspended in a final volume of 10µl in Milli Q H₂O. The ligated plasmid-gpTNF α cDNA construct, the vector, was stored at -20°C.

2.2.8 Preparing the host cell

To prepare the host cell, competent *E. coli* (TB1) cells were cultured from frozen stocks (-70°C). LB Broth (20ml) was innoculated with TB1 cells and cultured overnight at 37°C. A 1 in 20 sub-culture was grown in 10ml prewarmed LB Broth for a further 2-3 h, at 37°C, until the cell density was approximately $2x10^8$ cell/ml, OD 600nm of 0.2.

2.2.9 Cloning of vector into host cell

Electroporation of the vector (pMAL-p2-gpTNF α) and host cell (TB1) was performed as previously described (2.2.2). Briefly, 40µl TB1 cells was mixed with either 2-5µl vector or 2-5µl Milli Q H₂O and subjected to electroporation. Cells were incubated in 1ml conditioned culture media (1 h, 37°C, shaking). Control and vector containing-cells (100µl/plate) were plated on agar plates containing 100µg/ml ampicillin and agar plates containing 100µg/ml ampicillin, 80µg/ml Xgal, 0.16mM IPTG. Plates were incubated, inverted, at 37°C overnight before assessing the colour of the colonies on the plates visually.

The presence of white colonies on the plate containing Xgal and IPTG indicated the disruption of the *malE-lacZ* α gene which results in the inactivation of the β -galactosidase α fragment, hence the cells were unable to metabolise Xgal into the blue product bromochloroindole, table 2.2.

<u>Table 2.2:</u> The expected growth of TB1 cells on agar plates containing ampicillin.

TB1 Cells :	agar plate	agar + Xgal + IPTG plate		
control	No colonies	No colonies		
vector insertion	White colonies	Blue + White colonies		

A master plate (agar + 100μ g/ml ampicillin) and an agar plate containing 100μ g/ml ampicillin, 80μ g/ml Xgal, 0.16mM IPTG were prepared for sub-culturing the vector inserted colonies. Identical guideline grids with numbered squares were placed under each plate and the start position marked on the plates. Using sterile toothpicks colonies from the overnight culture plate without Xgal + IPTG were randomly picked by touching the surface of a single colony with the toothpick and then pricking identical squares on the master and Xgal/IPTG plate (figure 2.4), this was repeated until all the squares had been innoculated with a single colony. Both plates were incubated, inverted, 37° C overnight.

Five white colonies and 1 blue colony on the plate containing Xgal + IPTG were selected, randomly, and the corresponding colonies on the master plate i.e. colonies that have not seen IPTG were picked and streaked onto separate agar plates (containing 100µg/ml ampicillin) and cultured overnight. The blue colony was used as a control since it contained cells which had not incorporated the vector. The white colonies contained a disrupted $malE-lacZ\alpha$ gene, but the vector may still not have

been inserted correctly. Due to the strength of the Ptac promoter, transformants taken from a plate containing IPTG can contain mutant plasmids that have either 1) lost part or all of the fusion gene or 2) no longer express it at high levels, thus colonies selected for sub-culturing should have had no contact with IPTG.



Figure 2.4: Selection of individual colonies to identify those containing the vector. A toothpick was used to select a colony from the overnight culture plate and seed onto the master (1) and a corresponding Xgal/IPTG plate (2).

Aliquots (20ml) of LB Broth containing ampicillin (100 μ g/ml) were inoculated with single colonies from each plate and cultured overnight in a shaking water bath at 37°C. A 1.5ml aliquot from each flask was sub-cultured into 20ml pre-warmed LB Broth containing ampicillin (100 μ g/ml) and incubated at 37°C for 2-3 h, until the cell density was approx. 2 x 10⁸ cells/ml.

2.2.10 Screening for the presence of vector insertion

A 1ml aliquot was removed from each culture prior to induction of the fusion protein, samples were microcentrifuged, the pellets were resuspended in 50µl SDS-

sample buffer (see section 2.5.1) and retained on ice until required (these were the uninduced samples). IPTG (0.3mM) was added to each of the cultures incubated for a further 2 hours to induce fusion protein expression. Following induction, a 0.5ml sample of each culture was removed, microcentrifuged and the pellets resuspended in 100µl SDS-sample buffer (these were the induced samples). The uninduced and induced samples (15µl) were run on two 10% SDS polyacrylamide gels which were used for protein staining and western blotting respectively (see section 2.5). The relative molecular mass of gpTNF α is ~17kDa, the MBP- β -galactosidase fusion protein has a mass of ~ 51kDa and the gpTNF α -MBP fusion protein is ~60kDa. Hence, the culture which demonstrated the most predominant protein band shift, corresponding with the incorporation of the gpTNF α gene, following IPTG induction was chosen for the production of gpTNF α . This culture was referred to as C/MBP-gpTNF α .

A pilot experiment was carried out to assess which cellular fraction contained the MBP-gpTNF α fusion protein. An aliquot (0.8ml) of an overnight culture of C/MBP-gpTNF α was use to innoculate 80ml rich media (1% bacto-tryptone, 0.5% bacto-yeast extract, 0.5% NaCl, 0.2% glucose, 100µg/ml ampillicin). The culture was grown at 37°C for 2 hours prior to removing a 1ml sample of the uninduced culture, this was microcentrifuged and the cell pellet resuspended in 50µl SDS-sample buffer. The sample was vortexed and stored at -20°C. Following the addition of 0.3mM IPTG the remaining culture was incubated for a further 2 hours when a 0.5ml sample was removed. This induced sample was microcentrifuged, the cell pellet resuspended in 100µl SDS-sample buffer and stored at -20°C.

The cellular fraction of the culture was collected by centrifugation (4000g, 10 min, 4°C) and the pellet resuspended in 10ml column buffer (20mM Tris pH 7.4, 200mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA). The suspension was frozen (-20°C) for at least 18 hours. Once thawed, the cells were lysed by sonication (10 cycles of 30 s sonication, 30 s

rest) in an ice-water bath. The lysed cells were pelleted (9000g, 20 min, 4°C), the supernatant decanted and placed on ice, this was called the 'soluble crude extract fraction'. The pelleted cellular debris was resuspended in 10ml column buffer, this was the 'insoluble crude extract fraction'. Samples of the soluble (10 μ l) and insoluble (10 μ l) crude extract fractions were each added to 10 μ l SDS-sample buffer, and stored at -20°C.

To ensure that during expression the fusion protein had not lost the ability to bind to the amylose resin a small volume was tested. Amylose resin (200µl) from the amylose affinity column (see 2.3.1) was washed twice in 1.5ml column buffer and resuspended in 200µl. 50µl of amylose resin slurry was mixed with 50µl crude extract and incubated on ice for 15 min. The sample supernatant was discarded after microcentrifugation and the pellet washed with column buffer and resuspended in 50µl SDS-sample buffer. This was called the 'protein bound to amylose' fraction. Pilot experiment SDS samples (table 2.3) were boiled for 5-10 min, microcentrifuged for 1 min, run on a 15% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomassie blue.

<u>Table 2.3:</u>	Volume	of each	pilot	experiment/SDS	sample	loaded	onto	an	SDS
gel.									

Sample	Volume sample/gel lane
Uninduced cells	20µl
Induced cells	20µ1
Soluble crude extract	10µ1
Insoluble crude extract	10µ1
Protein bound to amylose	20µ1

2.2.11 Production of gpTNFα-MBP fusion protein

The pilot experiment demonstrated that the fusion protein was expressed as a soluble protein in the crude extract fraction hence, the pilot experiment was scaled up. Rich media (11) was inoculated with 10ml of an overnight culture of C/MBP-gpTNF α and grown at 37°C for 2 hours shaking. The culture was induced with IPTG (0.3mM) and incubated for a further 2 hours. The culture was centrifuged (4000g, 20 min, 4°C), and the pellet resuspended in 50ml cold lysis buffer (20mM Tris pH 7.4, 200mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA 40U/ml aprotonin, 1mM phenyl methyl-sulfonyl fluoride, 1ng/ml leupeptin, 4°C). The cells were frozen at -20°C for at least 18 hours.

Protein degradation during harvesting and cell lysis was minimised by performing all steps at 4°C and in the presence of protease inhibitors. The suspension was thawed, placed in an ice-water bath and sonicated in short pulses (10 cycles of 30 s sonification, 30 s rest). The insoluble material was pelleted by centrifugation (9000g, 20 min, 4°C), the supernatant decanted off and retained on ice. The supernatant, which was the soluble crude extract containing the fusion protein, was diluted 1 in 5 with column buffer and applied to the amylose resin column.

2.3 Purification of $gpTNF\alpha$

2.3.1 Affinity chromatography over amylose

Amylose resin (New England Biolabs Ltd., Hitchin, UK) was poured in a 2.5 x 10cm glass chromatography column and allowed to settle. All subsequent steps were performed at 4°C. The column was washed with 200ml column buffer (20mM Tris.Cl, 200mM NaCl, 1mM EDTA) and the flow rate adjusted to 1 ml/min. The diluted soluble crude extract was applied and the column washed overnight with a further 300ml column buffer.

The fusion protein was eluted with 60ml column buffer containing 10mM maltose and collected in 3ml fractions. Fractions containing protein, assessed by measuring the OD at 280nm, were pooled (fractions 1-8) and the sample was stored at -20°C. The amylose column was regenerated by washing with 25ml distilled water, 75ml 0.1% SDS, 75ml distilled water, 75ml column buffer, 50ml column buffer 0.05% NaN₃, and stored at 4°C. The column was reused up to 5 times.

2.3.2 Cleavage with factor Xa

Cleavage of the MBP from gpTNF α was performed by factor Xa cleavage using the specific amino acid recognition sequence, IEGR, incorporated into the vector design (see figure 2.5). As thrombin cleaves at the arginine-serine (R-S) bond and there are no other R-S bonds in the amino acid sequence of gpTNF α , cleavage of the fusion protein with thrombin was also attempted.



factor Xa and thrombin cleavage site

Figure 2.5: The factor Xa and thrombin cleavage site, in the MBP-gpTNF α fusion protein. Factor Xa recognises the amino acid sequence IEGR and cleaves at the next bond (R-X).

To determine that factor Xa and thrombin were able to cleave the fusion protein an initial pilot experiment was carried out. Fusion protein (20 μ l at a concentration of ~1mg/ml) was incubated at room temperature with factor Xa (1 μ l, 200 μ g/ml) or thrombin (1 μ l, 2mg/ml) for 2, 4, 8, 18 or 24 hours. To stop the reaction SDS-sample buffer was added and the samples were boiled for 5-10 min. Samples (20µl) were run on 15% SDS polyacrylamide gels, for protein staining and western blotting. A sample of uncleaved fusion protein boiled in SDS-sample buffer was run as a negative control and human TNF α (10µg/ml) as a positive control.

The pilot study indicated that optimum conditions for cleavage were 18 hours at room temperature with factor Xa (10 μ g/ml). These conditions were used in subsequent preparations to cleavage the MBP-gpTNF α fusion protein.

2.3.3 Removal of MBP

MBP was removed from the cleaved fusion protein mixture by passing over a hydroxyapatite column followed by an amylose column. Binding to hydroxyapatite caused maltose to be displaced from the MBP. The high affinity of the maltose-free MBP for amylose enabled it to be separated from gpTNF α by passage over an amylose column.

2.3.3.1 Hydroxyapatite column

Hydroxyapatite (1g) was allowed to swell in 30ml column buffer, the fines were removed by washing the resin in column buffer 3 times. The resin was poured into a 1 x 10cm polyproylene column (Bio-rad Laboratories, Hemel-Hampstead, UK) and allowed to settle at room temperature.

The cleaved fusion protein mixture was loaded onto the column and the column washed with 80ml column buffer, under gravity flow, to remove the maltose. Proteins were eluted from the column by 0.5M sodium phosphate buffer (1.61% NaH₂PO₄ H₂O 10.26% Na₂HPO₄ 7H₂O, pH 7.2) and collected in 2ml fractions. Protein containing fractions, assessed by OD at 280nm, were pooled.
2.3.3.2 Amylose column

A 15ml amylose column was prepared as described previously (section 2.3.1). The proteins eluted from the hydroxyapatite column were run over the amylose column and washed with 75ml column buffer. Eluate was collected in 5ml fractions and protein content assessed by OD 280nm. Samples were removed for SDS-PAGE and proteins were detected by silver staining and western blotting (section 2.5). Western blotting was performed using antibodies against gpTNF α and factor Xa.

2.3.4 Removal of endotoxin

A polymixin B column (detoxi-gel, Pierce Chemical Company, Chester, UK) was used to remove endotoxin contamination from the purified protein. Under sterile conditions the column was regenerated by washing with 5ml 1% sodium deoxycholate and rinsed with 3ml H₂O. The column was equilibrated with sterile PBS and the protein sample applied. Eluate was collected in 1ml fractions and TNF α bioactivity of the samples assessed (2.4).

The purified recombinant gpTNF α was concentrated prior to storage at -20°C using centriplus-10 concentrators (Amicon Ltd., Stonehouse, UK, molecular weight cut-off 10,000 Da) and the buffer was replaced with PBS 0.1% BSA.

2.4 TNF α cytotoxicity bioassay and immunological activity

2.4.1 TNF bioassay

TNF bioactivity was assessed using a mouse fibrosarcoma cell line, WEHI 164 clone 13 (supplied by Dr A. Meager, NIBSC, Potters Bar, UK) cytotoxicity assay (Espevik & Nissen-Mayer, 1986). WEHI 164 cells were rountinely cultured in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% FCS, 10U/ml penicillin and 10μ g/ml streptomycin. Cells were passaged twice weekly, when confluent, and split 1:20.

Aliquots (180µl/well) of WEHI cell suspension (2 x10⁵/ml) in RPMI 1640, 10% FCS, 10U/ml penicillin, 10µg/ml streptomycin were dispensed into a 96 well microtitre plate (NUNC, Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK) and incubated (37°C in a humidified, 5% CO₂/air environment) for 4 hours. Samples (including gpTNF α [2.3], BAL supernatant [2.6.4], lung homogenates [2.4.2]) or human TNF α (1pg/ml-10ng/ml) standards (20µl), diluted in the appropriate buffer, were added to the wells in triplicate and the cells incubated for a further 24 hours. The supernatant was carefully removed and the adhered cells fixed with 50µl/well 95% methanol for 30 s. The methanol was removed and the cells were stained with crystal violet stain (100µl/well) for 15 min, then the plate was extensively washed with distilled water. To solubilize the remaining cell associated dye 33%v/v glacial acetic acid (200µl/well) was added and the optical density of the wells read at 540nm in a microtitre plate reader (MR5000, Dynatech Laboratories, Chantilly, Virginia).

2.4.2 Whole lung tissue sample preparation

Frozen (-70°C) peices of lung tissue were ground in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle over dry ice. The lung powder was transferred to a glass homogeniser and frozen tissue (200mg/ml) homogenised in PBS containing 0.05%

Triton X-100, 1% FCS and 100U/ml aprotinin on ice. Homogenates were transferred to sterile tubes, microcentrifuged and the supernatant was stored at -20°C.

2.4.3 Neutralisation of TNF α cytolytic activity

In neutralisation experiments TNF α containing samples were incubated with rabbit anti murine TNF α antiserum or rabbit anti murine TNF α IgG (2.4.4) for 30 min at room temperature prior to testing in a WEHI bioassay.

2.4.4 Preparation of rabbit anti murine $TNF\alpha$ IgG fraction

Rabbit anti murine TNF α antiserum was a gift from Dr S .L. Kunkel, University of Mitchigan, Ann Arbor. An IgG fraction was produced using a 1ml protein A affinity column. The column was washed with 10ml PBS followed by 10ml 1M Tris buffer pH 8.0 under gravity flow. A 1ml sample of antiserum was added to the column prior to washing with 10ml 100mM Tris buffer pH 8.0 and 10ml 10mM Tris buffer pH 8.0. The IgG fraction was eluted from the column using 100mM glycine (pH 3.0) and 1.5ml fractions were collected in tubes containing 50µl 1M Tris buffer (pH 8.0). The protein content of the fractions was determined by OD at 280nm. Protein containing fractions were pooled and concentrated using Centriplus-10 concentrators (Amicon Ltd., Stonehouse, UK, molecular weight cut-off 10,000 Da) to approx 1mg/ml (1 OD is approx. 0.8mg/ml for IgG fractions).

The column was reused once after residual antibodies were stripped off the column by washing sequentially with 2M urea, 1M lithium chloride and 100mM glycine pH 2.5. The column was equilibrated by washing with PBS before applying 1.5ml whole rabbit serum to obtain a control IgG fraction.

2.4.5 ELISA for $gpTNF\alpha$

In order to detect gpTNF α in biological samples, a murine TNF α ELISA (enzyme linked immunosorbent assay) known to cross react with rat TNF α was investigated. This ELISA was developed in co-operation with by Dr W. A. Buurman, University of Limburg, Maastricht, The Netherlands.

A 96 well plate (Immunoplate Maxisorb, NUNC, Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK) was coated with monoclonal hamster anti murine TNF α (IgG) diluted 1 in 200 in PBS (100 μ l/well) and incubated at 4°C overnight. The wells were emptied, 150 μ l 1%BSA (Sigma A-7906) in PBS was added to block non-specific binding sites, and the plate incubated at room temperature, covered, for 1 hour. The plate was then washed 5 times in wash buffer (Milli Q H₂O 0.1% Tween 20).

The standard murine TNF α samples (0.03-30ng/ml) and gpTNF α samples (0.1-100ng/ml) were diluted in murine serum 20 min prior to addition to the plate. Samples (100µl/well) were added in duplicate to the plate, the plate was covered, and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. The plate was then washed 5 times in wash buffer. The secondary antibody, rabbit anti murine TNF α , was diluted 1 in 10 in PBS containing 0.1%BSA and 100µl/well added to the wells. The plate was incubated for a further 1 hour at room temperature prior to washing 5 times in wash buffer.

Goat anti rabbit IgG peroxidase conjugate (100 μ I/well) was diluted 1 in 1000 in PBS 0.1%BSA and added to the plate which was covered and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. The plate was washed for a further 5 times in wash buffer and 100 μ I/well 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) detection substrate was added. The reaction was incubated in the dark for 10-15 min before stopping with 100 μ I/well 3M H₂SO₄. The OD at 450nm was measured on a microtitre plate reader (MR5000 Dynatech Laboratories, Chantilly, Virginia.). The murine TNF α standards were used to as a positive control and murine serum as the vehicle control.

2.5 SDS-PAGE and western blotting

To avoid protein contamination all SDS-PAGE equipment was thoroughly cleaned with alcohol prior to use.

2.5.1 Sample preparation for PAGE gels

2.5.1.1 Protein containing solutions

Protein containing solutions for SDS-PAGE or western blotting were prepared by boiling with an equal volume of SDS-sample buffer (2% SDS, 20% glycerol, 160mM Tris pH 6.8, 9% 2-mercaptoethanol, 0.2% bromophenol blue) for 5-10 min. The samples were then cooled prior to use or frozen at -20°C.

2.5.1.2 Whole lung tissue

Lung tissue was ground as described in section 2.4.2 and homogenised in PBS containing 0.05% Triton X-100, 0.1% BSA, 1mM EDTA, 2 μ g/ml leupeptin, 1 μ g/ml pepstatin A, 100 μ g/ml PMSF and 2 μ g/ml aprotinin on ice. An aliquot (200 μ l) of homogenate supernatants was retained to determine the protein content (2.5.1.3) and the remainder boiled with SDS-sample buffer as described above (2.5.1.1). Lung homogenate supernatants were run on 15% PAGE gels, loading equal amounts of protein for each sample.

2.5.1.3 Protein assay

The protein content of samples was calculated using a Bio-Rad Bradford-based protein assay. BSA protein standards (1-40 μ g/ml) or supernatant samples were added in triplicate to a 96 well microtitre plate (200 μ l/well). Dye reagent concentrate (50 μ l) was added to each well, the samples mixed thoroughly and incubated at room temperature for 30-50 min. OD at 595nm was measured on a microtitre plate reader

(MR5000, Dynatech Laboratories, Chantilly, Virginia). Protein content of the samples was calculated following the generation of a BSA (standard) protein calibration curve.

2.5.2 SDS gel preparation

SDS-PAGE was carried out essentially as described by Laemmli (Laemmli, 1970) using Bio-Rad mini gel system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hempstead, Hertfordshire, UK) with 1.5mm thick gels. The resolving gel of the appropriate acrylamide percentage was prepared as descibed in table 2.4 and poured to approximately 0.5cm below the point where the bottom of the combs would reach. The poured gel was overlaid with water, to reduce contact with air, and left to polymerise. Once set, all the liquid was removed from the top of the resolving gel. This was overlaid with stacking gel and the plastic comb carefully inserted. When the stacking gel had set, the comb was removed and the running chamber assembled. Electrophoresis was carried out in running buffer containing 0.25M Trizma base, 1.92M glycine, 0.1%SDS.

Samples (10-20µl) were added to individual lanes and molecular mass protein standards (4-250kDa) were included on each gel (3µl pre-stained for western blotting). When available, a control sample which was known to cross react with the primary antibody used in western blotting was included. Electrophoresis was carried out at a constant voltage of 100V through the stacking gel (~ 20 min) and 150V through the resolving gel (1-1.5 h). The gels were removed and a selected corner was marked for orientation/identification. The gels were either stained to indicate the position of the proteins, with Coomassie blue (2.5.3.1) or silver stain (2.5.3.2), or used for western blot transfer (2.5.5).

Components	10% polyac	rylamide gel	15% polyacrylamide gel						
(in order of addition)	(optimal 1	resolution	(optimal resolution						
	~30-60kD	a proteins)	~5-30kDa	-30kDa proteins)					
	Running gel	Stacking gel	Running gel	Stacking gel					
30% Acrylamide Stock	5.0ml	1.67ml	7.5ml	1.67ml					
Tris Buffer 1.0M pH 8.8	5.6ml	-	5.6ml	-					
Tris Buffer 1.0M pH 6.8	-	1.25ml	-	1.25ml					
Water	4.35ml	6.0ml	1.85ml	6.0ml					
10% SDS	150µl	100µ1	150µl	100µl					
10% AMPS	100µl	50µl	100µ1	50µ1					
TEMED 6.6M	10µ1	10µl	10µ1	10µ1					
Total volume required	15.21ml	9.08ml	15.21ml	9.08ml					
for 2 mini gels									

Table 2.4: Protocol for 10% and 15% SDS polyacrylamide gels.

2.5.3 Detection of proteins in SDS-PAGE gels

2.5.3.1 Coomassie blue staining

The gel was submerged in Coomassie blue stain (table 2.5) and shaken for 30-45 min allowing the proteins to be both fixed and stained simultaneously. The gel was then placed in destain to remove background colouration for 3-4 hours.

|--|

Components	Gel stain	Gel destain
Coomaissie Brillant Blue R-250	0.25%	-
Methanol	40%	40%
Acetic acid	7%	7%
Water	53%	53%

2.5.3.2 Silver staining

All containers used were washed extensively prior to use and reserved exclusively for silver staining to prevent background artefacts. Solutions were made using sterile, double distilled water in sterile vessels.

Silver staining was performed essentially as described by Johnstone and Thorpe (Johnstone and Thorpe, 1987). Proteins in the gel were fixed by agitating the gel in 50% methanol for 1-1.5 hours. The methanol was replaced with the staining solution (0.0756% w/v NaOH, 0.21M NH₄OH, 0.8% w/v silver nitrate) and the gel agitated for 15 min. The gel was washed 3 x 10 min in water, then developed in 0.005% w/v citric acid, 0.019% w/v formaldehyde. The stain was developed until protein bands were visible on the gel (approx. 10 min). The reaction was stopped by rinsing in water and the gel stored in 45% methanol / 5% acetic acid. For longer storage gels were dried using a Bio-Rad gel dryer (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hempstead, UK) in accordance to manufacturers instructions. The gel was placed on dampened filter paper, covered with a piece of soaked cellophane membrane and air bubbles carefully removed. The gel was dried for 70 min at 80°C under vacuum.

2.5.4 Electrophoretic transfer of proteins to nitrocellulose membrane

Proteins were transfered using a Tris-glycine system and mini Trans-blot cells (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hempstead, UK). The transfer sponge pads, 2 pieces of filter paper/gel (cut slightly larger than the gel size) and the gel were soaked for 5 min in transfer buffer (0.25M Trizma base, 1.92M glycine). The PVDF nitrocellulouse membrane (NEN Research Products, Boston, MA, USA), cut to match the size of the gel, was activated by immersing in methanol (3 s), distilled water (1 min) and transfer buffer (1-2 min). A "western sandwich", figure 2.6, was then assembled under transfer buffer. A transfer pad was placed on the transfer cell, then a piece of filter paper followed by the gel. A glass pasteur pipette was used to roll out air bubbles. The membrane was placed on the gel, air bubbles again carefully removed, and the filter

and remaining transfer pad positioned. The transfer cell was closed, placed in the Trans-blot and then in the transfer tank with the gel nearest to the cathode.. The tank which contained an ice pack and magnetic stirrer was filled with transfer buffer. The blot was transfered at a constant current of 250mA for 1 hour whilst being stirred.

Figure 2.6: The "Western sandwich".

Negative	Proteins									
terminal		terminal								
(cathode)				······································			(anode)			
Black side		<u> </u>					Red side			
of transfer	Sponge	Filter	Gel	Nitrocellulose	Filter	Sponge	of transfer			
cell				membrane			cell			

Following transfer the membrane was ready for immunoblotting. Alternatively, the membrane was stored overnight in PBS, 0.1% NaN₃, 4°C or carefully placed between filter paper, wrapped in tin foil and stored at -20°C. The gel was then stained with Coomassie blue to ensure the protein transfer was complete.

Efficiency of protein transfer was checked by staining with Ponceau S stain (0.2% Ponceau S, 3% trichloroacetic acid, 3% sulfosalicylic acid) for 5-10 min. Ponceau S staining was non-permanent and was removed during immunoblotting wash procedures.

2.5.5 Blocking and antibody probing of membranes

All stages were carried out on an orbital shaker at room temperature with 1 membrane/container. Each membrane was covered with blotting buffer (170mM NaCl, 10mM Tris, pH 7.4) containing 5% non-fat milk protein for 1.5-2 hours to reduce non-specific protein binding. This was removed and the membrane washed

twice in blotting buffer (10 min/wash) and once in wash buffer (0.05% Tween 20, blotting buffer).

The primary antibody, diluted as detailed in table 2.6 in wash buffer, 0.02% NaN₃ was incubated with the membrane for 2 hours. After probing the antibody was stored at 4°C and reused up to 5 times. The membrane was washed 3 times in wash buffer (10 min/wash) prior to incubating with the secondary antibody alkaline phosphate conjugate for $1-1^{1}/_{4}$ hours. After discarding the secondary antibody the membrane was washed once in wash buffer for 10 min and twice in a high salt wash buffer (500mM NaCl, 170mM Tris, 0.05% Tween 20) for 15 min/wash.

Protein-antibody complexes were detected using nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) and 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (BCIP). The membrane was surmerged in detection solution of NBT ($330\mu g/ml$), BCIP ($166\mu g/ml$) dissolved in Tris/magnesium buffer (100mM Tris, 100mM NaCl, 50mM MgCl₂, pH 9.5). Bands were allowed to develop and the reaction was stopped by covering the membrane in cold blotting buffer ($4^{\circ}C$). The membrane was then rinsed twice in blotting buffer, air dried and sealed in polythene bags for storage.

Protein to	Primary antibody	Dilution	Secondary antibody	Dilution		
be detected.						
TNFα	goat anti murine	1 in 1000	anti goat IgG alkaline	1 in 2000		
	TNFα IgG		phosphate conjugate			
TNFα	rabbit anti murine	1 in 1000	anti rabbit IgG	1 in 2000		
	TNFα sera		alkaline phosphate			
			conjugate			
Factor Xa	rabbit anti human	1 in 500	anti rabbit IgG	1 in 3000		
	Factor Xa		alkaline phosphate			
			conjugate			

2.6 Northern blot analysis of mRNA

To minimise degradation of RNA, by RNases, all solutions were prepared using RNase and pyrogen free Milli Q H_2O or distilled water was treated with 0.1% diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC), overnight at 37°C, followed by autoclaving. Sterile equipment was used and gloves were worn throughout. Whenever possible the samples were kept on ice.

2.6.1 Extraction of total RNA from samples

Frozen (-70°C) pieces of lung tissue were ground (2.4.2) and homogenised in RNAozl B (5ml/g lung tissue) whereas cell pellets were mixed, using a plastic pasteur pipette, with 1ml RNAzol B, samples were kept on ice or stored at -70°C until required. Each sample was vortexed with 100µl chloroform for 15 s, placed on ice for 5 min, and centrifuged at 12500g, 4°C for 15 min. The aqueous (upper) layer of the sample was transfered into a sterile tube containing 0.5ml ice cold propan-2-ol, taking care not to transfer or disturb the aqueous/organic interface which contained proteins including RNases. The tube was inverted several times to mix and placed on ice for 15 min before pelleting the RNA (12500g, 15 min, 4°C). The supernatant was removed and the pellet washed with 1ml 75% ethanol (at -20°C), the pellet was vortexed breifly to resuspend and then repelleted by centrifugation at 7500g, 4°C for 8 min.

Supernatant was removed and the pellet was air dried for 30-45 min. The dry pellet was resuspended in 22 μ l water, vortexed and heated for 10-15 min at 60°C. The samples were then kept on ice. To quantify the amount of total RNA present the OD at 260nm of a small sample was measured in 0.1% NaOH (equation 2.1).

OD 260 x dilution factor x 40 x volume sample (ml) = μ g total RNA. Equation 2.1: Measurement of RNA concentration.

2.6.2 Agarose/formaldehyde gel electrophoresis

A 1% agarose gel was prepared by dissolving agarose (3g) in 230ml water/gel, by microwaving for 2-3 min. Once dissolved 15ml of 20 x MOPS pH 7.0 (0.4M morpholinopropansulfonic acid [MOPS], 0.02M EDTA, 0.2M sodium acetate pH 5.2) and 54ml formaldehyde solution (38%) were added. The gel was allowed to cool before pouring into a gel holder with the combs already positioned. The gel was placed in a tank containing cold running buffer (1x MOPS) in an ice bath.

RNA samples were prepared in RNA loading buffer (2.34 x MOPS, $303\mu g/ml$ ethidium bromide, 60% formamide, 8.1% formaldehyde solution), 5-10 μ g RNA per 30 μ l buffer per well. The samples were vortexed, heated at 80°C for 20 min, and quenched on ice. 2μ l/well bromophenol blue solution (0.25% bromophenol blue, 30% glycerol) was added to the RNA samples and microcentrifuged to mix. RNA samples were loaded into the wells and the power pack connected with the samples migrating towards the anode. Electrophoresis was carried out at 100V for 1.5-2 hours until the bromophenol blue had migrated 3-5cm from the wells.

The completed gel was visualised under UV light (Hoefer mighty bright UVTM 25), and photographed. The 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA bands were visible and could be used to demonstrate equal loading of the lanes.

2.6.3 Transferring RNA from the gel to nitrocellulose membrane

The RNA was transferred from the gel onto a nylon membrane by capillary action. The gel was cut to the desired sized and 1 peice of nylon membrane (Boehringer Mannheim, Lewes, Sussex, UK) and 3 pieces of 3mm filter paper cut to the same size. A length of filter paper was cut and placed in the blotting tank with each end in a reservoir of 20 x SSC transfer buffer (3M NaCl, 0.3M sodium citrate,

pH 7.0), and the central platform area above this level so that the filter paper acts as a wick. The platform region was dampened with 20 x SSC and air bubbles were rolled out using a glass pipette. The gel was inverted on the platform such that the lower with the surface previously touching the gel tray was now uppermost. The gel was covered with nylon membrane and 3 pieces of filter paper taking care to exclude air bubbles. A stack (~8cm) of absorbant paper (paper hand towels) cut to match the gel size were placed on top of the filter paper and weighted down with a glass plate and 500g weight, at least 20 hours was allowed for transfer to be completed.

Following transfer, the appropriate corner of the membrane was marked for orientation/identification purposes, the membrane was baked for 20 min at 120°C. The 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA bands were visualised by exposure to UV light and their position marked on the edge of the membrane. The membrane was sealed in a polythene bag and stored ready for probing.

2.6.4 Digoxigenin (DIG)-labelled probes for northern analysis

 β -actin and eotaxin mRNA were detected using DIG-labelled oligonucleotide probe cocktails (3 x 30mers) purchased from R&D Systems, Abingdon, Oxon, UK. The β -actin probe was designed to hybridise with human β -actin mRNA but it was found to detect guinea-pig mRNA (E. Campbell, University of Bath). The eotaxin probe was designed to in accordance to guinea-pig eotaxin nucleotide sequence (Jose *et al.* 1994).

Guinea-pig IL-8 and gpTNFα mRNA were detected using DIG-labelled double stranded cDNA probes. PCR was utilised to incorporate the DIG label into the cDNA. By using a 1:4 digoxigenin-11-dUTP (DIG-dUTP):dTTP ratio during amplification of the cDNA the DIG-dUTP randomly replaced dTTP, hence labelling the cDNA. PCR was performed as described in section 2.2.5.1 using the reagents in table 2.7. Primers were designed based on the cDNA sequences (table 2.8). Guinea-pig IL-8 cDNA was

supplied by Dr T. Yoshimura supplied in pBluescript SK(-) (Yoshimura & Johnson, 1993), the primer was based on the sequence registered with Genbank, accession no. L04986.

Order to add	d reagents	Final concentration					
Milli Q	H ₂ O						
MgC	Cl_2	2.5mM					
NH ₄ B	uffer	1x					
dATP/dCT	P/dGTP	200µM					
dTI	Έ	150μΜ					
DIG-d	UTP	50µM					
PRIMERS	Forward	0.5µM					
	Reverse	0.5µM					
Ta	7	25U/ml					
cDNA te	mplate	100ng/ml					
Total vo	olume	100µl					

Table 2.7: PCR protocol for the synthesis of DIG-labelled cDNA probes.

DNA was amplified in a GeneAmp 2400 thermal cycler (Perkin-Elmer, Warrington, UK) using an inital 2 min at 95°C followed by 30 cycles of denaturation (95°C for 60s), annealing (55°C for 60 s) and extension (72°C for 60 s) and a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. Following amplification a sample of each reaction mixture was run on a 1.5% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide, to ensure a single product was obtained. DIG incorporation was verified by immunoblotting. Briefly, 1 in 10 dilutions of the sample were dotted onto a nylon membrane and DIG was detected as described in section 2.6.6.

Primers	Forward	Reverse
guinea-pig IL-8	5'ATGGTCGTGACAAAGTT	5'CCCAAGCTTCCAATTCC
	GGTC	TGAAGTAGA
guinea-pig TNFα	5'TCAGCTTCTCAAAACGA	5'CCCAAGCTTAACCGGAA
	TAAT	GGACTGAGTG

Table 2.8: Primers used for synthesis of DIG-labelled cDNA probes.

2.6.5 Hybridisation of northern blots with DIG labelled probes

Membrane was prehybridised with 10-20ml of hybridisation solution 1 (5 x SSC, 0.1% sarcosyl, 0.02% SDS, 1% blocking buffer), for oligonucleotide probes, or solution 2 (5 x SSC, 0.1% sarcosyl, 7% SDS, 2% blocking buffer, 50mM sodium phosphate pH 7.0, 50% formamide) for cDNA probes. The hybridisation solution was added to the membrane in the polythene bag and the bag resealed removing all air bubbles. The membrane was incubated at 42°C (oligonucleotide probes) or 50°C (cDNA probes) for 1 hour.

The top corner of the polythene bag was cut and the hybridization solution drained out. The oligonucleotide and cDNA probes, diluted in hybridization solution to a final concentration of 10ng/ml was added to the membrane (2.5ml/50cm²) and the polythene bag was resealed removing air bubbles. At this stage it was important not to allow the membrane to dry out. The membrane was hybridised overnight at the prehybridisation temperature.

2.6.6 Immunodetection of DIG-labelled probes for northern analysis

The membrane was removed from the polythene bag, placed in a suitable wash tank, and washed at the prehybridisation temperature twice in stringency wash buffer 1

(2 x SSC, 0.1% SDS) for 5 min and twice in stringency wash buffer 2 (0.1 x SSC, 0.1% SDS) for 5 min.

All washes and incubations for the following stages, unless otherwise stated, were performed at room temperature with shaking. The membrane was washed for 5 min in wash buffer, 0.3% Tween 20 in maleic acid buffer (0.1M maleic acid, 0.15M NaCl), before incubating for 30 min in blocking buffer (1% blocking reagent in maleic acid buffer). The blocking buffer was removed and the membrane incubated with anti-DIG Fab fragments conjugated to alkaline phosphatase, diluted 1 in 10,000 in blocking buffer, for 30 min. The antibody solution was discarded and the membrane washed 3 x 10 min in wash buffer. The wash buffer was poured off and the membrane equilibrated in detection buffer (0.1M Tris.Cl, 0.1M NaCl, 50mM MgCl₂, pH 9.5) for 2-5 min.

Chemiluminescent alkaline phosphate substrate, disodium 3-(4methoxyspiro{1,2-dioxetane-3,2'-(5'-chloro)tricyclo[3.3.1.1^{3,7}]decan}-4-yl) phenyl phosphate (CSPD), was used for detection. CSPD (25mM) was diluted 1 in 100 in detection buffer. The membrane was removed from the detection buffer, excess buffer shaken off, placed on a polythene sheet and 1ml CSPD was evenly pipetted over the membrane. The membrane was covered with a top polythene sheet, the CSPD gently spread over the membrane surface and the membrane incubated for 5 min in the dark. The membrane was sealed in a new polythene sheet and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in the dark.

The membrane, in the sealed bag, was initially exposed to X-ray film for 1-1.5 hours. If necessary longer exposures of upto 12 hour were performed subsequently.

2.7 Induction of chemokine-like activity by $TNF\alpha$

2.7.1 Guinea-pig peritoneal macrophage and eosinophil collection

Dunkin-Hartley guinea-pigs (500-650g, male and female) were each given a minimum of 4 injections of Horse Serum (0.5ml, i.p., 2 injections/week). A final "booster" injection was given the day before cell collection. The guinea-pigs were asphyxiated with CO₂, the lower abdominal fur was removed and the skin washed with methanol. An incision was made along the mid-ventral line and the peritoneal cavity lavaged with HBSS containing 0.1% BSA and 1mM EDTA (4x10ml). The lavage was centrifuged at 400g for 10 min and the supernatant discarded. Contaminating red blood cells in the pellet were lysed by hypotonic shock, distilled H_2O (250µl, 4°C) was mixed with the pellet for 10-15 s before resuspending the cells in 25ml HBSS containing 0.1% BSA (buffer A). The collected cells were washed twice in buffer A, centrifuging for 10 min at 400g. The cells were resuspended at 5×10^{7} /ml in Percoll (1.070g/l) containing 1% BSA and carefully layered over a discontinuous isotonic Percoll gradient with densities 1.070, 1.080, 1.085, 1.090 and 1.100g/l (Gärtner, 1980), table 2.9. The gradient was centrifuged for 25 min at 1500g and the cell layers were removed sequentially from the top. The relevant leukocyte population (figure 2.7) was collected and washed twice in buffer A (400g, 10 min).

Percoll	[†] Light	[‡] HBSS+
density (g/l)	Percoll (ml)	(ml)
1.100	1.60	0.41
1.090	2.74	1.26
1.085	1.25	0.75
1.080	1.14	0.86
1.070	0.91	1.09

Table 2.9: Protocol for Percoll gradients.

[†]Light Percoll = 9 parts Percoll with 1part 10 x HBSS with calcium and magnesium, pH 7.2-7.4. [‡]HBSS+ = 1 x HBSS with calcium and magnesium, pH 7.2-7.4.



Figure 2.7: Layering of the Percoll Gradient.

2.7.2 Production of gpTNF α by stimulated macrophages

A crude preparation of guinea-pig TNF α was prepared from guinea-pig macrophages as described by Tamatani *et al.* 1989. Briefly, guinea-pig peritoneal macrophages (1x10⁷/ml) were stimulated with 10µg/ml LPS for 1 hour (37°C in a humidified, 5% CO₂/air environment) in RPMI 1640, 10% FCS, 10U/ml penicillin, 10µg/ml streptomycin. The cells were washed twice in PBS and cultured for 12 hours in 5ml RPMI 1640, 10U/ml penicillin, 10µg/ml streptomycin. The cells were belieted (400g, 10 min) and the supernatant aliquoted and stored at -20°C. This supernatant was shown to contain TNF α by WEHI bioassay.

2.7.3 Stimulation of guinea-pig spleen cells, peritoneal macrophages and JH-4 cells with gpTNF α and recombinant human cytokines

JH-4 clone 1 are a guinea-pig lung fibroblastic cell line, obtained from European Collection of Animal Cell Cultures (Wiltshire, UK), which were derived from the lung of a young guinea-pig strain 13 and subsequently cloned. The cells were routinely cultured in Hams F12 medium supplemented with 10% FCS, 10U/ml penicillin and 10 μ g/ml streptomycin. Cells were passaged when confluent using 0.25% trypsin and seeded at a density of 3 x 10⁴ - 4 x 10⁴ cells/cm² (splitting 1:3 - 1:4). Cells were cultured until passage 39 (the cells were passage 34 when supplied).

Spleen cells were collected by removing the spleens from naive Dunkin-Hartley guinea-pigs (500-650g, male and female) and sieved through a fine wire mesh with saline. The resulting suspension was centrifuged (400g, 10 min), the red blood cells in the pellet were lysed with 150mM NH₄Cl (5ml) for 15 min at 4°C and made up to 25ml with RPMI 1640 medium, 10% FCS, 10U/ml penicillin, 10 μ g/ml streptomycin. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 400g, 20°C for 10 min then rewashed twice and resuspending in medium at 5x10⁵ cells/ml.

Cells were plated in 24 well plates (Gibco Life Technologies Ltd., Paisley, UK) at a density of $2x10^5$ cells/well (JH-4 cells were grown to confluence and the medium replenished prior to stimulation) in their respective medium containing 10% FCS, 10U/ml penicillin, 10µg/ml streptomycin. Cells were stimulated and then incubated at 37°C in a humidified, 5% CO₂/air environment for the duration of the experiment. Experiments were designed to incorporate cellular stimulation with macrophage derived gpTNF α , recombinant gpTNF α , recombinant human cytokines, TNF α antibody neutralisation and time course studies. The supernatants were collected, stored at -20°C prior to assessing the bioactivity (2.7.4) and in some experiments the adhered cells were scraped into 1ml RNAozl B and stored at -70°C for northern blot analysis (2.6).

2.7.4 Elevations in intracellular free calcium concentration $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in guinea-pig peritoneal leukocytes

Guinea-pig peritoneal macrophages and eosinophils were prepared as described previously in section 2.7.1 and peritoneal neutrophil collection is described in section 2.7.4.1.

2.7.4.1 Guinea-pig peritoneal neutrophil collection

Dunkin-Hartley guinea-pigs (430-620g, male and female) were injected with 0.1% glycogen in saline (15-20ml/animal, i.p.). After 2-4 hours animals were sacrificed by inhalation of carbon dioxide and peritoneal lavage performed as described above (2.7.1). The red blood cells were lysed as described previously, the cells were repelleted by centrifugation (400g for 10 min) and the pellet resuspended in 5ml buffer A. Cell viability and percentage purity was determined by Trypan Blue exclusion and staining of cytospin preparations respectively (2.8.4).

2.7.4.2 Measurement of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded guinea-pig peritoneal leukocytes

Leukocytes were loaded with the fluorescent dye by incubating the cells $(1x10^7/m)$ in buffer A) with fura-2-acetoxymethyl ester (2.5µM) at 37°C for 30 min. The loaded cells were washed twice and resuspended in HBSS containing 0.1% BSA, 1mM Mg²⁺ and 100µM Ca²⁺ at 2x10⁶ cells/ml.

Measurements of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were obtained by using a dual excitation spectrophoto-fluorimeter (PTI Inc., NJ, USA, Deltascan) with excitation wavelengths of 340nm and 380nm and an emission wavelength of 510nm, the slit width was 5nm. The fluorescence signals from both excitation wavelengths were automatically recorded by the computer with the ratio of these being used to calculate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ as described by Grynkiewicz and co-workers (Grynkiewicz *et al.* 1985) (see section 2.7.4.3). The apparatus was calibrated at least twice (at the start and end) of each experiment to reduce any time induced cellular variations. Fura-2 loaded leukocytes (1ml, $2x10^{6}$ cells) and 1ml buffer A containing 1mM MgCl₂, 2mM CaCl₂ (to restore the extracellular calcium concentration to 1mM), were added to a quartz cuvette and placed in the fluorimeter. The cuvette was maintained at 37°C and a magnetic stirrer was used to ensure thorough mixing. Once the fluorescence signal stabilised the maximum $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ fluorescence (F_{max}) was measured by lysing the cells with 80µl digitonin (4mg/ml). After 20 s 40µl NaOH (2M) and 80µl EDTA (500mM) were added to the cells to establish a minimum background fluorescence value (F_{min}). Following calibration the cuvette was soaked in 95% ethanol for 5 min to remove any remaining digitonin.

To monitor the effect of agonists on $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, fura-2 loaded cells (1ml, $2x10^6$ cells) and 1ml buffer A containing 2mM CaCl₂, 1mM MgCl₂ were placed in the cuvette and allowed to equilibrate in the fluorimeter for 4 min at 37°C. The basal fluorescence signal was measured prior to agonist addition (100µl) and any fluorescence changes during the next 120 s were recorded.

2.7.4.3 Calculating $[Ca^{2+}]_i$

The binding of calcium ions to fura-2 causes an increase in fluorescence intensity and a hypsochromic shift in absorption and excitation spectra, such that maximum absorption of free fura-2 anion is 380nm and the Ca²⁺-fura-2 complexed state is 340nm. A ratio of absorption at 340/380nm was used to calculate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ as this method minimised variability due to apparatus efficiency and the effective concentration of dye (Grynkiewicz *et al.* 1985).

From the calibration response the values for F_{max} and F_{min} were obtained from the 380nm measurements. F_{max} and F_{min} are equivalent to S_{f2} and S_{b2} the proportionality coefficients for free and bound Fura-2 at 380nm. Using the 340nm/380nm ratio measurements R_{max} and R_{min} , the maximum and minimum fluorescence ratios between the wavelengths, were evaluated. The apparent Kd for fura-2 binding calcium at 37°C is equal to 2.24×10^{-7} M, hence, by applying equation 2.2 the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ at any one time is calculated. Once calibrated the computer automatically calculated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, following agonist stimulation, were measured as the difference between basal $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and the maximum $[Ca^{2+}]_i$.

$$[Ca^{2+}]_{i} = Kd x (R-R_{min}) x (S_{f2})$$

$$(R_{max}-R) (S_{b2})$$

Equation 2.2: To determine the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ of fura-2 loaded cells.

2.8 <u>In vivo</u> studies of airway inflammation in the guinea-pig

The effect of instilling cytokines and/or antibodies into the airways of both antigen sensitised and non-sensitised (naive) animals was examined and is summarised in figure 2.8.

2.8.1 Antigen sensitisation procedure and antigen challenge

Dunkin-Hartley guinea-pigs (200-400g, male and female) were sensitised over a period of 4 weeks to an antigen, ovalbumin (OA), via a series of intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections according to the method described in table 2.10. Aerosol challenge was performed by restraining the animal by the neck whilst the snout of each animal was placed in a nose-cone attached to a nebulizer. Animals were exposed to an aerosol of OA (0.1% in saline 10ml) using a compressed air (7l/min) nebuliser until dry. To prevent anaphylactic shock animals were injected with mepyramine (10mg/kg i.p.) 15 min prior to challenging. In some studies lung function tests (2.8.3) were performed 2-48 hours following aerosol challenge.

2.8.2 <u>In vivo</u> cytokine and murine anti TNF α antibody challenge

Naive (non-treated) or sensitised Dunkin-Hartley guinea-pigs (200-400g, male and female) were challenged with recombinant cytokines (TNF α , IL-13, IL-4) or rabbit anti-murine TNF α antibody. Initial studies compared 3 methods of administering the agents, as detailed below, but tracheal instillation (2.8.2.3) was used for the majority of the studies as this method allowed a known amount of agent to be delivered to the airways.

2.8.2.1 Aerosol challenge using a nose-cone

Naive guinea-pigs were restrained by the neck whilst the snout of each animal was placed in a nose-cone attached to a nebulizer. Animals were exposed to an aerosol



Table 2.10: Protocol for guinea-pig sensitisation methodology.

BV; Bordertella bronchisepetica vaccine.

All injection solutions were incubated for 1 hr at room temperature prior to use, to allow adjuvant (aluminium hydroxide) - antigen (OA) binding.

1ml in	traperitoneal inje	ction on days:			C Co
Day	()	1.	4	14-28 days after final injection
sensitisation solution	Al(OH) ₃	2mg/ml	Al(OH) ₃	2mg/ml	Aerosol challenge 10ml OA (0.1%)
prepared in saline	OA	10µg/ml	OA	10µg/ml	
	BV	50µl/ml	BV	50µl/ml	

81

of 5ml agent using a compressed air (7 l/min) nebuliser until dry. Lung function tests were performed 2 or 6 hours following challenge (2.8.3).

2.8.2.2 Tracheal aerosol challenge

Naive guinea-pigs were anaesthetised, ventilated via the trachea cannula and prepared for lung function analysis, as described in 2.8.3. Bronchial reactivity in response to i.v. histamine (1-10 μ g/kg) was measured (2.8.3). The ADC nebulizer (PMS, Mumed, London, UK) was then attached between the trachea cannula and the flow transducer. Inspiration by the animal activated the ADC nebulizer to generate an aerosol for 50% of the inspiration time. The animal was exposed to the aerosol on alternate breaths for 60 min during which time approx. 1.2ml of the agent was dispensed. A resting period of 30 min was allowed prior to reassessing bronchial reactivity.

2.8.2.3 Tracheal instillation

Guinea-pigs (male and female, 200-550g) were anaesthetised (ketamine 40mg/kg, xylazine 5mg/kg, i.m.) and kept on warming blankets until the desired degree of anaesthesia was achieved. Animals were positioned prone and any food particles removed from the inside of the mouth using cotton buds. The mouth was opened and an adapted pediatric laryngoscope used to depress the tongue so that the glottis and vocal cords were visible. Agents were adminstered using an elongated-gel loading pipette tip which was passed between the vocal cords before expelling the agent. Animals were maintained on the warming blanket until fully recovered and lung function tests and/or bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) was performed at set times following instillation.

To ensure the agents were entering the lungs, inital studies were performed by instilling 50µl Evans' blue dye (1mg/ml) into the airways. The animals were allowed

to recover before sacrificing, by an overdose of pentobarbitone, and removing the intact lungs to determine the distribution of the dye visually.

In neutralisation experiments gpTNF α was incubated with anti TNF α antibody at room temperature for 30 min prior to instillation. To examine the effect of co-instilling 2 cytokines, both were mixed immediately prior to instillation.

The instillation of sensitised animals, with rabbit anti murine TNF α antibody or IL-13, was performed 20 min prior to aerosol OA challenge. Mepyramine (10mg/kg i.p.) was administered 15 min before the animals were OA challenged.

2.8.3 Measurement of guinea-pig lung function in vivo

Dunkin-Hartley guinea-pigs (300-500g, male and female) were anaesthetised with sodium phenobarbitone (100mg/kg) and sodium pentobarbitone (30mg/kg) i.v. The animals were placed supine on a heated bed and their body temperature maintained at 37°C. Once in the state of surgical anaesthesia, a 3cm incision was made, the trachea exposed and cannulated. The trachea cannula was connected to a pneumotachograph (Fleish 0000) attached to a differential pressure transducer (MP45-14-871; Validyne, Northridge, CA) (See figure 2.9). The animal was ventilated (7ml/kg/breath) with a mixture of air and oxygen (1:1 v/v) at 60Hz using a small animal ventilator (Sandoz, Basel, Switzerland). The right carotid artery was cannulated with a heparinised saline filled cannula (1.02mm outside diameter, Portex Ltd., Kent, UK) connected to a pressure transducer (Washington PT400 Elcomatic Ltd.) to allow the measurement of blood pressure. The left jugular vein was cannulated, using a saline filled cannula with a volume of > 0.2ml, and attached to a saline containing infusion pump (B.Braun Melsungen AG). Transpulmonary pressure was assessed using a differential transducer (MP45-24-871; Validyne) connected to the trachea cannula and a blunt intrathoracic cannula inserted between ribs 6 and 8 (figure 2.9). Air introduced into the pleural cavity was removed via a 3-way tap leaving approx.1ml residue for pulmonary measurements. Changes in the lung function (lung resistance and dynamic compliance) were calculated via a computerised respiratory analyser (PMS, Mumed, London, UK). The animal was paralysed with gallamine (10mg/kg i.v.) and allowed to stabilise for 15 min.

To assess the airway responsiveness, 0.2ml of a spasmogen (e.g. histamine, metacholine at concentrations between $1-56\mu g/kg$) was administered at 10 min intervals via the jugular vein, each dose was infused into the vessel with saline (0.4ml). The lung resistance and dynamic compliance were measured for 1min prior to and 3 min following spasmogen administration.

2.8.4 Bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) cell accumulation

Immediately after the assessment of lung function the animal was sacrificed with an overdose of anaesthetic (sodium pentobarbitone 200mg/kg i.p.). The lungs were lavaged with 2 x 10ml PBS containing 0.1% BSA and 1mM EDTA, the BAL was centrifuged at 400g for 10 min and the supernatant stored at -20°C. The lavage was repeated and combined with the cell pellet from the first lavage. Total BAL leukocyte numbers were assessed using a haemocytometer and Trypan blue exclusion. Aliquots of BAL were cytospun (500rpm for 5 min) onto poly-lysine coated slides using a Shandon II cytospin (Life Sciences, Ireland). Slides were either wrapped in foil and stored at -70°C for subsequent immunohistochemical analysis or stained with Leishman's (1.5g/l methanol) or Diff-Quik stain. Differential leukocyte percentages, based on counting 700-1000 stained cells/sample, were used to determine the BAL leukocyte population numbers.

2.8.5 Storage of lung tissue

Lungs which had been lavaged were dissected from the carcase, washed in saline and chopped into small pieces. The lung pieces were frozen in iso-pentane for



Figure 2.9: Diagram to show the basis lung function apparatus. (PMS; pulmonary monitoring system, red lines represent the guinea-pig)

15-30 s and samples stored in air-tight bags at -70°C. Fresh lung tissue, stored in 10% formaldehyde fixative solution following dissection, was cryostat sectioned and haeamatoxylin and eosin stained by Pathology, Royal United Hospital, Bath.

2.9 Measurement of TNF α and chemokine protein content and bioactivity in BAL and lung tissue

Biologically active TNF α in BAL and lung tissue was assessed using a TNF α cytotoxicity assay (2.4), and the presence of antigenic TNF α was determined by western blot analysis (2.5) for lung tissue and immunohistochemistry for BAL cells. The ability of BAL to induce mobilisation of intracellular calcium in leukocyte subtypes (2.7.4) was used as an indication of chemokine-like bioactivity. Changes in gpTNF α and chemokine mRNA levels in lung tissue were determined by northern blot analysis (2.6).

2.9.1 Immunohistochemical analysis of BAL cell TNF α content

BAL cell cytospins were thawed at room temperature, the cells fixed in 1:1 methanol:3% hydrogen peroxide for 30 min and the slides rinsed twice in TBS pH 7.6. Non specific binding was blocked by incubating the slides in blocking buffer (TBS pH 7.6, 5% rabbit serum) for 15 min at 37°C. The slides were drained, but not rinsed, and the primary antibody (goat anti murine TNF α Ig G) diluted 1 in 500 in blocking buffer was added to the cells. A control antibody, goat IgG, was included for each BAL cytospin. Slides were incubated at 4°C overnight in a humidified chamber.

The slides were washed three times in TBS pH 7.6 on an orbital shaker for 5 min at room temperature. Rabbit anti goat Ig G peroxidase conjugate, diluted 1 in 100 in blocking buffer, was added and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The secondary antibody was removed by washing the slides three times in TBS pH 7.6 for 5 min at room temperature. The peroxidase conjugate was detected by

diaminobenzidine (DAB) peroxidase substrate using a tablet substrate kit. The DAB solution was applied to the slides for 5-10 min before counterstaining with Mayer's haematoxylin for 3-7 min and rinsing the slides in distilled water.

Slides were allowed to air dry before being examined under a microscope in a blind fashion. Positive staining was scored using a quantal scoring scale (table 2.11) for the number of cells stained in 5 fields of view.

Scale	Percentage of cells stained positive
1	less than 25%
2	25-50%
3	50-75%
4	75-100%

Table 2.11: The quantal scale used for scoring the percentage of stained cells.

2.10 Measurements of eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) activity in lung tissue

Frozen (-70°C) pieces of lung tissue were ground in liquid nitrogen (2.4.2) and homogenised in PBS 0.5% hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (HTAB) on ice, 2g lung tissue/8ml buffer. The homogenate was sonicated for 1 min prior to ultracentrifugation at 40,000g ,4°C for 5 min. The supernatant was decanted and repelleted at 48,000g, 4°C for 60 min. The pellet was resuspended in 3ml of 1mM Tris pH 7.4, centrifuged for 5 min at 12,000g, 4°C, the supernatant was aliquoted and stored at -20°C overnight. The aliqouts were thawed, heated for 2 hr at 60°C and stored on ice prior to use.

Horseradish peroxidase standards (1-100ng/ml) or test samples were added to a 96 well microtitre plate in triplicate (100 μ l/well). An equal volume of *o*-phenylenediamine (OPD) detection substrate was added. OPD solution was freshly

prepared by dissolving 10mg OPD in 25ml 0.05M phosphate citrate buffer pH 5.0 containing 10 μ l H₂O₂. The reaction was incubated in the dark for 30 min before stopping with 50 μ l/well of 3M H₂SO₄. The OD at 450nm was measured on a microtitre plate reader (MR5000 Dynatech Laboratories, Chantilly, Virginia.). A protein assay (2.5.1.3) was used to determine the amount of protein per sample and hence, the EPO activity (horseradish peroxidase equivalents) per mg protein was calculated.

2.11 Statistical analysis

The data is expressed as mean \pm SEM. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on log transformed data (normalised) to determine significance between groups, unless otherwise stated. If significance was found Dunnett's test was used to assess differences between means. A value of p \leq 0.05 was considered significant. Statistical analysis was performed using Minitab for Windows (version 10).

3. Expression & purification of gpTNF α

3.1 Predicted protein sequence of $gpTNF\alpha$

The sequence of gpTNF α cDNA, provided by Dr T. Yoshimura, and predicted amino acid sequence, are shown in figure 3.1. The gpTNF α cDNA is 77.8% and 74.7% homologous with human (Wang *et al.* 1985) and murine (Pennica *et al.* 1985) TNF α over the 1071 bp obtained. The amplified region encoded a 154 amino acid protein of 17 kDa which is approximately 80% identical with other mammalian sequences at the amino acid level, figure 3.2.

3.2 Expression of $gpTNF\alpha$

cDNA was amplified using a forward primer corresponding with the NH₂ terminus of the secreted form of gpTNF α (Tamatani et al. 1989) to yield a DNA fragment of 540 bp (figure 3.3). This fragment was inserted into the pMAL-p2 plasmid to generate the vector which was subsequently cloned into TB1 cells. The cloning of the vector, using the electroporation conditions described, resulted in the disruption of the malE-lacZ α gene in the colonies which had incorporated the vector (approximately 30% of the colonies). IPTG induction of cultures containing the disrupted gene promoted MBP-gpTNFa fusion protein expression in one of the five cultures randomly selected. SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis of the bacterial lysate indicated TNFa immunoreactivity at approximately 60 kDa, representing the fusion protein, figure 3.4. The fusion protein was isolated from the soluble crude bacterial extract by MBP-affinity chromatography using an amylose column. Factor Xa cleavage of the fusion protein resulted in the release of MBP (43 kDa) and gpTNF α (17 kDa), which was optimal following 8-24 hours incubation as shown in figure 3.5. Only limited cleavage was obtained by incubating the fusion protein with thrombin at room temperature for 24 hours.

-89 -80 -70 -60 -50 -40 -30 GAAATAAGCCCAGACAATCCAGACAGGCAGGTTTGGTCCCTCTCACACACCACCACCAGACTC -10 -20 CAGAGGTCCCTCTGCAGAAGACGCC ATG AGC ACA GAA AGC ATG ATC CGG GAC GTG Met Ser Thr Glu Ser Met Ile Arg Asp Val GAG CTC GCA GAG GAG CAG CTC CCC AAG AAG GCA GGG GGC CCC CAG GGC TCC Glu Leu Ala Glu Glu Gln Leu Pro Lys Lys Ala Gly Gly Pro Gln Gly Ser AGG CGG TGC TGG TGC CTC AGC CTC TTC TCC TTC CTG CTG GTG GCA GGG GCC Arg Arg Cys Trp Cys Leu Ser Leu Phe Ser Phe Leu Leu Val Ala Gly Ala ACC ACG CTC TTC TGC CTG CTG CAC TTT GGG GTG ATC GGC CCC CAG CGG GAA Thr Thr Leu Phe Cys Leu Leu His Phe Gly Val Ile Gly Pro Gln Arg Glu GAG CAG TTC TCC AGT GGC CCC CCC TTC AGA CCC CTG GCC CAG ACG CTC ACA Glu Gln Phe Ser Ser Gly Pro Pro Phe Arg Pro Leu Ala Gln Thr Leu Thr CTC AGA TCA GCT TCT CAA AAC GAT AAT GAC AAG CCG GTG GCT CAT GTT GTG Leu Arg^Ser Ala Ser Gln Asn Asp Asn Asp Lys Pro Val Ala His Val Val GCA AAC CAG CAA GCA GAG GAG GAG CTG CAG TGG CTC AGC AAG CGT GCT AAC Ala Asn Gln Gln Ala Glu Glu Glu Leu Gln Trp Leu Ser Lys Arg Ala Asn GCC CTC CTG GCC AAT GGC ATG GGC CTG AGC GAC AAC CAG CTG GTG GTG CCT Ala Leu Leu Ala Asn Gly Met Gly Leu Ser Asp Asn Gln Leu Val Val Pro TCG GAT GGG CTG TAC CTC ATC TAC TCC CAG GTC CTC TTC AAG GGC CAA GGC Ser Asp Gly Leu Tyr Leu Ile Tyr Ser Gln Val Leu Phe Lys Gly Gln Gly TGC CCC TCC TAC CTG CTT CTC ACC CAT ACC GTC AGC CGC TTG GCC GTC TCC Cys Pro Ser Tyr Leu Leu Leu Thr His Thr Val Ser Arg Leu Ala Val Ser TAC CCG GAA AAG GTC AAC CTT CTC TCT GCC ATC AAG AGT CCC TGC CAG AAG Tyr Pro Glu Lys Val Asn Leu Leu Ser Ala Ile Lys Ser Pro Cys Gln Lys GAG ACC CCA GAA GGG GCT GAG CGC AAG CCC TGG TAT GAA CCC ATC TAC CTG Glu Thr Pro Glu Gly Ala Glu Arg Lys Pro Trp Tyr Glu Pro Ile Tyr Leu GGA GGC GTC TTC CAG CTG CAG AAG GGT GAC CGG CTC AGC GCT GAG GTC AAC Gly Gly Val Phe Gln Leu Gln Lys Gly Asp Arg Leu Ser Ala Glu Val Asn CTG CCT CAG TAC CCT GAC TTT GCC GAT TCC GGG CAG ATC TAC TTT GGG GTC Leu Pro Gln Tyr Pro Asp Phe Ala Asp Ser Gly Gln Ile Tyr Phe Gly Val ATT GCC CTG TGA GAAGGACGGACGTCTCCATCCATCCCTTCTCCTTCCCCCACCAGTTCCTT Ile Ala Leu End GTGCCACTCAGTCCTTCCGGTTGGGTCCCCTCACCTTCTCCTGGTTCAGAAAGGGAATTAGGGGT

CAAGGCCAAAACCTGAGCTTAAAACTTGAAACAATACCATTGCTCAGGAACTCAGGGTGCAGGGA

Figure 3.1: The nucleotide and deduced amino acid sequence of gpTNF α . The ^ symbol between bases 240-241 denotes the position of the cleavage site to release the mature protein. The sequence is available from GenBank under accession number U77036.

	1									10										20										30
gp hu rb mu rt	S S S S	A S A S S	S S S S	Q R R Q Q	N T A N N	D P L S S	N S S S S	D D D D D	K K K K	P P P P P	V V V V V	A A A A A	H H H H H	V V V V V	V V V V V	A A A A A	N N N N	Q P P H H	0000	A A V V A	E E E E E	E G G E E	E Q Q Q Q Q	L L L L L	Q Q Q Q Q	W W W W	L L L L L	S N S S S	K Q Q Q	R R R R R R
gp hu rb mu rt	31 A A A A A	N N N N N	A A A A A	L L L L L	L L L L L	A A A A A	N N N N N	G G G G G	M V M M M	40 G K D D	L L L L L	S R T K K	D D D D D	N N N N N	Q Q Q Q Q Q Q	L L L L L	V V V V V	v v v v v	P P P P	50 S A A A A	D E N D D	G G G G G	L L L L L	Y Y Y Y Y	L L L L L	I I I V I	Y Y Y Y Y	S S S S S	Q Q Q Q Q Q	60 V V V V V
gp hu rb mu rt	61 L L L L L	F F F [F F	K K S K K	G G G G		G G G G G	с с[с с	P P R P P	S S D D	70 Y TH Y Y Y	L V V V V	L L L L	L L L L L	T T T T T	H H H H H	T T T T	V I V V V	S S S S	R R R R R	80 L F F F	A A A A A	V V V I I	S S S S S	Y Y Y Y Y	P Q P Q Q	E T N E E	K K K K	v v v v v	N N N S	90 L L L L L
gp hu rb mu rt	91 L L L L L	S S S S	A A A A [A	I I V I	К К К К К	S S S S S	P P P P P	C C C C C C C	Q Q H P P	100 K R R K K K	E E D D	T T T T T	P P P P P	E E E E E	G G E G G	A A A A A	E E E E E	R A P L L	K K M K K	110 P P A P P	W W W W	Y Y Y Y Y	E E E E E	P P P P	I I I M	Y Y Y Y Y	L L L L L	G G G G	G G G G	120 V V V V V
gp hu rb mu rt	I2I F F F F F	Q Q Q Q Q Q	L L L L	Q E E E E	К К К К	G G G G G	D D D D D	R R Q L	L L L L L	130 S S S S S	A A T A A	E E E E E	V I V V V	N N N N	L R Q L L	P P P P	Q D E K K	Y Y Y Y Y	L L L L L	140 D D D D D	F F L F I	A A A T	D E E E E	S S S S S	G G G G	0 0 0 0 0	I V V V V	Y Y Y Y Y	F F F F	150 G G G G
gp hu rb mu rt	151 V I I V V	I I I I I	A A A A A	154 L L L L L		% hc 1 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	omolog 00.0 80.5 79.2 83.1 82.5	gy		<u>Fi</u> g (W An	<u>gure :</u> /ang nino	<u>3.2:</u> 1985 acid:	The a (), rat s iden	mino bit (l tical	acid Ito 19 to gu	sequ 86), iinea	ence muri -pig a	aligi ne (F are bo	nmen Pennie Dxed.	t of se ca 198	ecrete 35) ai	d gp' nd rat	TNF(: (Shi	α wit irai 1	h hur 989)	nan TNFo	α.			

92


<u>Figure 3.3:</u> gpTNF α cDNA was amplified by PCR, using specific primers, to yield a single PCR product.

lane 1: λ base pair ladder, 2: control, no cDNA in PCR reaction 3: gpTNF α cDNA



<u>Figure 3.4</u>: gpTNF α -MBP fusion protein expression following IPTG-induction of TB1 cells. Samples were run on a 10% SDS-PAGE gel and stained with coomassie blue (A) or transferred to nitrocellulose membrane and TNF α detected by western blotting (B). Molecule weight markers (MWt, kDa) were run in lane 1 and TB1 cell samples run in lanes 2-9, lane 2 and 3 :uninduced and induced cells without pMal-p2 insertion, lanes 4/5, 6/7 and 8/9 uninduced/induced cells, respectively, which exhibited inactive β -galactosidase activity (pMal-p2 inserted), but IPTG only induced significant fusion protein expression in one of the colonies (lanes 8 and 9) which was detected by anti murine TNF α antibody.





3.3 Purification of $gpTNF\alpha$

gpTNF α was purified by a series of affinity chromatography columns (amylose, hydroxyapatite, 2nd amylose and polymixin B) to yield a single band on a silver stained SDS-PAGE gel (figure 3.6) at 17 kDa. The purified protein was positively immunoblotted with goat and rabbit anti murine TNF α antibodies. The immunoblotting of gpTNF α with an anti factor Xa antibody was negative (figure 3.7) indicating that the factor Xa had been removed, although an affinity column had not been incorporated in the methodology to specifically remove factor Xa.

In initial experiments reverse phase HPLC, barium sulphate precipitation and heparin binding columns were used in attempts to isolate gpTNF α from the cleaved fusion protein mix, but these proved unsuccessful (not shown).

3.4 Cytolytic activity of $gpTNF\alpha$

The WEHI 164 clone 13 cytotoxicity assay was used to determine the bioactivity of gpTNF α . Both the precleaved fusion protein and the purified gpTNF α exhibited cytolytic activity detailed in figure 3.8. The cytotoxic effect of 0.25ng/ml gpTNF α on WEHI 164 cells was dose dependently neutralised by increasing the concentration of rabbit anti murine TNF α sera (1 in 100 - 1 in 10000) pre-incubated with the protein, representative data is shown in figure 3.9. gpTNF α had an activity of 160IU/ng, compared with 40IU/ng of human TNF α standard.



<u>Figure 3.6:</u> Western blot (a) and silver stained SDS gel (b) to show the presence of gpTNF α at various stages of purification. The MBP-gpTNFa fusion protein, expressed in TB1 *E. coli*, was cleaved with factor Xa and gpTNF α purified to a single band on a silver stained gel (b).

96



Figure 3.7: Western blot to show to the removal of factor Xa during the purification of gpTNF α . Factor Xa, which under denaturing conditions is detected as 30kDa and 20kDa proteins, was immunodetected using rabbit anti human factor Xa. The membrane was probed for a second time with goat anti murine TNF α to determine the presence of gpTNF α in the samples.



<u>Figure 3.8</u>: Bioactivity of gpTNF α was assessed various stages of purification by WEHI cytotoxicity assays.

A) The bioactivity of MBP-gpTNF α fusion protein before () and after cleavage with factor Xa (). Factor Xa (200 μ g/ml) was incubated with the fusion protein for 18 h at room temperature. Cytotoxicity is expressed as cell viability with WEHI cells incubated with medium alone representing 100% viability, cells were incubated with factor Xa alone () as a control. Bars represent mean +/- sem from triplicate determinations.

B) Purified gpTNF α had a specific activity of 160IU/ng compared to recombinant human TNF α standards which had an activity of 40 IU/ng.





gpTNF α (, 25ng/ml) was pre-incubated with rabbit anti murine TNF α antisera 1 in 1000 (), 1 in 1000 () or 1 in 10000 () for 30 min at room temperature prior to addition to WEHI cultures. Cytotoxicity is expressed as cell viability with WEHI cells incubated with medium alone representing 100% viability, cells were incubated 1 in 100 rb α muTNF α alone () as a control.

Bars represent the mean +/- sem from triplicate determinations.

3.5 Detection of TNF α by ELISA

The murine TNF α ELISA detected murine TNF α over the range of 1-30ng/ml but did not detect gpTNF α (100ng/ml), data presented in figure 3.10. As the secondary antibody (polyclonal rabbit anti murine TNF α) is known to cross react with gpTNF α this suggests that the primary antibody (monoclonal hamster anti murine TNF α) did not cross react with the guinea-pig protein.



Figure 3.10: Measurement of gpTNF α using a murine TNF α ELISA. gpTNF α (0.03-100ng/ml, -O-) and murine TNF α (0.01-30ng/ml, $-\blacksquare-$) standards were compared in the asssay. Points represent mean absorbance values, with basal vehicle absorbance subtracted, of triplicates +/- sem. Representative data for 2 experiments.

3.6 Summary of expression and purification of $gpTNF\alpha$

- gpTNFα cDNA exhibited a 77.8% and 74.7% homology with murine and human TNFα cDNA respectively.
- Mature gpTNFα was expressed as a 154 amino acid, 17 kDa, protein which was 83.1%, 82.5%, 80.5 and 79.2% homologous with murine, rat, human and rabbit TNFα respectively.
- MBP affinity chromatography and purification using hydroxyapatite and polymixin B columns resulted in a single 17 kDa band on SDS-PAGE.
- Purified gpTNFα and the MBP-gpTNFα fusion protein was recognised by goat and rabbit anti murine TNFα antibodies.
- This recombinant gpTNFα has a cytolytic activity of 160IU/ng, compared with 40IU/ng recombinant huTNFα standards.
- gpTNF α cytolytic activity was neutralised by rabbit α murine TNF α antibodies.

4. Induction of chemokines by TNFα

4.1 The induction of chemokines by TNF α

The ability of gpTNF α (recombinant and macrophage derived) and human TNF α to stimulate the release of chemokine-like bioactivity from JH-4 cells was assessed by measuring cell culture-supernatant induced calcium mobilisation in guinea-pig peritoneal leukocytes. JH-4 IL-8 mRNA production following gpTNF α (recombinant) stimulation was also examined.

Supernatants from the incubation of JH-4 cultures with recombinant gpTNF α for 4-48 hours induced an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ of peritoneal neutrophils. Maximum $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevations were observed in supernatants from 18 hours incubation with gpTNF α . The ability of gpTNF α to stimulate JH-4 cells to produce calcium mobilising activity was reduced to control levels by coincubating with rabbit anti murine TNF α sera, examples of the experimental traces are shown in figure 4.1. Culturing cells with rabbit anti murine TNF α sera alone (control) did induce chemokine-like activity in the supernatants but for each time matched control the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation was less than the rises induced by supernatants from incubating cells with gpTNF α alone. The supernatants from incubations of JH-4 with human TNF α only induced slight increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in peritoneal neutrophils following 18 and 24 hours incubation, shown in figure 4.1.

Guinea-pig IL-8 mRNA was detected in JH-4 cells incubated with gpTNF α for 6 and 12 hours by northern blot analysis (figure 4.2). This mRNA expression was reduced by co-incubating with rabbit anti murine TNF α sera. IL-8 mRNA was not detected following the incubation of JH-4 with human TNF α at 6 or 12 hours.

Figure 4.1 (please see next page):

Figure 4.1 (see facing page): Experimental traces to show the elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura 2 loaded guinea-pig peritoneal neutrophils induced by JH-4 culture supernatants. Confluent JH-4 cells were stimulated with human TNFα 100ng/ml, gpTNFα 100ng/ml (gpTNFα) or gpTNFα 100ng/ml + rabbit anti murine TNFα sera 1 in 100 (gpTNFα + rbαmuTNFα) for 4 - 48 hours. Guineapig peritoneal neutrophils (1x10⁶ cells/ml) were stimulated with 100µl supernatant at approximately 25 seconds. Experimental traces are representative of 2 experiments.



106



Figure 4.2: gpIL-8 mRNA expression in stimulated JH-4 cells, measured by Northern blot analysis. JH-4 cells were incubated with gpTNF α (100ng/ml), gpTNF α (100ng/ml) +rabbit anti murine TNF α , sera (1 in 100), human TNF α (100ng/ml) and antibody (1 in 100) or media alone as controls for 6 and 12 hours. The top panel shows equal loading of the gel as denoted by the 18S and 28S bands.

Experiments to determine the ability of human cytokines to induce chemokine release from guinea-pig cells were performed. Supernatants from cell cultures of guinea-pig spleen cells, peritoneal macrophages and JH-4 cell line, stimulated with human cytokines (TNF α , IL-1 α and IFN γ either alone or in combinations) for 24 hours were assayed for the ability to induce elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in guinea-pig peritoneal leukocytes. With the exception of the supernatant from JH-4 cells cultured with human TNF α , which elicited small amounts of IL-8-like (neutrophil stimulating) activity, none of the human cytokines, when added alone or in combination, were able to induce chemokine activity in the culture supernatants. All supernatants were assayed on peritoneal neutrophils, macrophages and eosinophils. For example, fura-2 loaded peritoneal neutrophil, macrophage and eosinophil $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels remained at 87 \pm 5nM n=18, 72 \pm 3nM n=14, 44 \pm 2nM n=12, respectively, following the addition of cell culture supernatants collected 24 hours following the stimulation of the cell cultures with either a single human cytokine or cytokine combinations. However, increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels were observed when fura-2 loaded eosinophils were stimulated with supernatant from JH-4 cells incubated with guinea-pig macrophage derived gpTNF α (1µg/ml) for 24 hours. The addition of supernatant (100µl) induced elevations of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in eosinophils by 76nM ± 21nM, n=3. In each case the fura-2 loaded cells were shown to be responsive to 10nM human chemokine standards (human RANTES or human IL-8) or PAF (table 4.1).

Table 4.1: Agonist	induced	elevations	of	[Ca ²	⁻]i	in	fura-2	loaded	guinea-pig
peritoneal leukocytes	s.								

Leukocyte	Purity of	10nM agonist	Increase in [Ca ²⁺] _i	n
	preparation		(nM)	
eosinophils	92%±3%	PAF	265.1 ± 24	12
neutrophils	82%±7%	human IL-8	236.3 ± 23	18
macrophages	86%±5%	human RANTES	184.2 ± 19	14

4.2 Summary of the induction of IL-8 and chemokine-like activity by $TNF\alpha$

- Supernatants from JH-4 cells incubated with recombinant gpTNF α , for 4 48 h, induced an IL-8-like bioactivity which was maximal at 18 hours. This bioactivity in the supernatant was reduced by co-incubating the JH-4 cells with gpTNF α and rabbit anti murine TNF α antibody.
- IL-8 mRNA was detected in JH-4 cells following incubation with gpTNFα but not human TNFα.
- Supernatants from guinea-pig spleen cells, peritoneal macrophages and JH-4 cells incubated with human TNFα either alone or in combination with IL-1 and IFNγ, for 24 h, did not induce increases in [Ca²⁺]_i in fura-2 loaded peritoneal leukocytes.
- Supernatants from JH-4 cells incubated with guinea-pig macrophage derived TNF α for 24 h, induced increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded peritoneal eosinophils.

5. <u>In vivo</u> bioactivity of TNFα in the guinea-pig lung

5.1 <u>In vivo</u> bioactivity of gpTNFα

For all of the following *in vivo* studies tracheal instillation was used. The major advantages of this method were that a known amount of agent could be instilled directly to the trachea and as the animals were allowed to recover following instillation this enabled time course studies to be performed. To monitor the delivery and distribution of the instilled agents pilot experiments were performed using a protein dye, Evans Blue (50µg per animal), and an eosinophil chemoattractant, PAF (5nmoles per animal). Examination of the intact lungs following instillation of Evans Blue indicated that this method evenly distributed the instilled agents within the lung. Furthermore, the efficiency of the method was demonstrated by the instillation of PAF which induced a pronounced BAL eosinophil and neutrophil accumulation 24 hours post instillation as shown in figure 5.1.

Instillation of gpTNF α (50 -150ng per animal) induced a significant BAL eosinophil accumulation (p<0.01) at 24 hours (shown in plate 5.1 a and b) compared with vehicle instilled time matched controls. This response was dose dependent reaching significance at 50 and 150ng/animal, as shown in figure 5.2. BAL neutrophil numbers were variable within experiments. No increase in macrophage/monocyte numbers was observed at 15 or 50ng gpTNF α , compared to vehicle treated animals, although the higher dose of 150ng induced macrophage/monocyte infiltration. Lymphocyte numbers were not significantly altered in any of the test groups.

Pre-incubation of rabbit anti murine TNF α sera (1 in 100) with gpTNF α prior to instillation reduced the BAL eosinophil accumulation by 79.2%±9.4%, 24 hours after instillation, as detailed in figure 5.3. Heat treatment of 50ng gpTNF α abrogated the ability of gpTNF α to recruit leukocytes to the airways, 24 hours after instillation (figure 5.4).







<u>Plate 5.1</u> a: Photograph of gpTNF α (50ng) induced BAL eosinophil accumulation 24 hours after instillation of naive guinea-pigs, BAL from vehicle instilled animals is shown in plate 5.1 b. Magnification 2000x, cells stained with Diff-Quik.



Figure 5.2: The effect of the instillation of gpTNF α on BAL leukocyte accumulation. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA), 15 (), 50 () or 150ng () gpTNF α /animal 24 h prior to BAL. Bars represent the mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/dose. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared with vehicle treated animals.



Figure 5.3: Neutralisation of gpTNF α induced BAL leukocyte accumulation by anti TNF α antibody. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA, ____), 50ng gpTNF α (______) or 50ng gpTNF α preincubated with 1 in 100 rabbit anti murine TNF α serum (_____) 24 h prior to BAL. Bars represent the mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/treatment. ++p<0.01 compared with vehicle treated animals, **p<0.01 compared with animals treated with gpTNF α alone.



Figure 5.4: The effect of heat treating gpTNF α on BAL leukocyte accumulation. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA), gpTNF α (50ng) or heat treated gpTNF α (50ng, 80°C 1 h, 2000). Bars represent the mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/treatment. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with vehicle treated animals. Time course studies of BAL leukocyte accumulation, presented in figure 5.5, following the instillation of gpTNF α (50ng) indicated that maximum leukocyte accumulation occurred 24 hours after instillation. A slight increase in total BAL leukocyte numbers occurred 6 hours after instillation which did not reach significance (p=0.051) possibly due to the small sample size (n=3). A pronounced BAL eosinophil infiltration was observed 24 hours and maintained significantly above vehicle treated time matched controls at 48 and 72 hours after instillation. In these time course studies significant increases in BAL macrophage/monocyte and neutrophil numbers was only observed at 72 hours after instillation. BAL lymphocyte numbers were not significantly elevated at any of the time points studied.

Further experiments were performed to assess the effect of the instillation of gpTNF α (50ng) on *in vivo* bronchial hyperreactivity 24 hours after instillation. As can be seen in figure 5.6, although gpTNF α did cause BAL leukocyte accumulation in these animals, bronchial hyperreactivity was not induced. Administration of either 1.8-10µg/kg histamine or methacholine 3.2 and 10µg/kg caused a dose response effect increasing lung resistance in both the control vehicle instilled animals and in the gpTNF α instilled animals but differences between the groups were not statistically significant.

١



Figure 5.5: Time course of gpTNF α induced BAL leukocyte accumulation. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA, $-\Box$) or 50ng gpTNF α ($-\bullet$) at 6, 24, 48 or 72 h prior to BAL. Points represent the mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/treatment at 6, 48, and 72 h, n=6 animals/treatment at 24 h. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared with animals treated with vehicle treated animals. Lymphocyte data insert shows enlarged scale.



Figure 5.6: The effect of instilling 50ng gpTNF α on *in vivo* bronchial responsiveness induced by histamine and methacholine. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA \Box) or gpTNF α (50ng \bullet) 24 h prior to lung function tests being performed. Points represent the mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/treatment.

Figure 5.6 insert: The effect of instilling 50ng gpTNF α on BAL leukocyte accumulation, following lung function tests, indicating that the gpTNF α was biologically active. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA) or gpTNF α (50ng) 26 h prior to BAL. Bars represent the mean +/-sem, n=3 animals/treatment. *p<0.05 compared with vehicle instilled animals.

5.2 In vivo bioactivity of human $TNF\alpha$

In comparison with gpTNF α , the instillation of human TNF α (15-150ng) did not induce BAL eosinophil infiltration by 24 hours, figure 5.7. At the highest dose examined (150ng) human TNF α induced elevations in BAL macrophage/monocyte (which increased by approximately 2 fold) and neutrophil numbers, but only the increase in neutrophils reached statistical significance. A photograph of BAL leukocytes following instillation of 150ng human TNF α is shown in plate 5.2.

neutrophil



<u>Plate 5.2:</u> Photograph of human TNF α (150ng) induced BAL neutrophil accumulation 24 hours after instillation of naive guinea-pigs. Magnification 2000x, cells stained with Diff-Quik.



<u>Figure 5.7</u>: The effect of instilling human TNF α on BAL leukocyte accummulation. Guinea-pigs were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA, _____, n=6), 15 (______, n=3), 50 (______, n=3) or 150ng (\bigotimes , n=6) human TNF α /animal 24 h prior to BAL. Bars represent the mean +/- sem for each treatment. **p<0.01 compared with vehicle treated animals, where no symbols are indicated the differences were not significant (p>0.05) compared with appropriate controls. In addition, experiments were performed to assess the effect of administering aerosol human TNF α to naive guinea-pigs. The aerosols were delivered either via a nose-cone or via an in-line nebulizer connected between the ventilator and the trachea cannulae. As shown in tables 5.1 and 5.2 and figures 5.8 and 5.9, at the time points examined the administration of human TNF α , by either method, did not induce airway hyperreactivity or BAL leukocyte accumulation. Figures 5.8 and 5.9 show the effect of administering human TNF α , by aerosol challenge using a nose cone, on airway reactivity and BAL leukocyte infiltration 6 hours after challenge. Furthermore, visual observation of the basal lung resistance and compliance levels over the 30min TNF α (15µg) challenge, using the in-line ultrasonic nebuliser, indicated that aerosol administration of human TNF α had no immediate overt effect on *in vivo* lung function.

<u>Table 5.1:</u> Changes in *in vivo* guinea-pig bronchial reactivity following the aerosol administration of human TNF α . When using the in-line tracheal nebuliser each animal served as its own control with the increase in lung resistance induced by 10µg/kg histamine assessed immediately prior to challenge (before TNF α) and 30 min after TNF α (15µg) challenge. 50µg human TNF α was administered via the nose-cone with vehicle challenged animals being exposed to an equal volume of saline 0.1% BSA.

Human TNFα administered via	Time after challenge	Treatment	Increase in lung resistance (cm H ₂ O.1 ⁻¹ .s ⁻¹) induced by
		(n)	histamine (10µg/kg)
in line ultrasonic	30 min	beforeTNFα (3)	483.3±239
nebuliser		after TNFa (3)	451.7±284
nose-cone jet	2 hours	vehicle (4)	393.2±68
nebuliser		TNFα (6)	405±67
nose-cone jet	6 hours	vehicle (4)	612.6±196
nebuliser		TNFα (4)	428.1±219

<u>Table 5.2:</u> Human TNF α induced changes in BAL leukocyte numbers when administered via a nose-cone (50µg) or an in-line tracheal nebuliser (15µg) Vehicle challenged animals were exposed to an equal volume of saline 0.1% BSA.

Human	Time	Treatment	BAL leukocyte numbers (millions)					
ΤΝΓα	after							
administered	challenge	(n)	macrophages	eosinophils	neutrophils	lymphocytes		
via			/monocytes					
in-line	2 hours	vehicle (3)	5.69±1.7	1.28±0.7	1.09±0.6	0.21±0.06		
ultrasonic		TNFa (3)	8.40±0.9	1.73±0.2	1.18±0.3	0.26±0.2		
nebuliser								
nose-cone jet	4 hours	vehicle (4)	11.46±1.3	5.93±1.5	0.38±0.05	1.0±0.2		
nebuliser		TNFα (6)	7.98±1.7	4.23±1.2	0.30±0.08	0.61±0.2		
nose-cone jet	8 hours	vehicle (4)	10.31±2.5	4.11±1.3	0.17±0.04	0.45±0.1		
nebuliser		TNFα (4)	11.46±4.9	6.05±1.9	0.28±0.1	0.51±0.1		

Experiments were performed to determine whether aerosol generation affected the bioactivity of TNF α (table 5.3). TNF α WEHI cytolytic activity was assessed in samples before and after ultrasonic nebulisation. This treatment was found not to change TNF α bioactivity.

<u>Table 5.3</u>: The bioactivity of TNF α was assessed by WEHI bioassay. The cytolytic activity prior to aerosolisation was equated to represent 100% TNF α bioactivity.

TNFα treatment	Cytolytic activity (%)				
Before aerosol generation (n=3)	100				
After aerosol generation (n=3)	94 ± 5				



Figure 5.8: The effect of aerosol huTNF α , administered using a nose cone, on *in vivo* airway responsiveness to histamine. Guinea-pigs were exposed to 5ml of either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA, — III —) or huTNF α (— IIII = 50 μ g) 6 h prior to lung function tests being performed. Points represent the mean +/- sem, n=4 animals/treatment.



Figure 5.9: The effect of aerosol huTNFα, administered using a nose cone, on BAL leukocyte accumulation. Guinea-pigs were exposed to 5ml of either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA, _____) or huTNFα (_______; 50µg) 8 h prior to BAL being performed. Bars represent the mean +/- sem, n=4 animals/treatment.

5.3 Summary of the <u>in vivo</u> activity of TNF α in the guinea-pig

$gpTNF\alpha$

- gpTNFα (15-150ng) induced a dose dependent increase in BAL leukocyte accumulation which was maximum 24 hours after instillation and substained above control levels at 72 hours.
- 50ng gpTNF α induced a pronounced BAL eosinophil infiltration.
- gpTNFα induced BAL leukocyte accumulation was abrogated by pre-incubating gpTNFα with rabbit anti murine TNFα sera or by heat treating the gpTNFα prior to instillation.
- gpTNF α did not induce bronchial hyperreactivity 24 hours after instillation.

Human TNF α

- Human TNFα (150ng) induced a significant elevation in BAL neutrophil numbers
 24 hours after instillation. Macrophage/monocyte numbers were slightly enhanced, but eosinophil numbers were not increased.
- Aerosol delivery of human TNFα did not induce bronchial hyperreactivity or BAL leukocyte accumulation at 30 min - 8 hours after challenge.
- Following the instillation of human TNF α the leukocytes recruited to the airways were predominantly neutrophils. This was in contrast to the eosinophilic leukocyte accumulation induced by gpTNF α .

6. Leukocyte accumulation, airway reactivity and $TNF\alpha$ generation in guinea-pig allergic airway inflammation

In order to investigate the involvement of TNF α in allergic airway inflammation an animal model was first established and characterised. The ovalbumin (OA) sensitised guinea-pig is a classical model of allergic inflammatory lung diseases. Before settling on the method used for the other studies shown in this chapter (method number 4) which demonstrated bronchial hyperreactivity and lung eosinophilia in the studies shown below, several variations of the sensitisation methods were tried. The bronchial reactivity and BAL eosinophil accumulation data from various sensitisation methods is shown in table 6.1.

<u>Table 6.1</u>: Increases in bronchial reactivity (induced by histamine i.v., $3.2\mu g/kg$ and $10\mu g/kg$) and BAL eosinophil infiltration 24 hours following antigen challenge of naive or sensitised guinea-pigs using various sensitisation protocols. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 compared with naive guinea-pigs, where no symbol is shown the difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05). PV: *Bordetella pertussis* vaccine, BV; *Bordetella bronchoseptiemia* vaccine.

Sensitisation	Injected	Aerosol	Treatment	Increases in lung		BAL lung
protocols	(1ml, i.p.)	antigen		resistance (cm H ₂ O.l ⁻¹ .s ⁻¹)		eosinophil
		challenge		induced by i.v. histamine		numbers
No.	on days:	on days:	(n)	3.2µg/kg	10µg/kg	(millions)
1 Cyclophosphamide	-1	35-42	naive (6)	127±99	180± 69	5.8±1.2
Al(OH)₃ 1mg	0	10ml 0.1%				
OA 10μg	14 (no PV)	OA	sensitised (6)	138±16	388±133	17.9±1.3 *
PV 0.25ml	28 (no PV)					
2 Al(OH) ₃ 1mg	0	44-51	naive (4)	319±126	916±74	1.91±0.2
OA 1mg	14 (no PV)	10ml 0.1%				
PV 0.25ml	36 (no PV)	OA	sensitised (4)	456±118	1244± 159	18.2±3.6**
3 Cyclophosphamide	-1	42-52				
Al(OH) ₃ 1mg	0	10ml 0.1%	naive (5)	200± 95	850±208	4.67±0.8
OA 10µg	14 (no PV)	OA				
PV 0.25ml	28 (no PV)		sensitised (5)	805± 226	1305± 90	18.5±2.3**
4 Al(OH) ₃ 2mg	0	28-40	naive (8)	12±3	115±38	6.2±2.3
OA 10μg	14	10ml 0.1%				
BV 0.05ml		OA	sensitised (8)	180± 72***	836±152***	26.7±0.5**
6.1 The effect of antigen sensitisation on *in vivo* bronchial reactivity

An anti-histamine, mepyramine, was administered 15 min prior to challenging with aerosol antigen (OA) for a 60 min period. Changes in *in vivo* bronchial reactivity to known spasmogens was assessed at set time points after antigen challenge. Examples of experimental traces, 24 hours after antigen challenge, showing changes in lung resistance and dynamic compliance following the infusion of histamine in sensitised and naive animals are presented in figure 6.1 when the effects of mepyramine were assumed to be negligible. The sensitisation of animals per se had little effect on the basal lung resistance and dynamic compliance, as can be seen in table 6.2.

<u>Table 6.2</u>: Basal lung resistance and dynamic compliance measurements for sensitised and naive guinea-pigs. Animals were antigen challenged 2-48 hours prior to *in vivo* lung function tests, n=3 animals/time point.

time after	lung resistance (cm H ₂ O.l ⁻¹ .s ⁻¹)		dynamic compliance (ml. cm H_2O^{-1})	
challenge	naive	sensitised	naive	sensitised
(h)	challenged	challenged	challenged	challenged
2	151.3±18	195.1±45	0.68±0.2	0.69±0.1
6	113.3±10	184.5±23	0.87±0.1	0.78±0.1
12	143.1±16	174.6±11	0.66±0.1	0.74±0.1
18	155.9±26	143.0±13	0.77±0.1	0.74±0.1
24	160.27±35	126.4±13	0.64±0.1	1.15±0.1
48	145.1±13	158.1±19	0.69±0.1	0.67±0.1



Figure 6.1 (A): Dose related increases in lung resistance and decreases in dynamic compliance induced by histamine. The experimental traces shown are from a sensitised antigen challenged, 24 h prior to assessment of bronchial reactivity, guinea-pig administered histamine (0 - $5.6\mu g/kg$, i.v.) at the 60 second time point. 10 minutes was allowed between each infusion.

Figure 6.1 (B): Comparison of responses from a naive or sensitised guinea-pig infused with $5.6\mu g/kg$ histamine at the 60 second time point. Animals were antigen challenged 24 h prior to lung function tests being performed.

Time course studies of histamine induced increases in lung resistance at 2 - 48 hours after antigen challenge showed a biphasic pattern of hyperreactivity when comparing sensitised and naive animals as detailed in figure 6.2. Sensitised animals were hyperreactive to histamine (5.6 or $10\mu g/kg$) 6 hours after antigen challenge, but this resolved by 12 hours. The second phase of hyperreactivity occurred at 24 hours and was sustained to 48 hours after challenge (figure 6.2). In all cases sensitised animals were compared with naive time matched controls. This pattern of hyperreactivity was also seen using $10\mu g/kg$ methacholine as the spasmogen, shown in figure 6.3, with hyperreactivity peaks at 6 hours (although this was not statistically significant, possibly due to the small numbers in the groups) and a sustained phase 24 - 48 hours. It should be noted that the degree of hyperreactivity varied considerably between different batches of sensitised guinea-pigs.

6.2 Airway leukocyte recruitment following antigen challenge of sensitised guinea-pigs

The profile of antigen induced leukocyte recruitment to the lungs between 2-48 hours is shown in figure 6.4. Total BAL leukocyte numbers were elevated by 6 hours and remained above the levels of time matched naive antigen challenged controls over the time course studied, as shown in table 6.3. BAL neutrophil recruitment was transient with numbers significantly elevated by 2 hours, peaking at 12 hours and returning to control levels by 24 hours. Increased recruitment of eosinophils was not observed until 12 hours after challenge of sensitised animals, with a maximum accumulation at 24 hours (plate6.1) which was sustained at 48 hours. Significant macrophage/monocyte recruitment was observed at 24 hours and sustained at 48 hours. Lymphocyte numbers remained very low throughout the time course.





*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with naive antigen challenged animals.

Panel A shows histamine $(1-10\mu g/kg)$ dose-response curves for individual time points post-challenge. Panel B shows increases in lung resistance induced by $10\mu g/kg$ histamine 2-48 h post-challenge (data taken from dose-response curves shown in panel A).



<u>Figure 6.3</u>; Bronchial hyperresponsiveness to methacholine $(10\mu g/kg)$ following antigen challenge of sensitised (--•) versus naive (--□-) guinea-pigs. Animals were aerosol antigen challenged (0.1% OA; 10ml) 2-48 h prior to lung function tests. Points represent mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/treatment. *p<0.05, ***p<0.001 compared with antigen challenged naive animals.

,



Figure 6.4: Time course of BAL leukocyte accumulation following aerosol antigen (OA) challenge of sensitised ($-\bullet-$) or naive ($-\Box-$) guinea-pigs. Animals were challenged with antigen (10ml 0.1% OA) 2-48 h prior to BAL. Points represent mean +/- sem; n=3 animals/treatment for 2, 6, 12 and 18 h, n=4 animals/treatment for 24 and 48 h. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with naive antigen challenged animals. Data are representative of 6 experiments.





<u>Plate 6.1 a:</u> Photograph of antigen induced BAL eosinophil accumulation 24 hours after aerosol challenge of sensitised guinea-pigs, BAL from a time-matched control antigen challenged naive animals is shown in plate 6.1 b. Magnification 2000x.

<u>Table 6.3:</u> The total BAL leukocyte numbers 2 -48 hours following antigen challenge of naive or sensitised animals. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 compared with time matched naive animals. Data are representative of 6 experiments

time after	total BAL leukocyte numbers (millions)		
challenge (h)	naive	sensitised	
2 (n=3)	21.9±5.1	30.3±2.5	
6 (n=3)	17.6±2.2	39.4±2.2 **	
12 (n=3)	28.6±8.15	83.1±7.3 *	
18 (n=3)	23.1±5.9	85.1±19.4 *	
24 (n=4)	12.5±2.2	99.3±18.6 ***	
48 (n=4)	26.4±2.7	81.9±8.0 ***	

6.3 TNF α generation in antigen challenged sensitised guinea-pigs

TNF α generation was measured at the protein and mRNA levels at various times after antigen challenge. TNF α levels in the BAL, measured by WEHI cytotoxicity assay, were similar in both sensitised and naive antigen challenged animals, figure 6.5 (assay sensitivity >0.1IU/ml TNF α). One problem often encountered during the assay was a potentiation of WEHI growth induced by BAL samples. Experiments were performed in the presence of actinomycin D (1µg/ml) to inhibit proliferation but this also reduced WEHI adhesion and cellular viability (~50% viable) and hence was not routinely used. In some experiments, FCS was added to the BAL samples prior to the addition to wells in order to "saturate" WEHI growth, but this did not enhance the sensitivity of the assay.

Whole lung TNF α protein content was measured by western blot analysis. In the sensitised animals, 2-24 hours after antigen challenge, there appeared to be a slight increase in TNF α levels compared to the naive control animals as summarised in





Figure 6.5: Time course of BAL TNF α content following antigen challenge of sensitised (Sen, n=5-8) or naive (N, n=6-8) guinea-pigs. Animals were challenged with antigen 2-48 h prior to BAL, and BAL TNF α content was measured by WEHI cytotoxicity assay. Each \blacksquare represents the TNF α content of 1ml BAL from one animal. Data are expressed in cytolytic activity based on a human TNF α standards.

table 6.4. However, TNF α protein was detected in both groups at all time points examined, an example of the western blots obtained is shown in figure 6.6.

<u>Table 6.4</u>: Whole lung TNF α content of sensitised or naive antigen challenged guinea-pigs. Lungs were removed 2-24 hours after challenging and TNF α content determined by western blot analysis. Scale: - no TNF α , + TNF α band visible, ++ TNF α band strongly visible, each symbol represents tissue from one animal.

time after	naive	sensitised	
challenge	antigen challenge	antigen challenge	
(h)			
2 (n=3)	-, +, +	+, +, +	
6 (n=3)	+, +, -	+, +, +	
12 (n=3)	-, -, +	+, +, -	
18 (n=2)	-, +	+, +	
24 (n=2)	-, +	+, ++	

Immunohistochemical staining of BAL cytospins for each time point (2-48 h) following antigen challenge indicates TNF α in all samples. 50-75% of the BAL cells were stained positive (as shown in plate 6.2) but there was no observable difference between sensitised or naive animals and the staining was not specific for one leukocyte sub-type. However, this data does reflect an increase in overall TNF α expression, as the total BAL leukocyte numbers were increased in sensitised animals as shown in table 6.3. Due to the low number of animals in each group statistical analysis was not performed on these data. Control IgG antibody, used for each BAL sample, did not stain positive.



Figure 6.6: Western blot to show the presence of TNF α in guinea-pig lung tissue homogenates. Naive (N) or sensitised (Sen) animals were antigen challenged 2-24 hours prior to BAL and the subsequent removal of the lungs. TNF α was detected using rabbit anti murine TNF α antibody.



<u>Plate 6.2</u>: Photograph of immunohistochemically detected TNF α in BAL leukocytes from an antigen challenged sensitised guinea-pig. TNF α is detected with a brown stain and the cells counter stained with Mayers' hematoxylin (blue). BAL was collected 24 hours after aerosol challenging the animals. Magnification 2000x.

6.4 BAL induced elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in guinea-pig peritoneal leukocytes

Elevations of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded peritoneal leukocytes was used to assess the chemokine-like bioactivity present in the BAL following antigen challenge of sensitised and naive guinea-pigs. It should be noted that gpTNF α does not elevate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in guinea-pig eosinophils, macrophages or neutrophils (M.L. Watson, University of Bath and personal observations) BAL from sensitised antigen challenged animals induced a rapid transient $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation in peritoneal eosinophils (eosinophil purity 93% ±5%, n=15), figure 6.7. Increased calcium mobilising activity in BAL from sensitised challenged animals compared with BAL from naive challenged animals was observed 2 hours after challenge but this was not statistically significant. This mobilising activity peaked at 6 hours (p<0.001) and was maintained above time matched controls at 12 and 18 hours (p<0.001, p<0.01 respectively), returning to control levels 48 hours after antigen challenge. The $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevation in eosinophils was reached 10-20s after addition of the BAL, with a lag time of ~5s.

BAL from naive challenged animals had weak macrophage (macrophage purity $85\%\pm4\%$ n=12) stimulating activity, and this was not significantly elevated in time matched antigen challenged sensitised animals (e.g. BAL from sensitised animals 6 hours after challenge induced a 52nM ± 10nM increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ compared with 40nM ± 7nM increase with BAL from time matched controls, n=3 for each group). The profile of these $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevations were similar to those induced in eosinophils. BAL from sensitised or naive animals did not induce elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ above basal levels of 48nM ± 2.7nM, n=8, in peritoneal neutrophils (neutrophil purity 83%±5%, n=8).





Eosinophils were stimulated with 100µl BAL from either naive ($-\Box -$, n=5-9) or sensitised ($-\odot -$, n=5-9) guinea-pigs. Animals were challenged with aerosol antigen 2-48 h prior to BAL. Points represent the mean +/- sem. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with elevations induced by BAL from naive animals. Inserts show typical experimental time courses of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevations following BAL stimulation at approximately 20 seconds (arrows). Only one experimental trace following the addition of BAL from a naive animal (BAL collected 2 h after challenge) is shown for clarity, this trace is shown superimposed on the 2 h trace.

6.5 Effect of instilling anti TNF α antibody 20 min prior to antigen challenge on antigen induced BAL leukocyte accumulation

The instillation of rabbit anti murine TNF α IgG in sensitised guinea-pigs reduced the eosinophil accumulation by 69.4%±3.8% (n=6) and the neutrophil accumulation by 94.1%±3.5% (n=6) 24 hours after challenge (figure 6.8) compared with sensitised guinea-pigs instilled with rabbit IgG. BAL macrophage/monocyte numbers were not significantly reduced by antibody instillation. The instillation of rabbit anti murine TNF α IgG to naive animals had no significant effect on BAL leukocyte accumulation when compared with naive animals instilled with rabbit IgG, as can be seen in figure 6.8.



Figure 6.8: The effect of anti TNFa antibody on antigen induced BAL leukocyte accumulation. Antigen sensitised animals were instilled with either rabbit anti murine TNFα IgG (1 in 100;) or control rabbit IgG (1in100;), and naive animals were instilled with either rabbit anti murine TNF α IgG (1 in 100; $\gamma/2$) or rabbit IgG (1in100;) as additional controls. All animals were instilled with 50µl antibody 20 min prior to aerosol antigen challenge (10ml 0.1% OA) and BAL was performed 24 h later.

Bars represent mean +/- sem, n=6 animals/treatment. +++p<0.001 compared with naive animals instilled with rabbit IgG. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with sensitised animals instilled with rabbit anti murine TNFa IgG. Where no symbols are indicated the differences were not significant (p>0.05).

143

6.6 Summary of the effect of antigen challenge of sensitised animals

- Antigen challenge induced biphasic bronchial hyperreactivity: The initial period of hyperreactivity occurred at 6 hours and was resolved by 12 hours, with the second period maximal at 24 hours and sustained at 48 hours.
- Antigen challenge induced BAL leukocyte accumulation: Neutrophil infiltration was transient and rapid in onset (occurring by 2 h), with maximum infiltration 12 hours after antigen challenge. The accumulation of eosinophils occurred at 12 hours, was maximum at 24 hours and remained pronounced at 48 hours. Macrophage/monocyte infiltration was later in onset, occurring at 24 hours and sustained at 48 hours.
- TNF α , mRNA and protein, was expressed in both naive and sensitised animals.
- BAL from sensitised animals induced transient increases in [Ca²⁺]_i in fura-2 loaded peritoneal eosinophils. Activity was maximum in BAL 6 hours after challenge and returned to control levels by 48 hours after challenge. BAL from both naive and sensitised animals, 2 48 hours after challenge, induced similar increases in [Ca²⁺]_i in fura-2 loaded peritoneal macrophages. BAL stimulation of fura-2 loaded peritoneal neutrophils did not increase [Ca²⁺]_i.
- Instilling rabbit anti murine TNFα IgG 20 min prior to antigen challenge caused a marked reduction in BAL eosinophil and neutrophil accumulation, the latter being reduced to control levels 24 hours after challenge. Macrophage/monocyte accumulation was not affected.

7. Effect of human IL-13 on antigenand gpTNF αinduced lung inflammation <u>in</u> <u>vivo</u>

To determine the effect of IL-13 on airway inflammation two guinea-pig models were used 1) gpTNF α -induced inflammation and 2) antigen induced airway inflammation.

7.1 The effect of IL-13 and IL-4 on gpTNF α induced BAL leukocyte accumulation

Initial experiments demonstrated that the instillation of IL-13 (100ng) alone did not induce increased BAL leukocyte accumulation. However, by co-instilling IL-13 (1-100ng) with gpTNF α (50ng) there was a reduction in total BAL leukocyte accumulation 24 hours after instillation. gpTNF α induced macrophage/monocyte and eosinophil infiltration was reduced in a dose dependent manner by IL-13, as shown in figure 7.1. The gpTNF α induced BAL macrophage/monocyte and eosinophil recruitment was inhibited to near control (vehicle treated) levels by the co-instillation of the highest used dose of IL-13 (100ng) with gpTNF α (50ng).

Measurements of total lung EPO performed following BAL indicated that the co-instillation of IL-13 caused a reduction in EPO levels (figure 7.2) compared to levels in lung tissue from animals instilled with gpTNF α alone. Statistical significance was not reached, probably due to the small number of animals (3/group) used in this study.

Following the co-instillation of gpTNF α (50ng) with IL-4 (100ng) a slight reduction in BAL macrophage/monocyte and eosinophil numbers and a marginal increase in neutrophil numbers were observed at 24 hours, compared with the instillation of gpTNF α alone, but none of these changes were significant as shown in figure 7.3. The instillation of IL-4 (100ng) alone induced a significant increase in BAL macrophage/monocyte and neutrophil numbers compared to vehicle instilled animals. No increase in BAL eosinophil or lymphocyte numbers was induced by IL-4.



Eigure 7.1: The effect of IL-13 on gpTNF α induced BAL leukocyte accumulation. Naive guinea-pigs animals were instilled with either vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA; _____; n=5), 100ng IL-13 (_____; n=6), 50ng gpTNF α (_____; n=5), 50ng gpTNF α + 100ng IL-13 (_____; n=6) 50ng gpTNF α + 10ng IL-13 (_____; n=6) or 50ng gpTNF α + 1ng IL-13 (_____; n=6). All animals were instilled (50µl) 24 h prior to BAL. Bars represent the mean+/- sem for each treatment. +++p<0.001 compared with vehicle treated animals *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared with the appropriate controls. Lymphocyte data insert shows enlarged scale.



<u>Figure 7.2:</u> The effect of gpTNF α and IL-13 on eosinophil peroxidase (EPO) activity in guinea-pig whole lung extracts following BAL. Naive guinea-pigs were instilled with vehicle (PBS 0.1% BSA), 100ng IL-13 alone, 50ng gpTNF α alone or 50ng gpTNF α + 100, 10 or 1ng IL-13 24 h prior to BAL and the subsequent removal of whole lung tissue. Bars represent the mean +/- sem, n=3 animals/treatment.





7.2 Effect of IL-13, instilled 20 min prior to antigen challenge, on antigen-induced BAL leukocyte accumulation

The instillation of IL-13 (1-100ng/animal) 20 min prior to antigen challenge of sensitised guinea-pigs caused a dose dependent reduction in antigen induced BAL leukocyte accumulation as detailed in table 7.1. This reduced number of cells was principally accounted for by a reduction in eosinophil numbers (figure 7.4) with no significant change in macrophage/monocyte or neutrophil numbers. Lymphocyte numbers were reduced by instilling IL-13 prior to antigen challenge, which was significant at the dose of 10ng IL-13. Although the instillation of 100ng IL-13 significantly inhibited BAL eosinophil accumulation in response to antigen challenge of sensitised animals by $72\% \pm 4\%$ (n=6), this level was still 3 fold higher than the eosinophil numbers in naive animals instilled with IL-13.

<u>Table 7.1</u>: The effect of instilling IL-13 on antigen induced total leukocyte BAL accumulation. IL-13 (1-100ng/animal) or vehicle (PBS, 0.1%BSA) was instilled 20 min prior to antigen challenge of sensitised or naive animals. BAL was performed 24 hours after challenge. $\dagger\dagger\dagger$ p<0.001 compared with vehicle treated naive animals, * p<0.05, ***p<0.001 compared with vehicle treated sensitised animals.

Treatment	IL-13	Total number of BAL	
	(ng/animal)	cells (millions)	
Naive (n=6)	0	14.43±2.7	
Naive (n=6)	100	15.79±2.9	
Sensitised (n=6)	0	87.47±5.2 †††	
Sensitised (n=5)	1	64.01±6.5 *	
Sensitised (n=6)	10	51.69±4.0 ***	
Sensitised (n=6)	100	48.67±3.7 ***	



7.3 Effect of IL-13 on chemokine-like activity in BAL of antigen challenged sensitised guinea-pigs

The chemokine-like activity present in the BAL was assessed by measuring changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded peritoneal eosinophils following the addition of BAL. BAL (100µl) from vehicle instilled naive antigen challenged animals induced marginal increases in eosinophil $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (5.8±3.6 nM, n=6). However, transient increases in eosinophil $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were induced by BAL from vehicle instilled sensitised animals, as shown in the experimental trace in figure 7.5. Following the instillation of 100ng IL-13 prior to antigen challenging sensitised animals, the calcium mobilising activity in the BAL was reduced by 60%±13% (n=6/group, compared to vehicle instilled sensitised animals) which was statistically significant (p<0.05).



Figure 7.5: Inhibition of the generation of BAL eosinophil stimulating activity by IL-13. Fura-2 loaded guinea-pig peritoneal eosinophils were stimulated with 100µl BAL from sensitised animals instilled with either vehicle () or IL-13 (100ng/animal) (), or control naive animals instilled with vehichle (). Animals were instilled 20 min prior to aerosol antigen challenge (10ml 0.1% OA) and BAL was performed 24 h later. Bars represent the mean +/- sem, n=6 animals/treatment. ***p<0.001 compared with elevations induced by BAL from vehicle instilled naive animals, +p<0.05 compared with elevations induced by BAL from vehicle instilled sensitised animals. Inserts show typical time courses of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ elevations following addition of BAL at the 40 second time point (arrows).

7.4 Summary of the <u>in vivo</u> activity of IL-13 in guinea-pig models of airway inflammation

$gpTNF\alpha$ induced airway inflammation

- Co-instillation of IL-13 with gpTNFα inhibited gpTNFα induced BAL leukocyte accumulation. IL-13 (1-100ng) co-instillation dose dependently reduced the gpTNFα induced BAL leukocyte infiltration with 100ng IL-13 reducing the BAL leukocyte numbers to control levels.
- Co-instillation of IL-4 (100ng) with gpTNFα did not significantly reduce gpTNFα induce BAL leukocyte accumulation.

Antigen induced airway inflammation

- The instillation of IL-13 (1-100ng) 20 min prior to antigen challenge of sensitised animals caused a dose dependent reduction in BAL eosinophil accumulation 24 hours after challenge.
- BAL from sensitised animals instilled with 100ng IL-13 prior to antigen challenge exhibited reduced ability to induce increases in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded peritoneal eosinophils.

8. Discussion

8.1 Initial aims of the project

At the outset of this project *in vitro* studies had provided evidence to implicate the involvement of TNF α in inflammatory diseases and this was combined with a number of clinical studies reporting elevated levels of TNF α in the asthmatic lung. However, the *in vivo* bioactivity of TNF α in the lung had been incompletely characterised. The purpose of this study was to express and purify recombinant gpTNF α and then to determine its activity *in vitro* using guinea-pig cells and in the guinea-pig airways *in vivo*. Furthermore, in order to investigate whether TNF α is expressed in antigen challenged sensitised guinea-pigs DIG-labelled DNA probes were developed and anti TNF α antibodies used. In addition, the effect on antigen-induced airway leukocyte accumulation and the generation of chemokine-like bioactivity following the administration of anti-inflammatory cytokines was examined. Agents which inhibit the actions of TNF α could be potential therapies in preventing allergic respiratory disorders.

8.2 Expression and purification of $gpTNF\alpha$

The cDNA sequence predicted gpTNF α to be a 234 amino acid propeptide which, in order to correspond with the NH₂ terminus of the sequence reported by Tamatani *et al.* (Tamatani *et al.* 1989), probably forms a 154 amino acid mature protein. gpTNF α exhibited high amino acid sequence homology with published mammalian TNF α sequences. The NH₂ terminus of secreted TNF α has been predicted to result from the cleavage of the propeptide at one of two sites separated by 2 amino acid residues. In the majority of mammalian sequences there is a highly conserved area of the propeptide, shown in table 8.1 as a shaded area, in the region of the putative TNF α cleavage site. Studies of human TNF α (Pennica *et al.* 1984; Wang *et al.* 1985; Aggarwal *et al.* 1985) have identified the cleavage site to be between propeptide amino acids 76 alanine (A) and 77 valine (V), referred to as cleavage site *a* in the text and table 8.1. However, Shirai *et al.* (Shirai *et al.* 1985) predicted the cleavage site to be between amino acids 78 arginine (R) and 79 serine (S), referred to as cleavage site b in the text and in table 8.1, in accordance to the sequence of TNF α derived from rabbit serum (Ito et al. 1986). In this study I have assumed gpTNF α is cleaved at the R-S bond, as is the case for rat (Shirai et al. 1989) and rabbit TNFa (Ito et al. 1986), and indicated by the sequence data of Tamatani et al. (Tamatani et al. 1989). This R-S bond appears to be conserved in all mammalian sequences. Furthermore, as the amino acids at the predicted cleavage site a (A-V) are less conserved between species than the R-S bond at cleavage site b, this may be of relevance when designing inhibitors of TNF α secretion and their subsequent use in animal models. However, the removal of four amino acids (VRSS) from the NH₂ terminus has little effect on the biological activity of human TNFa (Kirchesis et al. 1992; Gase et al. 1990). Gearing et al. (Gearing et al. 1994) and McGeehan et al. (McGeehan et al. 1994) have implicated a role for metalloproteinases in the processing of the propeptide and also that specific metalloproteinases inhibitors reduce in vitro TNFa secretion and circulating TNFa levels in rats and mice following LPS administration. A human metalloproteinase, TNF α converting enzyme (TACE), which acts at the A-V bond, has recently been cloned (Black et al. 1997; Moss et al. 1997).

<u>Table 8.1</u>: Alignment of a region of the TNF α propeptide amino acid sequences of various mammalian species to show the highly conserved area surrounding the putative secreted TNF α cleavage site. Cleavage is predicted to occur at one of two sites either cleavage site *a*, between the first two amino acids in the shaded area, or cleavage site *b*, between the third and fourth amino acid residues in the shaded area.

amino	acid sequ	sence for cleavage region of propeptide	reference
and a second	a, b		
SPLAQ	AVRSSS	RTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLNRRANALLANGV	Sanjanwala,M.
			Genebank P33620
SPLVQ	TLRSSS	QASSNKPVAHVVADINSPGQLRWWDSYANALMANGV	(Cludts et al.
1994			1993)
NPLAQ	TLRSSS	RTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSGRANALLANGV	(Su et al. 1991)
NPLPQ	TLRSSS	RTPSDKPVAHVVANPEAEGQLQRLSRRANALLANGV	(McGraw et al.
			1990)
LAQTL	TLRSAS	QNDNDKPVAHVVANQQAEEELQWLSKRANALLANGM	this report
SPLAQ	AVRSSS	RTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLNRRANALLANGV	(Pennica et al.
			1984)
MAQTL	TLRSSS	QNSSDKPVAHVVANHQVEEQLEWLSQRANALLANGM	(Pennica et al.
			1985)
RPLVQ	TLRSSS	QASNNKPVAHVVANISAPGQLRWGDSYANALMANGV	(Nash et al.
			1991)
NPLAQ	GLRSSS	QT SDKPVAHVVANVKAEGQLQWQSGYANALLANGV	(Drews et al.
100			1990)
VAQMV	TLRSAS	RALSDKPLAHVVANPQVEGQLQWLSQRANALLANGM	(Ito et al.
		and the second states of the second	1986)
MAQTL	TLRSSS	QNSSDKPVAHVVANHQAEEQLEWLSQRANALLANGM	(Shirai et al.
	1		1989)
	amino SPLAQ SPLVQ NPLAQ NPLAQ LAQTL SPLAQ MAQTL NPLAQ VAQMV MAQTL	aminoacid sequencea, bSPLAQAVRSSSSPLVQTLRSSSNPLAQTLRSSSNPLPQTLRSSSLAQTLAVRSSSSPLAQAVRSSSRAQTLTLRSSSNPLAQTLRSSSNPLAQTLRSSSNPLAQTLRSSSNPLAQTLRSSSNPLAQTLRSSSNAQTLTLRSSS	aminoacid sequence for cleavage region of propeptidea, bSPLAQAVRSSSRTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLNRRANALLANGVSPLVQTLRSSSQASSNKPVAHVVADINSPGQLRWWDSYANALMANGVNPLAQTLRSSSRTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSGRANALLANGVNPLPQTLRSSSRTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSGRANALLANGVLAQTLTLRSASQNDNDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLNRRANALLANGMSPLAQAVRSSSRTPSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLNRRANALLANGMSPLAQAVRSSSQNSSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLNRRANALLANGMMAQTLTLRSSSQASSNNKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLGWLNRRANALLANGMNPLAQGLRSSSQASSNNKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSQRANALLANGMNPLAQTLRSASQASSNNKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWQSGYANALLANGMNPLAQTLRSASQASSNKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSQRANALLANGMNAQTLTLRSASQNSSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSQRANALLANGMMAQTLTLRSASQNSSDKPVAHVVANPQAEGQLQWLSQRANALLANGM

The amplified gpTNF α cDNA was inserted into an expression system that resulted in the production of a MBP-gpTNF α fusion protein. The expressed fusion protein was shown to exhibit both cytolytic activity and TNF α immunoreactivity. Interestingly, the ability of the fusion protein to induce cytotoxicity in a WEHI bioassay suggests that the MBP did not hinder trimer formation which is required for bioactivity (Smith & Baglioni 1987).

gpTNF α was cleaved from the fusion protein by factor Xa. Although thrombin also cleaves at R-S bonds this was not found to be efficient under the conditions used. Pilot purification experiments using reverse phase HLPC (Tamatani *et al.* 1989) and heparin columns (Lantz *et al.* 1991) were disappointing as no active product was recovered. The protein was subsequently purified using a series of hydroxyapatite, amylose and polymixin B bound agarose columns. Purification of gpTNF α resulted in the production of a single 17kDa protein which was recognised by goat and rabbit anti murine TNF α antibodies. In agreement with the findings of (Tamatani *et al.* 1989) the specific activity of gpTNF α was found to be greater than that of human TNF α . Both human and gpTNF α bioactivity could be neutralised by co-incubating with anti murine TNF α antibodies.

8.3 The <u>in vivo</u> bioactivity of TNF α

Inflammation induced by TNF α has been previously studied in the guinea-pig with conflicting results. *In vivo* studies by Kings *et al.* (Kings *et al.* 1990) showed that intraperitoneal administration of recombinant murine TNF α induced lung eosinophilia, whilst Collins *et al.* (Collins *et al.* 1993) were unable to induce skin eosinophilia following intradermal administration of human TNF α . Endogenous TNF α could induce eosinophil accumulation in the guinea-pig skin as the response to intradermal LPS was reduced by administration of a soluble TNF α receptor : Ig construct (sTNF α R-Fc) (Weg *et al.* 1995). Further, in isolated perfused guinea-pigs lungs, human TNF α increased the sequestration of activated human neutrophils via the upregulation of pulmonary vascular endothelial cell ICAM-1 expression (Lo, K. *et al.* 1992). Previous reports of intratracheal administration of TNF α have utilised *in vivo* rat models, where again the data have been variable. Ulich *et al.* (Ulich *et al.* 1991)

indicated that human TNF α induced a slight but reproducible lung neutrophilia which began 6 hours following instillation, peaked at 12-24 hours and subsided by 48 hours following intratracheal instillation in rats, whilst significant BAL neutrophil accumulation occurred 90 minutes following aerosol exposure human TNF α (Kips *et al.* 1992). However, Wesselius *et al.* (Wesselius *et al.* 1995) and Debs *et al.* (Debs *et al.* 1988) did not observe intra-alveolar neutrophil accumulation following intratracheal or lung-specific aerosol delivery of human TNF α respectively. These differences may reflect poor species cross-reactivity as none of the studies used TNF α from the host species.

The intratracheal instillation of gpTNF α induced a pronounced and protracted eosinophilia which was dose dependent. During the initial experiments gpTNF α appeared to selectively recruit eosinophils to the airways, however in later experiments there was also an increase in macrophage/monocyte numbers which had previously been masked by high macrophage/monocyte numbers in the control groups. The pre-incubation of rabbit anti murine TNF α sera with gpTNF α prior to instillation reduced the eosinophil accumulation, indicating this was a TNF α -driven effect. The possibility that the effect was due to LPS induced TNF α production was ruled out since both heat treatment and pre-incubation of gpTNF α with antibody abrogated the eosinophilia, in addition the gpTNF α was passed over a solid phase polymyxin B column prior to instillation. Time course studies indicated that the maximum eosinophilia was observed 24 hours following gpTNF α instillation, but significant eosinophilia was maintained at 72 hours.

The administration of human TNF α by various aerosol routes was unable to induce guinea-pig BAL leukocyte accumulation in this study, a finding also reported in a rat model (Debs *et al.* 1988). However, the administration of human TNF α by intratracheal instillation to the guinea-pig did induce an inflammatory cell recruitment which was weaker and exhibited different cellular characteristics than the

gpTNF α -induced response. Unlike gpTNF α , human TNF α did not induce eosinophil accumulation but did promote significant neutrophil infiltration and a slight increase in macrophage/monocyte numbers 24 hours after the administration of the highest dose used. The difference in leukocyte sub-type accumulation might be due to both differences in the distribution of the two TNFa receptors and their affinity for the proteins. However, only a limited number of experiments were performed using human TNFa, and further studies using anti receptor antibodies may help to clarify this. In the murine system the two TNFa receptors bind TNFa from different species with varying affinities. Whereas the murine p55 receptor binds with similar affinity to both murine and human TNF α , the murine p75 receptor shows strong selectivity for murine TNFa (Lewis et al. 1991; Smith et al. 1986). Species selectivity resulting in reduced in vivo bioactivity of human TNFa, compared with gpTNFa, was also demonstrated in vitro. In vitro studies indicated that gpTNFa but not human TNFa induced the production of chemokine-like bioactivity from guinea-pig cells. The stimulation of guinea-pig spleen cells, peritoneal macrophages and the guinea-pig cell line, JH-4 with either human TNFa, or a combination of human TNFa plus human IL-1 and human IFNy was unable to induce chemokine production following 24 hours incubation. However, the incubation of JH-4 cells with either macrophage derived TNF α or recombinant TNF α induced the production of eotaxin-like bioactivity (the supernatants increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in eosinophils) and IL-8 production, respectively. TNF α induced eotaxin and IL-8 expression have previously been reported in various human cell types (Westwick et al. 1991, Garcia-Zepeda et al. 1996). Similarly, human TNFa was reported to be unable to induce guinea-pig eosinophil chemotaxis or prime the eosinophils with respect to PAF or LTB₄ induced responses (Coëffier et al. 1991). These results further support in vivo studies where human TNF α did not induce skin eosinophil accumulation in the guinea-pig (Collins et al. 1993), suggesting species selectivity.

8.4 Is TNF α involved in allergic airway inflammation?

In order to address this question an OA sensitised guinea-pig model of airway inflammation was utilised. The sensitisation protocols used were based on those described by Andersson (Andersson 1981) and Sanjar *et al.* (Sanjar *et al.* 1990). Several variations of the methods, which included the use of cyclophosphamide and *Bordetella pertussis* vaccine, were tried in order to establish a model which demonstrated consistent bronchial hyperreactivity and lung eosinophilia. Due to the toxic nature of cyclophosphamide and the difficulty in obtaining *Bordetella pertussis* vaccine, the sensitisation method was changed to incorporate *Bordetella bronchiseptica* vaccine (P. McCabe, Glaxo-Wellcome, personal communication) and this methodology was used in all sensitisation data shown. In order to avoid fatal anaphylactic shock during antigen provocation all animals were routinely administered an anti-histamine, mepyramine, prior to challenging.

The model exhibited airway hyperreactivity, with peak responsiveness 6 and 24 hours following antigen challenge. Both an early and late phase airway hyperreactivity have previously been demonstrated in the OA sensitised guinea-pig however the time of onset of the early response is variable, reported to occur immediately (Ishida et al. 1989) or up to 4 hours after antigen challenge (Hutson et al. 1988; Boichot et al. 1991). The differences in onset times are in part due to variations in sensitisation methods and the time of administration of an H_1 -receptor antagonist. In addition to the biphasic increase in bronchial hyperreactivity, airway leukocyte infiltration was also observed in two phases, an early infiltration of neutrophils peaking by 12 hours was followed by a delayed and protracted eosinophil infiltration, which peaked at 24 hours and the plateau was maintained at 48 hours. Unlike lung inflammation, airway hyperreactivity was not consistently observed following antigen challenge of sensitised animals. This is in agreement with the concept that cellular influx may be important but is not sufficient to induce airway hyperresponsiveness (Folkerts et al. 1988; Chapman et al. 1993). In support of this theory the instillation of gpTNF α alone did not induce airway hyperresponsiveness although these animals did

exhibit a pronounced airway eosinophilia. However, the administration of an anti TNF α antibody is reported to reduce LPS induced hyperreactivity in a rat model (Kips *et al.* 1992).

Increased TNF α levels in the airways of sensitised guinea-pigs have previously been demonstrated at 1-2 hours (Kelly et al. 1993) and 24 hours (Watson et al. 1993) after antigen challenge. Although no significant antigen-induced increases in $TNF\alpha$ expression were demonstrated in this report, the trends shown suggest that TNFa protein levels in whole lung tissue and BAL leukocytes were increased following antigen challenge. Pilot experiments indicated the presence of TNFa mRNA in lung tissue following antigen challenge. Unfortunately, repeating these experiments proved problematic due to RNA degradation during the extraction of message from the tissue. This may be due to high RNase activity of the infiltrating eosinophils. However, increased TNFa mRNA in murine lung tissue has been reported by others 1, 8, and 24 hours following antigen challenge (Lukacs et al. 1995b). Elevated TNF α levels in the BAL were variable, this may possibly have been due to the multitude of mediators collected in the BAL influencing the growth of the WEHI cells. These mediators may therefore have masked the cytolytic activity of $TNF\alpha$ present in the BAL. Additionally it is possible that these mediators were not released in the airways of naive animals and hence the apparent decrease in BAL TNF α levels following antigen challenge of sensitised animals compared to antigen challenged naive animals. In an attempt to resolve this problem a murine TNF α ELISA was tested using purified gpTNF α . The ELISA did not detect gpTNF α and the adaptation of the ELISA to measure the protein was hindered by the lack of specific monoclonal antibodies for gpTNF α .

Since the start of this project the involvement of TNF α in various models of inflammation has been demonstrated using anti TNF α antibodies or soluble receptors. The data presented show that the administration of an anti TNF α antibody prior to antigen challenge reduced both eosinophil and neutrophil airway inflammation 24
hours after challenge. These results are in accordance with those of Lukacs *et al.* (Lukacs *et al.* 1995b) where the administration of sTNF α R-Fc in a murine model of allergic airway inflammation reduced both the early neutrophil and later eosinophil airway infiltration. Additionally, to assess the potential use of sTNF α R-Fc as a therapeutic agent it was administered to the mice 24 hours after antigen challenge and this inhibited subsequent eosinophil influx. In contrast to inhibiting eosinophilia, in a rat model of sephadex-induced lung injury the administration of sTNF α R-Fc reduced BAL neutrophilia but slightly increased eosinophil infiltration (Gater *et al.* 1996).

The complexity of the role of TNF α has been demonstrated in studies indicating that both cytokines and chemokines which are themselves induced by TNF α may also regulate TNF α expression. Our lab has reported that the *in vivo* administration of IL-1ra reduced BAL TNF α levels and eosinophil infiltration in a guinea-pig model of antigen-induced airway inflammation (Watson *et al.* 1993). Furthermore, studies relating to the regulation of chemokine expression report that in a murine model of endotoxemia inhibition of TNF α reduced MIP-1 α expression by 60% (Standiford *et al.* 1995), whilst administration of an anti MIP-1 α antibody decreased BAL TNF α levels in two neutrophil-dependent models of lung inflammation (Shanley *et al.* 1995).

The development of human TNF α mutants which bind selectively to one of the two receptors (Loetscher *et al.* 1993) has promoted further investigation into the mechanisms by which TNF α induces an inflammatory response. The subcutaneous administration of a p55 agonist in the baboon resulted in neutrophil accumulation which was not seen with p75 agonist (Welborn III *et al.* 1996). Here a p75 agonist was unable to elicit an inflammatory response but the authors did not establish if p55 alone is sufficient to mediate a full inflammatory response as the p55 agonist has been shown to induce endogenous TNF α release (Van Zee *et al.* 1994) which can activate both p55 and p75.

8.5 Mechanisms by which $TNF\alpha$ induces airway inflammation.

The recruitment of leukocytes in response to TNF α is likely to result from a series of orchestrated events which includes increased adhesion molecule and chemokine expression. *In vitro* TNF α is a very weak inducer of eosinophil chemotaxis (Bittleman *et al.* 1996). gpTNF α does not induce eosinophil migration in chemotaxis chambers with artificial filters or induce changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in fura-2 loaded guinea-pig peritoneal eosinophils (White *et al.* 1997). However, TNF α induces the expression of VCAM-1 on endothelial cells which would facilitate the recruitment of eosinophilic and mononuclear leukocytes. Further VCAM-1 expression might favour a protracted response as VCAM-1 mRNA persists for 72 hours following *in vitro* TNF α stimulation of endothelial cells (Osborn *et al.* 1989). In addition, the *in vitro* preincubation of ¹¹¹In-labeled guinea-pig eosinophils with anti VLA-4 antibodies reduces eosinophil accumulation in guinea-pig skin following LPS administration (Weg *et al.* 1993).

The migration of eosinophils from the microvasculature to the lung tissue is reported to be primarily via VLA-4/VCAM-1 interactions and to a lesser extent LFA-1, Mac-1 / ICAM-1, ICAM-2 interactions (Nakajima *et al.* 1994). Several studies have demonstrated that the inhibition of VLA-4 reduces antigen-induced BAL eosinophil accumulation and bronchial hyperreactivity (Pretolani *et al.* 1994; Milne *et al.* 1995; Abraham *et al.* 1994). In contrast, a previous study reported that the inhibition of ICAM-1 reduced antigen-induced eosinophil accumulation in the BAL of monkeys (Wegner *et al.* 1990). In addition, the administration of an anti CD18 antibody, the β 2 integrin sub-unit of ICAM-1 ligands LFA-1 and Mac-1, also inhibited BAL eosinophil accumulation. However, the anti CD18 antibody did not reduce the accumulation of eosinophils in the lung tissue (Milne *et al.* 1994), indicating that the subsequent migration into the airway lumen might involve LFA-1 or Mac-1 interactions with ICAM-1 and ICAM-2. This theory is supported by the distribution of the adhesion molecules as, unlike ICAM-1 which is expressed on the endothelium and epithelium, VCAM-1 is not expressed on airway epithelial cells (Bloeman *et al.* 1993).

The identification of chemokines has helped to advance our understanding of the mechanisms underlying the accumulation of a predominant leukocyte sub-type in a disease condition. TNF α is a potent inducer of chemokine expression in vitro from both resident tissue cells e.g. fibroblasts and epithelial cells, and leukocytes (Lukacs et al. 1995a; Westwick et al. 1991; Cromwell et al. 1992). TNFa induced eosinophil migration involves, at least in part, the upregulation of chemokine expression (Watson et al. 1988). To date, one of the most potent chemokines with respect to eosinophil chemotaxis is eotaxin (Jose et al. 1994b), a C-C chemokine recently cloned from allergen-challenged guinea-pig lungs (Jose et al. 1994a). TNFa induces eotaxin expression in endothelial and epithelial cells (Garcia-Zepeda et al. 1996), and it is possibly a very important mediator of TNFa-induced eosinophil accumulation. In addition, the C-C chemokines RANTES, MCP-2, -3,-4 and the recently discovered peptide eotaxin-2 (Rot et al. 1992, Noso et al. 1994; White J. et al. 1997) are capable of stimulating human eosinophils. RANTES, although found to activate guinea-pig macrophages not guinea-pig eosinophils (Campbell et al. 1996), is increased in BAL from asthmatic subjects (Teran et al. 1996). A further C-C chemokine which activates eosinophils and regulates eosinophil accumulation is MIP-1 α (Rot et al. 1992). In a model of antigen-induced airway inflammation, MIP-1a mRNA and protein expression was increased after challenge with mononuclear cells, eosinophils and airway epithelial cells expressing the protein. The inhibition of MIP-1 α reduced lung and airway eosinophil infiltration by 50% (Lukacs et al. 1997). In addition to the direct actions of MIP-1 α on eosinophil recruitment, MIP-1 α can potentiate the inflammatory response by modulating macrophage function, increasing $TNF\alpha$ and IL-1 production (Fahey et al. 1992), and inducing mast cell degranulation (Alam et al. 1994) and the release of preformed mediators including TNF α (Gordon et al. 1990).

The incomplete inhibition of antigen-induced lung eosinophil accumulation following the blockade of MIP-1 α alone suggests that eosinophil recruitment is unlikely to be as a result of the expression of a sole chemokine. Eosinophils have the capacity to synthesis and release certain cytokines and chemokines including TNFa, eotaxin, IL-8 and MIP-1α (Costa et al. 1993; Finotto et al. 1994; Garcia-Zepeda et al. 1996; Yousefi et al. 1995; Kita et al. 1995). IL-8 is a potent neutrophil activator (Baggiolini et al. 1989) which induces lung eosinophilia following aerosol (Smith et al. 1991) or intraperitoneal administration (Burrows et al. 1990; Burrows et al. 1991a) and induces eosinophil accumulation in guinea-pig skin (Collins et al. 1993). The preincubation of eosinophils with priming agents influences the biological response, for example the weak IL-8 chemotactic response is enhanced by pre-incubation with IL-3 GMCSF and IL-5 (Burrows et al. 1991b; Schweizer et al. 1994). Furthermore, eosinophils from antigen-challenged allergic individuals display enhanced transendothelial migration, compared with non-allergic individuals, and the potentiated response is similar to that seen following the priming of eosinophils from non-allergic individuals (Ebisawa et al. 1994).

8.6 Effect of IL-13 on antigen and gpTNF α -induced airway inflammation

IL-13, originally described as a cytokine derived principally from Th2 lymphocytes, exhibits some anti-inflammatory properties (Minty *et al.* 1993). IL-13 is also expressed by activated B lymphocytes, basophils and mast cells (Krishnaswamy *et al.* 1993; Li *et al.* 1996; Burd *et al.* 1995). IL-13 inhibits the expression of mRNA for certain cytokines in LPS-stimulated monocytes, including IL-1, TNF α , IL-8 and MIP-1 α (Minty *et al.* 1993; De Waal Malefyt *et al.* 1993; Cosentino *et al.* 1995), whilst it increases IL-1ra expression (Vannier *et al.* 1996). The inhibition of TNF α and IL-1, and increased production of IL-1ra by IL-13 have also been demonstrated using stimulated alveolar macrophages (Yanagawa *et al.* 1995). As IL-13 alters

mRNA levels it acts at a pre-translational level. In the case of IL-1ra, IL-13 enhances IL-1ra mRNA steady-state levels by increasing transcriptional activation of the gene, but does not affect mRNA stability, conversely, IL-13 reduces IL-1 gene transcription and mRNA stability (Vannier *et al.* 1996). Many, but not all, of the biological activities of IL-13 are similar to IL-4, the exceptions include T lymphocytes stimulation by IL-4 but not IL-13 (Zurawski *et al.* 1994).

IL-13, like IL-4, also exhibits pro-inflammatory activities such as isotype switching in B lymphocytes increasing IgE and IgG4 production (Punnonen *et al.* 1993). Furthermore, IL-13 inhibits the production of IL-12 and IFN γ by LPS stimulated monocytes (de Waal Malefyt *et al.* 1993). Inhibition of IL-12 could affect the regulation of Th1 and Th2 development, since both IL-12 and IFN γ have been shown to direct the generation of Th1 lymphocytes (Manetti *et al.* 1993). Hence, this suggests that IL-13 would favour Th2 responses with the production of IL-4 and IL-5, which are both upregulated in asthma. In addition, IL-13 upregulates the expression of MHC class II antigens which may result in more efficient antigen-presentation. As summarised in figure 8.1 the net effect of IL-13 in an *in vivo* situation is dependent on a balance between the anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory activities.

The data presented in this thesis report a novel in vivo action of IL-13 which was not shown with IL-4. IL-13 inhibited gpTNFa-induced BAL eosinophil and macrophage/monocyte infiltration when co-instilled with gpTNF α . The inhibition of antigen-induced BAL eosinophil infiltration, following the instillation of IL-13 prior to antigen challenge, was pronounced although the numbers were not reduced to those of control animals. As IL-13 produced a dose-dependent reduction maximum inhibition may not have been achieved even with the highest dose of IL-13 used. Interestingly, a low dose of IL-13 (1ng per animal) reduced antigen-induced eosinophil influx by >50%, suggesting IL-13 was an effective inhibitor of eosinophil accumulation. IL-13 did not significantly inhibit antigen-induced macrophage/monocyte BAL influx.

 Pro-inflammatory activities
 Anti-inflammatory activities

 ↑ B cell proliferation
 Anti-inflammatory activities

 ↑ IgE and IgG4 production
 Inhibits IL-1, TNFα, IL-8,

 ↑ VCAM-1 expression
 MCP-1 and RANTES

 ↑ WHC class II and antigen presentation
 production

 ↑ MHC class II and antigen presentation
 Inhibits nitric oxide

 Favours Th2 production
 ↑ IL-1ra synthesis

Figure 8.1: IL-13, good or bad? IL-13 exhibits both anti-inflammatory and pro-inflammatory activites *in vitro*, *in vivo* the net effect of IL-13 is dependent on the balance between these properties.

To address whether IL-13 prevented the migration of eosinophils from the lung tissue into the airway lumen whole lung EPO measurements were performed as an indication of the relative eosinophil numbers. Lung tissue of animals co-instilled with IL-13 and gpTNF α contained lower EPO levels than animals instilled with gpTNF α alone. This indicates that the eosinophils were not retained in the lung tissue and

prevented from migrating to the lumen which might be expected if IL-13 was increasing VCAM-1 expression (Bochner *et al.* 1995).

In addition to inhibition of BAL eosinophil accumulation, IL-13 also reduced the chemokine-like bioactivity in the BAL. The antigen-induced calcium mobilisation activity in the BAL was leukocyte specific, activating only eosinophils. The C-C chemokine RANTES is a major mediator of human eosinophil activation including chemotaxis and transient changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Kameyoshi *et al.* 1992; Rot *et al.* 1992; Bourne et al. 1995). However, neither guinea-pig nor human RANTES induce calcium mobilisation in guinea-pig peritoneal eosinophils, but both activate guinea-pig peritoneal macrophages (Campbell et al. 1996 and own observations). This chemokine-like activity is possibly due to eotaxin. Eotaxin induces calcium mobilisation and aggregation of eosinophils in vitro, and the administration of aerosol eotaxin in vivo induces the selective accumulation of BAL eosinophils (Griffiths-Johnson et al. 1993). The peak expression of eotaxin mRNA in lung tissue and bioactivity in BAL occurs 3-6 hours following antigen-challenge and returns to basal levels by 24 hours (Rothenberg et al. 1995; Jose et al. 1994b). The time course described is similar to the profile of eosinophil specific chemokine activity demonstrated in this thesis. Moreover the reduction in chemokine-like activity induced by IL-13 further suggests the involvement of chemokines such as IL-8 and MIP-1 α , the synthesis of which may be inhibited by IL-13. To date, the effect of IL-13 on antigen- or TNFa-induced eotaxin expression have not been published. However as previously discussed others have demonstrated a significant increase in lung TNFa expression, and this report indicates enhanced TNF α levels, during antigen-induced airway inflammation, it is feasible that in the allergic model IL-13 inhibits both $TNF\alpha$ and chemokine expression. Furthermore, the enhancement of IL-1ra by IL-13 is an additional pathway by which IL-13 may reduce antigen-induced eosinophil accumulation. In vivo studies have demonstrated that the administration of IL-1ra prior to antigen challenge reduces BAL eosinophil accumulation, bronchial hyperreactivity and BAL TNFa levels 24 hours after challenge (Watson et al. 1993).

Although IL-4 shares many biological activities with IL-13, including inhibiting the synthesis of certain cytokines and chemokines, it did not affect gpTNFa induced BAL eosinophil infiltration when co-instilled with gpTNFa. The instillation of IL-4 alone to naive animals did increase BAL macrophage/monocyte accumulation, which was not observed when IL-13 was administered to naive animals. The differences in the IL-13 and IL-4 responses may be due to variation in the expression and affinity of the IL-13 and IL-4 receptors for the ligands. In this study both cytokines were recombinant human proteins and as previously noted with $TNF\alpha$ species selectivity may favour the binding of either IL-13 or IL-4. At present the receptors have yet to be fully characterised. It is believed that there are multiple receptors and certain sub-unit(s) are shared by both IL-13 and IL-4 receptors (Callard et al. 1996). One of the IL-4 receptors is independent of the IL-2 receptor γ sub-unit and this subunit is not the shared IL-13/IL-4 receptor component (He et al. 1995). Furthermore, the expression of the human eosinophil chemoattractant RANTES by endothelial cells was inhibited by both IL-13 and IL-4 (Marfaing-Koka et al. 1995), but only IL-4 reduced RANTES expression in human airway epithelial cells (Berkman et al. 1996), indicating that the effects of IL-13 and IL-4 may be cell type dependent. In addition, our group has recently shown that IL-13 is a potent inhibitor of MCP-1 and RANTES but not IL-8 in colonic epithelial cells, further indicating cell type dependant effects of IL-13 (Kolios et al. 1997)

It is clear that in order to understand the mechanism by which IL-13 inhibits antigen-induced eosinophil accumulation further research is required. Recent findings by members of the group have demonstrated that IL-13 can modulate not only chemokine expression but also reduce inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and nitric oxide production (Jordan *et al.* 1996; Kolios *et al.* 1996b; Kolios *et al.* 1996a). Exhaled nitric oxide levels are increased in asthmatic patients, suggesting that nitric oxide may have a pro-inflammatory role in asthma (Kharitonov *et al.* 1994). In addition, epithelial cells in the asthmatic, but not normal, lung express iNOS (Hamid *et al.* 1993). The effects of nitric oxide on airway function have been reviewed by Barnes (Barnes, 1995), and include increased airway blood flow and plasma exudation. Nitric oxide has an inhibitory action on Th1 but not Th2 lymphocytes (Taylor-Robinson *et al.* 1994), which would favour Th2 proliferation.

To my knowledge this is the first report of IL-13 inhibiting airway inflammation and these results are contrary to the reported involvement of IL-4. Inhibition of IL-4 in a murine model of antigen-induced airway inflammation reduced BAL eosinophil accumulation (Lukacs *et al.* 1994) and IL-4 transgenic mice exhibited eosinophilia (Tepper *et al.* 1993). However IL-10, which exhibits anti-inflammatory properties similar to that of IL-13 (Fiorentino *et al.* 1991), reduces antigen-induced eosinophil infiltration and IL-5 generation in the peritoneal cavity of mice (Zuany-Amorim *et al.* 1996).

8.7 Cytokine networking in allergic lung inflammation

TNF α is released at an early stage of the allergic response following antigen activation of mast cells (Plaut *et al.* 1989). The potential central role for TNF α in allergic lung inflammation is summarised in figure 8.2. The upregulation of adhesion molecules is a crucial step in leukocyte accumulation. TNF α is a potent non-selective inducer of adhesion molecule expression increasing E-selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 (Kyan-Aung *et al.* 1991), whereas IL-4 and IL-13 selectively increase VCAM-1 expression on endothelial cells. Concomitantly, TNF α induces the production of chemokines from surrounding cells including endothelial, epithelial, smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts. Elevated levels of eosinophil chemoattractants including eotaxin, MIP-1 α , IL-16, RANTES and IL-8 have been demonstrated in BAL from animal models or antigen-challenged asthmatics (Jose *et al.* 1994b; Lukacs *et al.* 1997; Teran *et al.* 1996; Cruikshank *et al.* 1997). As described in the introduction, chemokines are thought to aid transendothelial migration by the formation of hapatotactic and chemotactic gradients. In addition to the induction of chemotaxis RANTES and MIP-1 α promote isotype switching increasing B lymphocyte production of IgE and IgG4 (Kimata *et al.* 1996). However, unlike the IL-4 and IL-13 response, RANTES and MIP-1 α induced isotype switching is not enhanced by TNF α (Aversa *et al.* 1993; Kimata *et al.* 1996).

Following the initial eosinophil accumulation the process could be selfperpetuating as eosinophils themselves are known producers of and have receptors for TNF α (Costa *et al.* 1993; Roubin *et al.* 1987), IL-4 (Nonaka *et al.* 1995; Baskar *et al.* 1990), IL-5 (Yamaguchi *et al.* 1988; Broide *et al.* 1992), eotaxin (Garcia-Zepeda *et al.* 1996), MIP-1 α (Costa *et al.* 1993; Rot *et al.* 1992) and IL-8 (Yousefi *et al.* 1995; Kita *et al.* 1995; Erger *et al.* 1995). The inflammatory response may be resolved by antiinflammatory cytokines such as IL-13, IL-10 and by the production of receptor antagonists (e.g. IL-1ra, soluble TNF receptors). Figure 8.2: (please see next page)

Figure 8.2: (on the facing page) The potential cytokine network involved in allergic airway inflammation. Antigen activation of mast cells induces degranulation and cytokine release including IL-4, IL-13 and TNFα. TNFα activation of resident and infiltrating cells in the lung induces the synthesis and release of eosinophil chemoattractants especially eotaxin, IL-8, RANTES and MIP-1α. TNFα also upregulates the expression of adhesion molecules on the endothelium and epithelial cells. IL-4 and IL-13 selectively increase VCAM-1 expression. Eosinophils migration from the microvasculature (A) into the lung tissue is directed by adhesion molecule and chemokine expression. The release of IL-5 from T lymphocytes promotes eosinophilia and the survival and activation of eosinophils. Activated eosinophils degranulate to release toxic mediators such as major basic protein (mbp) and super oxide anions (O_2^-), which contribute to epithelial destruction (B). Although IL-13 inhibits the production of TNFα and chemokines from macrophages, smooth muscle, endothelial and epithelial cells (anti-iflammatory activities) it also promotes isotype switching in B cells increasing IgE production (pro-inflammatory activity).





8.8 Implication as possible therapeutic agents

The present treatments for asthma, most importantly β_2 agonists and glucocorticosteroids, are highly effective at alleviating the visible symptoms of the disease and thus improving the patients quality of life, but they do not cure asthma. Furthermore, the frequent and long term use of many anti-asthmatic drugs increases the side-effects associated with the therapies, e.g. frequent use of the β_2 agonist fenoterol was linked to increased mortality (Crane et al. 1989). Effective new therapies are required which relieve not only the bronchospasm but also the inflammatory reaction occurring within the lung. By inhibiting the eosinophil influx into the lung permanent architectural damage to the tissue should be prevented. From this report it is clear that $TNF\alpha$ is an important mediator of eosinophil accumulation and that specific inhibitors of TNF α would potentially be of the rapeutic benefit. IL-13 also demonstrated anti-inflammatory activity suppressing antigen-induced eosinophil infiltration. Interestingly, as IL-13 inhibited TNF\alpha-induced eosinophil accumulation this suggests that IL-13 may be a useful pharmacological tool in modulating cytokinedriven inflammatory reactions. Further investigation is required into the mechanisms of action of IL-13.

8.9 Final conclusions

In this thesis I report the expression, purification and *in vivo* bioactivity of gpTNF α . Mature gp TNF α was expressed as a 154 amino acid, 17kDa, protein which was approximately 80% homologous with other mammalian TNF α sequences. The *in vivo* data presented in this thesis indicate the importance of TNF α in the generation of lung eosinophilia in the guinea-pig. Following intratracheal instillation of gpTNF α there was a pronounced and protracted eosinophilia. This response was inhibited by pre-incubating gpTNF α with anti TNF α antibody and by heat inactivating the protein prior to instillation. The instillation of human TNF α induced only a weak leukocyte accumulation with different cellular characteristics than the gpTNF α -induced response

further indicating the potential danger of evaluating the activities of proteins when not using the host species. In a guinea-pig model of allergic lung inflammation, which demonstrated antigen-induced lung eosinophil infiltration and bronchial hyperreactivity, enhanced TNF α levels were detected after antigen challenge. The role of TNF α in generating allergic airway eosinophilia was reinforced by the administration of an anti TNF α antibody which reduced BAL eosinophil numbers.

A novel finding presented in this report is the inhibitory action of IL-13. IL-13 inhibited both gpTNF α - and antigen-induced airway eosinophilia. Although the mechanisms by which IL-13 induced this effect require further characterisation, IL-13 inhibited migration of eosinophils from the microvasculature into the lung tissue and thus the effect was not simply as a possible consequence of an increase in the expression of adhesion molecules retaining the eosinophils in the lung tissue. Furthermore, IL-13 reduced the chemokine bioactivity present in the BAL of antigen challenged animals.

In conclusion, this report demonstrates that TNF α is an important mediator of airway eosinophil accumulation *in vivo*. Furthermore, agents which inhibit the actions or production of TNF α may be potential therapies in the treatment of diseases which are characterised by airway eosinophilia. In addition, the ability of IL-13 to prevent antigen and gpTNF α -induced eosinophil accumulation suggests that IL-13 represents an important therapeutic lead in the development of agents to modulate allergic airway inflammation.

9. References

ABRAHAM W.M., SIELCZAK M.W., AHMED A., CORTES A., LAUREDO I.T., KIM J., PEPINSKY B., BENJAMIN C.D., LEONE D.R., LOBB R.R. & WELLER P.F. (1994) α_4 -Integrins mediate antigen-induced late bronchial responses and prolonged airway hyperresponsiveness in sheep. J. Clin. Invest. 93, 776-787.

ADERKA D., LE J. & VILCEK J. (1989) IL-6 inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor production in cultured human monocytes, U937 cells, and in mice. *J. Immunol.* **143**, 3517-3523.

ADERKA D., ENGELMANN H., MAER Y., BRAKEBUSCH C. & WALLACH D. (1992) Stabilization of the bioactivity of tumor necrosis factor by its soluble receptors. *J. Exp. Med.* **175**, 323-329.

AGGARWAL B.B., EESSALU T.E. & HASS P.E. (1985a) Characterization of receptors for human tumour necrosis factor and their regulation by gamma-interferon. *Nature* **318**, 665-667.

AGGARWAL B.B., KOHR W.J., HASS P.E., MOFFAT B., SPENCER S.A., HENZEL W.J., BRINGMAN T.S., NEDWIN G.E., GOEDDEL D.V. & HARKINS R.N. (1985b) Human tumor necrosis factor. Production, purification and characterization. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 2345-2354.

AGGARWAL B.B. & NATARAJAN K. (1996) Tumor necrosis factors: Developments during the last decade. *Eur. Cytokine Netw.* **7**, 93-124.

ALAM R., KUMAR D., ANDERSON-WALTERS D. & FORSYTHE P.A. (1994) Macrophage inflammatory protein- 1α and monocyte chemoattractant peptide-1 elicit immediate and late cutaneous reactions and activate murine mast cells in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **152**, 1298-1303. ALBELDA S.M. & BUCK C.A. (1990) Integrins and other cell adhesion molecules. *FASEB J.* **4**, 2868-2880.

ANDERSON D.C., SCHMALSTEIG F.C., FINEGOLD M.J., HUGHES B.J., ROTHLEIN R., MILLER L.J., KOHL S., TOSI M.F., JACOBS R.L., WALDROP T.C., GOLDMAN A.S., SHEARER W.T. & SPRINGER T.A. (1985) The severe and moderate phenotypes of heritable Mac-1, LFA-1 deficiency: their quantiative definition and relation to leukocyte dysfunction and clinical features. *J. Infect. Dis.* **152**, 668-689.

ANDERSON G.P. & COYLE A.J. (1994) T_H^2 and T_H^2 -like' cells in allergy and asthma: Pharmacological perspectives. *TIPS* **15**, 324-332.

ANDERSSON P. (1980a) Antigen-induced bronchial anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea-pigs: Anti-anaphylactic effects of sodium cromoglycate and aminophylline. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **69**, 467-472.

ANDERSSON P. (1980b) Antigen-induced bronchial anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea-pigs. *Allergy* **35**, 65-71.

ANDERSSON P. (1981) Antigen-induced bronchial anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea pigs. The effect of booster injection and cyclophosphamide treatment. *Int.* Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol. 64, 249-258.

ANDERSSON P. (1982) Effects of inhibitors of anaphylactic mediators in two models of bronchial anaphylaxis in anaesthetized guinea-pigs. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **77**, 301-307.

ANDERSSON P. & BERGSTRAND H. (1981) Antigen-induced bronchial anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea-pigs: Effect of long-term treatment with sodium cromoglycate and aminophylline. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **74**, 601-609.

ANDERSSON P. & BRATTSAND R. (1982) Protective effects of the glucocorticoids, budesonide, on lung anaphylaxis in actively sensitized guinea-pigs: Inhibition of IgE- but not IgG- mediated anaphylaxis. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **76**, 139-147.

AVERILL F.J., HUBBARD W.C. & LIU M.C. (1991) Detection of platelet activating factor (PAF) and lyso-PAF in bronchoalveolar lavage fluids of allergic subjects following antigen challenge. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 143, A811

AVERSA G., PUNNONEN J. & DE VRIES J.E. (1993) The 26-kD transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor α on activated CD4+ T cell clones provides a costimulatory signal for human B cell activation. J. Exp. Med. 177, 1575-1585.

BAGGIOLINI M., WALZ A. & KUNKEL S.L. (1989) Neutrophil-activating peptide-1/interleukin 8, a novel cytokine that activates neutrophils. *J. Clin. Invest.* 84, 1045-1049.

BANNER D.W., D'ARCY A., JANES W., GENTZ R., SCHOENFELD H.-J., BROGER C., LOETSCHER H. & LESSLAUER W. (1993) Crystal structure of the soluble human 55kd TNF receptor-humanTNF β complex: implications for TNF receptor activation. *Cell* **73**, 431-445.

BARNES P.J., RODGER I.W. & THOMSON N.C. (1988) Pathogenesis of asthma. In *Asthma: basic mechanisms and clinical management*. P.J. Barnes, I. Rodger and N. Thomson, London: Academic Press Limited. pp. 415-442.

BARNES P.J. (1995) Niric oxide and airway disease. Ann. Med. 27, 389-393.

BASKAR P., SILBERSTEIN D.S. & PINCUS S.H. (1990) Inhibition of IgG-triggered human eosinophil function by IL-4. J. Immunol. 144, 2321-2326.

BATE C.A.W., TAVERNE J. & PLAYFAIR J.H.L. (1988) Malarial parasites induce TNF production by macrophages. *Immunology* **64**, 227-231.

Baud L., Oudinet J.P., Bens M., Noe L., Peraldi M.N., Rondeau E., ETIENNE J. & ARDAILLOU R. (1989) Production of tumor necrosis factor by rat mesangial cells in response to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. *Kidney International* **35**, 1111-1118.

BAZAN J.F., BACON K.B., HARDIMAN G., WANG W., SEE K., ROSSI D., GREAVES D.R., ZLOTNIK A. & SCHALL T.J. (1997) A new class of membranebound chemokine with a CX3C motif. *Nature* **385**, 640-644.

BEMELMANS M.H.A., GOUMA D.J. & BUURMAN W.A. (1993a) Influence of nephrectomy on tumor necrosis factor clearance in a murine model. *J. Immunol.* **150**, 2007-2017.

BEMELMANS M.H.A., GOUMA D.J. & BUURMAN W.A. (1993b) LPS-induced sTNF-receptor release in vivo in a murine model. Investigation of the role of tumor necrosis factor, IL-1, Leukemia inhibiting factor, and IFN-γ. J. Immunol. 151, 5554-5562.

BERKMAN N., ROBICHAUD A., KRISHNAN V.L., ROESEMS G., ROBBINS R., JOSE P.J., BARNES P.J. & CHUNG K.F. (1996) Expression of RANTES in human airway epithelial cells: Effect of corticosteroids and interleukin-4, -10 and -13. *Immunology* **87**, 599-603.

BERTINI R., BIANCHI M. & GHEZZI P. (1988) Adrenalectomy sensitizes mice to the lethal effects of interleukin 1 and tumour necrosis factor. J. Exp. Med. 167, 1708

BERTOLINI D.R., NEDWIN G.E., BRINGMAN T.S., SMITH D.D. & MUNDY G.R. (1986) Stimulation of bone resorption and inhibition of bone formation *in vitro* by human tumour necrosis factors. *Nature* **319**, 516-518.

BEUTLER B., GREENWALD D., HULMES J.D., CHENG M., PAU Y.C.E., MATHISON J., ULEVITCH R. & CERAMI A. (1985a) Identity of tumor necrosis factor and the macrophage-secreted factor cachectin. *Nature* **316**, 552-554.

BEUTLER B., MILSARK I.W. & CERAMI A.C. (1985b) Passive immunisation against cachectin/tumour necrosis factor protects mice from lethal effect of endotoxin. *Science* **229**, 869-871.

BEUTLER B., KROCHIN N., MILSARK I.W., LUEDKE C. & CERAMI A. (1986a) Control of cachectin (tumor necrosis factor) synthesis: Mechanisms of endotoxin resistance. *Science* 232, 977-980.

BEUTLER B., KROCHIN N., MILSARK W., GOLDBERG A. & CERAMI A. (1986b) Induction of cachectin (tumor necrosis factor) synthesis by influenza virus: Deficient production by endotoxin-resistance (C3H/HeJ) macrophages. *Clin. Res.* 34, 419a

BEUTLER B. & VAN HUFFEL C. (1994) Unraveling function in the TNF ligand and receptor families. *Science* **264**, 667-668.

BEUTLER B.A., MILSARK I.W. & CERAMI A. (1985) Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor: production, distribution, and metabolic fate in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **135**, 3972-3977.

BEVILACQUA M.P., POBER J.S., WHEELER M.E., COTRAN R.S. & GIMBRONE M.A. (1985) Interleukin 1 acts on cultured human vascular endothelium

to increase the adhesion of polymorphonuclear leucocytes, monocytes, and related cell lines. *J. Clin. Invest.* **76**, 2003-2011.

BITTLEMAN D.B., ERGER R.A. & CASALE T.B. (1996) Cytokines induce selective granulocyte chemotactic responses. *Inflamm. Res.* 45, 89-95.

BLACK R.A., RAUCH C.T., KOZLOSKY C.J., PESCHON J.J., SLACK J.L., WOLFSON M.F., CASTNER B.J., STOCKING K.L., REDDY P., SRINIVASAN S., NELSON N., BOIANA N., SCHOOLEY K.A., GERHART M., DAVIS R., FITZNER J.N., JOHNSON R.S., PAXTON R.J., MARCH C.J. & CERRETTI D.P. (1997) A mettalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour-necrosis factor- α from cells. *Nature* 385, 729-733.

BLOEMAN P.G.M., VAN DEN TWEEL M.C., HENDRICKS P.A.J., ENGELS F., WAGENAAR S.S., RUTTEN A.A.J.J.L. & NIJKAMP F.P. (1993) Expression and modulation of adhesion molecules on human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **9**, 586

BOCHNER B.S., KLUNK D.A., STERBINSKY S.A., COFFMANN R.L. & SCHLEIMER R.P. (1995) IL-13 selectively induces vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 expression in human endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 799

BOICHOT E., LAGENTE V., CARRE C., WALTMANN P., MENCIA-HUERTA J.M. & BRAQUET P. (1991) Bronchial hyperresponsiveness and cellular infiltration in the lung of guinea-pigs sensitized and challenged by aerosol. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* **21**, 67-76.

BORISH L., MASCALI J.J., DISHUCK J., BEAM W.R., MARTIN R.J. & ROSENWASSER L.J. (1992) Detection of alveolar macrophage-derived IL-1 β in asthma. Inhibition with corticosteroids. *J. Immunol.* **149**, 3078-3082.

BOURNE A.D., WATSON M.L. & WESTWICK J. (1995) Activation of human eosinophils by C-C chemokines and IL-5: a role for phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **114**, 67P(Abstract)

BOUSQUET J.B., CHANEZ P., LACOSTE J.Y., BARNEON G., GHAVANIAN N., ENANDER I., VENGE P., AHLSTEDT S., SIMONY-LAFONTAINE J., GODARD P. & MICHEL F.B. (1990) Eosinophilic inflammation in asthma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **323**, 1033-1039.

BRETT J., GERLACH H., NAWROTH P., STEINBERG S., GODMAN G. & STERN D. (1989) Tumour necrosis factor/cachectin increases permeability of endothelial cell monolayers by a mechanism involving regulatory G proteins. *J. Exp. Med.* **169**, 1977-1991.

BRITTAIN R.T., BOUTAL L., CARTER M.C., COLEMAN R.A., COLLINGTON E.W., GEISOW H.P., HALLETT P., HORNBY E.J., HUMPHREY P.P.A., JACK D., KENNEDY I., LUMLEY P., MCCABE P.J., SKIDMORE I.F., PHIL D., THOMAS M. & WALLIS C.J. (1985) AH23848: a thromboxane receptor-blocking drug that can clarify the pathophysiologic role of thromboxane A₂. *Circulation* **72**, 1208-1218.

BROIDE D.H., PAINE M.M. & FIRESTEIN G.S. (1992) Eosinophils express interleukin 5 and granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor mRNA at sites of allergic inflammation in asthmatics. *J. Clin. Invest.* **90**, 1414-1424.

BROIDE D.H. & FIRESTEIN G.S. (1991) Endobronchial allergen challenge in asthma. Demonstration of cellular source of granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor by in situ hybridization. *J. Clin. Invest.* **88**, 1048-1053.

BROWN Z., GERRITSEN M.E., CARLEY W.W., STRIETER R.M., KUNKEL S.L. & WESTWICK J. (1994) Chemokine gene expression and secretion by cytokineactivated human microvascular endothelial cells: Differential regulation of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and interleukin-8 in response to interferon-gamma. *Am. J. Pathol.* 145, 913-921.

BROWNING J.L., NGAMEK A., LAWTON P., DEMARINIS J., TIZARD R., CHOW E.P., HESSION C., O'BRINE-GRECO B., FOLEY S.F. & WARE C.F. (1993) Lymphotoxin β a novel member of the TNF family that forms a heteromeric complex with lymphotoxin on the cell surface. *Cell* **72**, 847-856.

BURD P.R., THOMPSON W.C., MAX E.E. & MILLS F.C. (1995) Activated mast cells produce interleukin 13. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1373-1380.

BURRIDGE K., FATH K., KELLY T., NUCKOLLS G. & TURNER C. (1988) Focal adhesions: Transmembrane junctions between the extracellular matrix and the cytoskeleton. *Annu. Rev. Cell Biol.* **4**, 487-525.

BURROWS L.J., PIPER P.J., LINDLEY I.J.D. & WESTWICK J. (1990) Intraperitoneal injection of neutrophil-activating factor/interleukin 8 (hrNAF/IL8) results in a lymphocyte and eosinophil infiltrate in the guinea-pig lung. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 183, 653-654.

BURROWS L.J., PIPER P.J., LINDLEY I.J.D. & WESTWICK J. (1991a) Intraperitoneal injection of human recombinant neutrophil activating factor/interleukin 8 (hrNAF/IL-8) produces a T-cell infiltrate in the guinea-pig lung. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* **629**, 422-424.

BURROWS L.J., WESTWICK J., LINDLEY I.J.D. & PIPER P.J. (1991b) Effect of human recombinant interleukin 3 and granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating

factor on chemotactic responses of guinea-pig eosinophils in vitro. Fund. Clin. Pharmacol. 5, 405

CALLARD R.E., MATTHEWS D.J. & HIBBERT L. (1996) IL-4 and IL-13 receptors: are they one and the same? *Immunol. Today* 17, 108-110.

CAMPBELL E.M., WATSON M.L., PROUDFOOT A.E.I., WELLS T.N.C., YOSHIMURA T. & WESTWICK J. (1996) Guinea-pig RANTES activates human but not guinea-pig eosinophils. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **119**, 50P

CAMPBELL H.D., SANDERSON C.J., WANG Y., HORT Y., MARTINSON M.E., TUCKER W.Q.J., STELLWAGEN A., STRATH M. & YOUNG I.G. (1988) Isolation, structure and expression of cDNA and genomic clones for murine eosinophil differentiation factor. Comparison with other eosinophilopoietic lymphokines and identity with interleukin-5. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **174**, 345-352.

CAMUSSI G., BUSSOLINO F., SALVIDO G. & BAGLIONI C. (1987) Tumor necrosis factor/cachcetin stimulates peritoneal macrophages, polymorphonuclear neutrophils and vascular endothelium to synthesise and release platetlet-activating factor. J. Exp. Med. 166, 1390-1404.

CAPUT D., BEUTLER B., HARTEZ K., THAYER R., BRANSHIMER S. & CERAMI A. (1986) Identification of a common nucleotide sequence in the 3' untranslated region of mRNA molecules specifying inflammatory mediators. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83,

CARSWELL E., OLD L.J., KASSEL R.L., GREEN S., FIORE N. & WILLIAMSON
B. (1975) An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumours. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72, 3666-3670. CARVETH H.J., BOHNSACK J.F., MCINTYRE T.M., BAGGIOLINI M., PRESCOTT S.M. & ZIMMERMAN G.A. (1989) Neutrophil activating factor (NAF) induces polymorphonuclear leukocyte adherence to endothelial cells and to subendothelial matrix proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **162**, 387-393.

CASALE T.B., WOOD D., RICHERSON H.B., TRAPPS S., METZGER W.J., ZAVALA D. & HUNNINGHAKE G.W. (1987) Elevated bronchoalveolar lavage fluid histamine levels in allergic asthmatics are associated with methacholine bronchial hyperresponsiveness. J. Clin. Invest. **79**, 1197-1203.

CEMBRZYNSKA-NOWAK M., SZKLARZ E., INGLOT A.D. & TEODORCZYK-INJEYAN J.A. (1993) Elevated release of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferongamma by bronchoalveolar leukocytes from patients with bronchial asthma. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 147, 291-295.

CHAND N., HARRISON J.E., ROONEY S., PILLAR J., JAKUBICKI R., NOLAN K., DIAMANTIS W. & SOFIA R.D. (1992) Anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibody inhibits allergic late phase bronchial eosinophilia in guinea pigs: A therapeutic approach. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **211**, 121-123.

CHANTRY D., TURNER M., ABNEY E. & FELDMANN M. (1989) Modulation of cytokine production by transforming growth factor-β. *J. Immunol.* **142**, 4295

CHAPMAN I.D., FOSTER A. & MORLEY J. (1993) The relationship between inflammation and hyperreactivity of the airways in asthma. *Clin. Exp. Allergy* 23, 168-171.

CHUNG I.Y., KWON J. & BENVENISTE E.N. (1992) Role of protein kinase C activity in tumor necrosis factor- α gene expression: Involvement at the transcriptional level. *J. Immunol.* **149**, 3894-3902.

CHUNG K.F., BECKER A.B., LAZARUS S.C., FRICK O.L., NADEL J.A. & GOLD W.M. (1985) Antigen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness and pulmonary inflammation in allergic dogs. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **58(4)**, 1347-1353.

CLUDTS I., CLEUTER Y., KETTMANN R., BURNY A. & DROOGMANS L. (1993) Cloning and characterisation of the tandemly arranged bovine lymphotoxin and tumour necrosis factor alpha gene. *Cytokine* **5**, 336-341.

COEFFIER E., JOSEPH D. & VARGAFTIG B.B. (1991) Activation of guinea pig eosinophils by human recombinant IL-5: Selective priming to platelet-activating factor-acether and interference of its antagonists. *J. Immunol.* **147**, 2595-2602.

COLEY W.B. (1893) The treatment of malignant tumors by repeated inoculations of erysipelas; with a report of ten original cases. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* **105**, 487-511.

COLEY W.B. (1906) Late results of the treatment of inoperable sarcoma by the mixed toxins of erysipelas and Bacillus prodigiosus. *Am. J. Med. Sci.* 131, 375-430.

COLLART M.A., BERLIN D., VASSALLI J.D., DEKOSSODO S. & VASSALLI P. (1986) Gamma interferon enhances macrophage transcription of the tumour necrosis factor/cachectin, interleukin 1, and urokinase genes, which are controlled by short-lived repressors. J. Exp. Med. 164, 2113-2118.

COLLART M.A., BAEUERLE P. & VASSALLI P. (1990) Regulation of tumour necrosis factor-α transcription in macrophages: Involvement of 4 kappa-B-like motifs and of constitutive and inducible forms of NF-kappa-B. *Molecular And Cellular Biology* **10**, 1498-1506.

COLLINS P.D., WEG V.B., FACCIOLI L.H., WATSON M.L., MOQBEL R. & WILLIAMS T.J. (1993) Eosinophil accumulation induced by human interleukin 8 in the guinea-pig in vivo. *Immunology* **79**, 312-318.

COLLINS P.D., MARLEAU S., GRIFFITHS-JOHNSON D.A., JOSE P.J. & WILLIAMS T.J. (1995) Cooperation between interleukin-5 and the chemokine eotaxin to induce eosinophil accumulation in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 1169-1174.

COLLINS T., LAPIERRE L.A., FIERS W., STROMINGER J.L. & POBER J.S. (1986) Recombinant human tumor necrosis factor increases mRNA levels and surface expression of HLA-A,B antigens in vascular endothelial cells and dermal fibroblasts *in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **83**, 446-450.

CORDINGLEY F.T., HOFFBRAND A.V., HESLOP H.E., TURNER M., BIANCHI A., REITTIE J.E., VYAKARNAM A., MEAGER A. & BRENNER M.K. (1988) Tumor necrosis factor as an autocrine tumour growth factor for chronic B-cell maligancies. *Lancet* 1, 969-971.

CORRIGAN C.J. & KAY A.B. (1992) T cells and eosinophils in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Immunol. Today* **13**, 501-507.

COSENTINO G., SOPRANA E., THIENES C.P., SICCARDI A.G., VIALE G. & VERCELLI D. (1995) IL-13 down-regulates CD14 expression and TNF- α secretion in normal human monocytes. *J. Immunol.* **155**, 3145-3151.

COSTA J.J., MATOSSIAN K., RESNICK M.B., BEIL W.J., WONG D.T.W., GORDON J.R., DVORAK A.M., WELLER P.F. & GALLI S.J. (1993) Human eosinophils can express the cytokines tumor necrosis factor- α and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α . J. Clin. Invest. 91, 2673-2684. COTRAN R.S., GIMBRONE M.A., BEVILACQUA M.P., MENDRICK D.L. & POBER J.S. (1986) Induction and detection of a human endothelial activation antigen *in vivo. J. Exp. Med.* 661

CRANE J., PEARCE N., FLAT A., BURGESS C., JACKSON R., KWONG T., BALL M. & BEASLEY R. (1989) Prescribed fenoterol and death from asthma in New Zealand 1981-83, case-control study. *Lancet* i, 917-922.

CROMWELL O., HAMID Q., CORRIGAN C.J., BARKANS J., MENG Q., COLLINS P.D. & KAY A.B. (1992) Expression and generation of interleukin-8, IL-6 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor by bronchial epithelial cells and enhancement by IL-1 β and tumour necrosis factor- α . *Immunology* **77**, 330-337.

CROWE P.D., VAN ARSDALE T.L., WALTER B.N., WARE C.F., HESSION C., EHRENFELS B., BROWNING J.L., DIN W.S., GOODWIN R.G. & SMITH C.A. (1994) A lymphotoxin- β specific receptor. *Science* **264**, 707-710.

CROWE P.D., WALTER B.N., MOHLER K.M., OTTEN-EVANS C., BLACK R.A. & WARE C.F. (1995) A metalloprotease inhibitor blocks shedding of the 80-kD TNF receptor and TNF processing in T lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **181**, 1205-1210.

CRUIKSHANK W.W., LONG A., TARPY R.E., KORNFELD H., CARROLL M.P., TERAN L., HOLGATE S.T. & CENTER D.M. (1997) Early identification of interleukin-16 (lymphocyte chemoattractant factor) and macrophage inflammatory protein 1 α (MIP-1 α) in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of antigen-challenged asthmatics. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **13**, 738-747.

CURRIE G.A. & BASHAM C. (1975) Activated macrophages release a factor which lyses malignant cells but not normal cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **142**, 1600-1605.

CUTURI M.C., MURPHY M., COSTA-GIOMI M.P., WEINMANN R., PERUSSIA B. & TRINCHIERI, G. (1987) Independent regulation of tumor necrosis factor and lymphotoxin production by human peripheral blood lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **165**, 1581-1594.

DE WAAL MALEFYT R., FIGDOR C.G., HUIJBENS R., MOHAN-PETERSON S., BENNETT B., CULPEPPER J., DANG W., ZURAWSKI G. & DE VRIES J.E. (1993) Effects of IL-13 on phenotype, cytokine production, and cytotoxic function of human monocytes: Comparison with IL-4 and modulation by IFN-gamma or IL-10. *J. Immunol.* **151**, 6370-6381.

DEBS R.J., FUCHS H.J., PHILIP R., MONTGOMERY A.B., BRUNETTE E.N., LIGGITT D., PATTON J. & SHELLITO J.E. (1988) Lung-specific delivery of cytokines induces sustained pulmonary and systemic immunomodulation in rats. *J. Immunol.* 140, 3482-3488.

DETMERS P.A., LO S.K., OLSEN-EGBERT E., WALZ A., BAGGIOLINI M. & COHN Z.A. (1990) Neutrophil-activating protein-1 interleukin-8 stimulates the binding-activity of the leukocyte adhesion receptor CD11B CD18 on human neutrophils. *J. Exp. Med.* **171**, 1155-1162.

DINARELLO C.A., CANNON J.G., WOLFF S.M., BERNHEIM H.A., BEUTLER B., CERAMI A., FIGARI I.S., PALLADINO M.A. & O'CONNOR J.V. (1986) Recombinant tumor necrosis factor (cachectin) is an endogenous pyrogen and induces production of interleukin 1. *J. Exp. Med.* **163**, 1433-1450.

DOHERTY G.M., JENSEN J.C., ALEXANDER H.R., BURESH C.M. & NORTON J.A. (1991) Pentoxifylline suppression of tumor necrosis factor gene transcription. *Surgery* **110**, 192

DRAPIER J.-C. & WIETZERBIN J. (1991) IFN-gamma reduces specific binding of tumor necrosis factor on murine macrophages. J. Immunol. 146, 1198

DRAZEN J.M. (1988) Comparative contractile responses to sulfidopeptide leukotrienes in normal and asthmatic human subjects. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **524**, 289-297.

DREWS R.T., COFFEE B.W., PRESTWOOD A.K. & MCGRAW R.A. (1990) Gene sequence of porcine tumour necrosis factor alpha. *Nucleic Acids Research* **18**, 5564

DUBOIS C., BISSONNETTE E. & ROLA-PLESZCZYNSKI M. (1989) Plateletactivating factor (PAF) enhances tumor necrosis factor production by alveolar macrophages. Prevention by PAF receptor antagonists and lipoxygenase inhibitors. *J. Immunol.* **143**, 964-970.

DUBRAVEC D.B., SPRIGGS D.R., MANNICK J.A. & RODRICK M.L. (1990) Circulating human peripheral blood granulocytes synthesize and secrete tumor necrosis factor α. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87, 6758-6761.

DUNN C.J., ELLIOT G.A., OOSTVEEN J.A. & RICHARDS I.M. (1987) Development of a prolonged eosinophil-rich inflammatory leukocyte infiltration in the guinea-pig asthmatic response to ovalbumin inhalation. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* **136**, 541-547.

DUNNILL M.S. (1960) The pathology of asthma, with special reference to changes in the bronchial mucosa. J. Clin. Pathol. 13, 27-33.

DUSTIN M.L., ROTHLEIN R., BAHN A.K., DINARELLO C.A. & SPRINGER T.A. (1986) Induction by IL-1 and interferon-gamma: tissue distribution, biochemistry and function of a natural adherence molecule (ICAM-1). *J. Immunol.* **137**, 245-254.

EBISAWA M., LIU M.C., YAMADA T., KATO M., LICHTENSTEIN L.M., BOCHNER B.S. & SCHLEIMER R.P. (1994) Eosinophil transendothelial migration induced by cytokines: II. Potentiation of eosinophil transendothelial migration by eosinophil-active cytokines. J. Immunol. 152, 4590-4596.

ELICES M.J., OSBORN L., TAKADA Y., CROUSE C., LUHOWSKYJ S., HEMLER M.E. & LOBB R.R. (1990) VCAM-1 on activated endothelium interacts with the leukocyte integrin VLA-4 at a site distinct from the VLA-4/Fibronectin binding site. *Cell* **60**, 577-584.

ENGELMANN H., HOLTMANN H., BRAKEBUSCH C., SHEMER AVNI Y., SAROV I., NOPHAR Y., HADAS E., LEITNER O. & WALLACH D. (1990) Antibodies to a soluble form of a tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor have TNFlike activity. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 14497-14504.

ERGER R.A. & CASALE T.B. (1995) Interleukin-8 is a potent mediator of eosinophil chemotaxis through endothelium and epithelium. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 268, L117-L122.

ESPEVIK T., FIGARI I.S., SHALABY M.R., LACKIDES G.A., LEWIS G.D., SHEPARD H.M. & PALLADINO M.A.J. (1987) Inhibition of cytokine production by cyclosporin A and transforming growth factor β . *J. Exp. Med.* **166**, 571

ESPEVIK T. & NISSEN-MAYER J. (1986) A highly sensitive cell line, WEHI 164 clone 13, for measuring cytotoxic factor/tumor necrosis factor from human monocytes. *J. Immunol. Methods* **95**, 99-105.

FAHEY T.J., TRACEY K.J., TEKAMP-OLSON P., COUSENS L.S., JONES W.G., SHIRES G.T., CERAMI A. & SHERRY B. (1992) Macrophage inflammatory protein 1 modulates macrophage function. *J. Immunol.* **148**, 2764-2769.

FATTAH D., QUINT D.J., PROUDFOOT A., O'MALLEY R., ZANDER E.D. & CHAMPION B.R. (1990) In vitro and in vivo studies with purified recombinant human interleukin 5. *Cytokine* **2**, 112-121.

FINOTTO S., OHNO I., MARSHALL J.S., GAULDIE J., DENBURG J.A., DOLOVICH J., CLARK D.A. & JORDANA M. (1994) TNF-α production by eosinophils in upper airways inflammation (nasal polyposis). *J. Immunol.* **153**, 2278-2289.

FIORENTINO D.F., ZLOTNIK A., MOSMANN T.R., HOWARD M. & O'GARRA A. (1991) IL-10 inhibits cytokine production by activated macrophages. J. Immunol. **147**, 3815-3822.

FOLKERTS G., HENRICKS P.A.J. & NIJKAMP F.P. (1988) Inflammatory reactions in the respiratory airways of the guinea pig do not necessarily induce bronchial hyperreactivity. *Agents & Actions* 23, 1-2.

FORD-HUTCHINSON A.W., BRAY M.A., DOIG M.V., SHIPLEY M.E. & SMITH M.J.H. (1980) Leukotriene B, a potent chemokinetic and aggregating substance released from polymorphonuclear leukocytes. *Nature* **286**, 264-265.

FRIGAS E., LOEGERING D.A., SOLLEY G.O., FARROW G.M. & GLEICH G.J. (1981) Elevated levels of eosinophil granule major basic protein in the sputum of patients with bronchial asthma. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 56, 345-353.

FUKUDA T., DUNNETTE S.L., REED C.E., ACKERMAN S.J., PETERS M.S. & GLEICH G.J. (1985) Increased numbers of hypodense eosinophils in the blood of patients with bronchial asthma. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* **132**, 981-985.

GALLI S.J. (1993) New concepts about the mast cell. N. Engl. J. Med. 328, 257-265.

GARCIA-ZEPEDA E.A., ROTHENBERG M.E., OWNBEY R.T., CELESTIN J., LEDER P. & LUSTER A.D. (1996) Human eotaxin is a specific chemoattractant for eosinophil cells and provides a new mechanism to explain tissue eosinophilia. *Nature Med.* 2, 449-456.

GASE K., KOROBKO V.G., WISNIEWSKI H.G., LE J., DOBRYNIN V.N., FILIPPOV S.A., GUTSCHE W., MAKSIMOVA Y.N., SCHLOTT B., SHINGAROVA L.N., VILCEK J. & BEHNKE D. (1990) Critical role of the Cterminus in the biological activities of human tumour necrosis factor-alpha. *Immunology* **71**, 368

GATANAGA T., HWANG C., KOHR W., CAPPUCCINI F., LUCCI J.A., JEFFES E.W.B., LENTZ R., TOMICH J., YAMAMOTO R.S. & GRANGER G.A. (1990) Purification and characterisation of an inhibitor (soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor) for tumor necrosis factor and lymphotoxin obtained from the serum ultrafiltrates of human cancer patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87, 8781-8784.

GATER P.R., WASSERMAN M.A., PACIOREK P.M. & RENZETTI L.M. (1996) Inhibition of sephadex-induced lung injury in the rat by Ro 45-2081, a tumor necrosis factor fusion protein. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **14**, 454-460.

GAVETT S.H., CHEN X., FINKELMAN F. & WILLS-KARP M. (1994) Depletion of murine CD4+ T lymphocytes prevents antigen-induced airway hyperreactivity and pulmonary eosinophilia. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **10**, 587-593.

GAVETT S.H., O'HEARN D.J., LI X.M., HUANG S.K., FINKELMAN F.D. & WILLS-KARP M. (1995) Interleukin 12 inhibits antigen-induced airway hyperresponsiveness, inflammation, and Th2 cytokine expression in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 1527-1536.

GÂRTNER I. (1980) Separation of human eosinophils in density gradients of polyvinylpyrrolidone-coated silica gel(Percoll). *Immunology* **40**, 133-136.

GEARING A.J.H., BECKETT P., CHRISTODOULOU M., CHURCHILL M., CLEMENTS J., DAVIDSON A.H., DRUMMOND A.H., GALLOWAY W.A., GILBERT R., GORDON J.L., LEBER T.M., MANGAN M., MILLER K., NAYEE P., OWEN K., PATEL S., THOMAS W., WELLS G., WOOD L.M. & WOOLLEY K. (1994) Processing of tumour necrosis factor-α precursor by metalloproteinases. *Nature* **370**, 555-557.

GLEICH G.J., FLAVAHAN N.A., FUJIASAWA T. & VANHOUTTE P.M. (1988) The eosinophil as a mediator of damage to respiratory epithelium: A model for bronchial hyperreactivity. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **81**, 776-781.

GORDON J.R. & GALLI S.J. (1990) Mast cells as a source of both preformed and immunologically inducible TNFα/cachetin. *Nature* **346**, 274-276.

GOSSELIN J., MENEZES J., D'ADDARIO M., HISCOTT J., FLAMAND L. & LAMOUREUX G. (1991) Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-α transcription by Epstein-Barr virus. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **21**, 203

GOSSET P., TSICOPOULOS M., WALLAERT B., VANNIMENUS C., JOSEPH M., TONNEL A.-B. & CAPRON A. (1991) Increased secretion of tumor necrosis factor α and interleukin-6 by alveolar macrophages consecutive to the development of the late asthmatic reaction. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. **88**, 561-571.

GRAY P.W., AGGARWAL B.B., BENTON C.V., BRINGMAN T.S., HENZEL W.J., JARRETT J.A., LEUNG D.W., MOFFAT B., NG P., SVEDERSKY L.P., PALLADINO M.A. & NEDWIN G.E. (1984) Cloning and expression of cDNA for human lymphotoxin, a lymphokine with tumour necrosis activity. *Nature* **312**, 721-724.

GRAY P.W., BARRETT K., CHANTRY D., TURNER M. & FELDMANN M. (1990) Cloning of human tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor cDNA and expression of recombinant soluble TNF-binding protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87, 7380-7384.

GRAZIANO F., HALEY C., GUNDERSEN L. & ASKENASE P.W. (1981) IgE antibody production in guinea pigs treated with cyclophosphamide. *J. Immunol.* **127**, 1067-1070.

GRIFFITHS-JOHNSON D.A., COLLINS P.D., ROSSI A.G., JOSE P.J. & WILLIAMS T.J. (1993) The chemokine, eotaxin, activates guinea-pig eosinophils in vitro and causes their accumulation into the lung in vivo. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 197, 1167-1172.

GRYNKIEWICZ G., POENIE M. & TSIEN R.Y. (1985) A new generation of Ca^{2+} indicators with greatly improved fluorescence properties. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 3440-3450.

GUBLER U. & HOFFMAN B.J. (1983) A simple and very efficient method for generating cDNA libraries. *Gene* 25, 263-269.
GULBENKIAN A.R., EGAN R.W., FERNANDEZ X., JONES H., KREUTNER W., KUNG T., PAYVANDI F., SULLIVAN L., ZURCHER J.A. & WATNICK A.S. (1992) Interleukin-5 modulates eosinophil accumulation in allergic guinea-pig lung. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* **146**, 263-265.

HAJJAR K.A., HAJJAR D.P., SILBERSTEIN R.L. & NACHMAN R.L. (1987) Tumor necrosis factor-mediated release of platelet-derived growth factor from cultured endothelial cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **166**, 235-245.

HAMID Q., AZZAWI M., YING S., MOQBEL R., WARDLAW A.J., CORRIGAN C.J., BRADLEY B., DURHAM S.R., COLLINS J.V., JEFFERY P.K., QUINT D.J. & KAY A.B. (1991) Expression of mRNA for interleukin-5 in mucosal bronchial biopsies from asthma. *J. Clin. Invest.* 87, 1541-1546.

HAMID Q., SPRINGALL D.R., RIVEROS-MORENO V., CHANEZ P., HOWARTH P., REDINGTON A., BOUSQUET J., GODARD P., HOLGATE S.T. & POLAK J.M. (1993) Induction of nitric oxide synthase in asthma. *Lancet* **342**, 1510-1513.

HAN J., BROWN T. & BEUTLER B. (1990) Endotoxin-responsive sequences control cachectin tumour necrosis. Biosynthesis at the translational level. *J. Exp. Med.* **171**,

HART P.H., COOPER R.L. & FINLAY-JONES J.J. (1991) IL-4 suppresses IL-1 β , TNF- α and PGE2 production by human peritoneal macrophages. *Immunology* **72**, 344

HATTORI R., HAMILTON K.K., FUGATES R.D., MCEVER R.P. & SIMS P.J. (1989) Stimulated secretion of endothelial von Willebrand factor is accompanied by rapid redistribution to the cell surface of the intracellular granule membrane protein GMP-140. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 7768

HAVELL E.A. & ROGERSON B.J. (1993) Endotoxin-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha synthesis in murine embryo fibroblasts. *Infection and Immunity* **61**, 1630-1635.

HAVILL A.M., VAN VALEN R.G. & HANDLEY D.A. (1990) Prevention of nonspecific airway hyperreactivity after allergen challenge in guinea-pigs by the PAF receptor antagonist SDZ 64-412. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **99**, 396-400.

HE Y.-W. & MALEK T.R. (1995) The IL-2 receptor gamma_c chain does not function as a subunit shared by the IL-4 and IL-13 receptors: Implication for the structure of the IL-4 receptor. J. Immunol. 155, 9-12.

HELSON L. (1975) Tumour necrosis factor kills human melanoma cells. *Nature* **258**, 731-732.

HIGUCHI M. & AGGARWAL B.B. (1994) TNF induces internalization of the p60 receptor and shedding of the p80 receptor. J. Immunol. 152, 3550-3558.

HOLT P.G. (1993) Regulation of antigen-presenting cell function(s) in lung and airway tissue. *Eur. Respir. J.* 6, 120-129.

HOTAMISLIGIL G.S., SHARGILL N.S. & SPIEGELMAN B.M. (1993) Adipose expression of tumour necrosis factor- α direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* **259**, 87-91.

HUBER H.L. & KOESSLER K.K. (1922) Pathology of asthma. Arch. Intern. Med. 30, 689-760.

HUTSON P.A., CHURCH M.K., CLAY T.P., MILLER P. & HOLGATE S.T. (1988) Early and late-phase bronchoconstriction after allergen challenge of nonanesthetized guinea pigs. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* **137**, 548-557. HYNES R.O. (1987) Integrins: A family of cell surface receptors. Cell 48, 549-554.

IIJIMA H., ISHII M., YAMAUCHI K., CHAO C.L., KIMURA K., SHIMURA S., SHINDOH Y., INOUE H., MUE S. & TAKISHIMA T. (1987) Bronchoalveolar lavage and histologic characterization of late asthmatic response in guinea-pigs. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* **136**, 922-929.

ISHIDA K., KELLY L.J., THOMSON R.J., BEATTIE L.L. & SCHELLENBERG R.R. (1989) Repeated antigen challenge induces airway hyperresponsiveness with tissue eosinophilia in guinea pigs. *Am. Physiol. Soc.* 67, 1133-1139.

ITO H., YAMAMOTO S., KURODA S., SAKAMOTO H., KAJIHARA J., KIYOTA T., HAYASHI H., KATO M. & SEKO M. (1986) Molecular-cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of cDNA coding rabbit tumor necrosis factor. *DNA* **5**, 149-156.

JACOBSEN S.E.W., RUSCETTI F.W., DUBOIS C.M. & KELLER J.R. (1992) Tumour necrosis factor- α directly and indirectly regulates hematopoietic progenitor cell proliferation: role of colony-stimulating factor receptor modulation. *J. Exp. Med.* **175**, 1759

JEFFERY P.K. (1993) Ultrastructure and immunohistology of asthma. Eur. Respir. Rev. 3, 457-462.

JOHNSON A & THORPE R. (1987) Silver staining. In *Immunochemistry in practice*. London: Blackwell Scientific Publication. pp. 150-151.

JONES E.Y., STUART D.I. & WALKER N.P.C. (1989) Structure of tumour necrosis factor. *Nature* **338**, 225-228.

JORDAN N.J., WATSON M.L. & WESTWICK J. (1995) The protein phosphatase inhibitor calyculin A stimulates chemokine production by human synovial cells. *Biochem. J.* **311**, 89-95.

JORDAN N.J., WATSON M.L., WILLIAMS R.J., ROACH A.G., YOSHIMURA T. & WESTWICK J. (1996) Chemokine production by human vascular smooth muscle cells: modulation by IL-13. *Br. J. Pharmacol.*, **117**, 113P(Abstract)

JOSE P.J., ADCOCK I.M., GRIFFITHS-JOHNSON D.A., BERKMAN N., WELLS T.N.C., WILLIAMS T.J. & POWER C.A. (1994a) Eotaxin: Cloning of an eosinophil chemoattractant cytokine and increased mRNA expression in allergen-challenged guinea-pig lungs. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **205**, 788-794.

JOSE P.J., GRIFFITHS-JOHNSON D.A., COLLINS P.D., WALSH D.T., MOQBEL R., TOTTY N.F., TRUONG O., HSUAN J.J. & WILLIAMS T.J. (1994b) Eotaxin: A potent eosinophil chemoattractant cytokine detected in a guinea pig model of allergic airways inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* **179**, 881-887.

JUE D.-M., SHERRY B., LUEDKE C., MANOGUE K.R. & CERAMI A. (1990) Processing of newly synthesised cachectin / tumor necrosis factor in endotoxinstimulated macrophages. *Biochemistry* **29**, 8371-8377.

KALTHOFF H., ROEDER C., BROCKHAUS M., THIELE H. & SCHMIEGEL W. (1993) Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) up-regulates the expression of p75 but not p55 TNF receptors, and both receptors mediate, independently of each other, up-regulation of transforming growth factor α and epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 2762-2766.

KAMEYOSHI Y., DÖRSCHNER A., MALLET A.I., CHRISTOPHERS E. & SCHRÖDER J.-M. (1992) Cytokine RANTES released by thrombin-stimulated platelets is a potent attractant for human eosinophils. *J. Exp. Med.* **176**, 587-592.

KARCK U., PETERS T. & DECKER K. (1988) The release of tumor necrosis factor from endotoxin-stimulated rat Kupffer cells is regulated by prostaglandin E2 and dexamethasone. J. Hepatology, 7, 352-361.

KATO M., LIU M.C., STEALEY B.A., FRIEDMAN B., LICHTENSTEIN L.M., PERMUTT S. & SCHLEIMER R.P. (1992) Production of granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor in human airways during allergen-induced late-phase reactions in atopic subjects. *Lymphokine Cytokine Res.* **11**, 287-292.

KAWAKAMI M., PEKALA P.H., LANE M.D. & CERAMI A. (1982) Lipoprotein lipase suppression in 3T3-L1 cells by an endotoxin-induced mediator from exudate cells. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America* **79**, 912-916.

KAWAKAMI M., ISHIBASHI S., OGAWA H., MURASE T., TAKAKU F. & SHIBATA S. (1986) Cachectin/TNF as well as interleukin-1 induces prostacyclin synthesis in cultured vascular endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 141, 482-487.

KELLAWAYS C.H. & TRETHEWIE E.R. (1940) The liberation of a slow-reacting smooth muscle-stimulating substance in anaphylaxis. J. Exp. Physiol. 30, 121-145.

KELLY D.E., DENIS M. & BIGGS D.F. (1993) Release of tumour necrosis factor alpha into bronchial alveolar lavage fluid following antigen challenge in passively sensitized guinea-pigs. *Med. Inflamm.* **1**, 425-428.

KHARITONOV S.A., YATES D., ROBBINS R.A., LOGAN-SINCLAIR R., SHINEBOURNE E. & BARNES P.J. (1994) Increased nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. *Lancet* 343, 133-135.

KIMATA H., YOSHIDA A., ISHIOKA C., FUJIMOTO M., LINDLEY I. & FURUSHO K. (1996) RANTES and macrophage inflammatory protein 1α selectively enhance immunoglobulin (IgE) and IgG4 production by human B cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **183**, 2397-2402.

KINGS M.A., CHAPMAN I.D., KRISTERSSON A. & MORLEY J. (1990) Human recombinant lymphokines and cytokines induce pulmonary eosinophilia in the guinea pig which is inhibited by ketotifen and AH 21-132. *Int. Arch. Allergy Appl. Immunol.* **91**, 354-361.

KIPS J.C., TAVERNIER J. & PAUWELS R.A. (1992) Tumor necrosis factor causes bronchial hyperresponsiveness in rats. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 145, 332-336.

KIRCHESIS R., MILLECK J., KOROBKO V.G., SHINGAROVA L.N., BEHNKE D. & SCHMIDT H.E. (1992) Biological activity of mutants of human tumour necrosis factor-alpha. *Immunology* **76**, 433

KISHIMOTO T.K., JUTILA M.A., BERG E.L. & BUTCHER E.C. (1989) Neutrophil Mac-1 and MEL-14 adhesion proteins inversely regulated by chemotactic factors. *Science* 245, 1238-1241.

KITA H., ABU-GHAZALEH R.I., SUR S. & GLEICH G.J. (1995) Eosinophil major basic protein induces degranulation and IL-8 production by human eosinophils. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 4749-4758.

KLEBANOFF S.J., VADAS M.A., HARLAN J.M., SPARKS L.H., GAMBLE J.R., AGOSTI J.M. & WALTERSDORPH A.M. (1986) Stimulation of neutrophils by tumor necrosis factor. *J. Immunol.* **136**, 4220-4225.

KOLIOS G., ROBERTSON D.A.F., JORDAN N.J., MINTY A., CAPUT D., FERRARA P. & WESTWICK J. (1996a) Interleukin-8 production by the human colon epithelial cell line HT-29: Modulation by interleukin 13. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **119**, 351-359.

KOLIOS G., ROBERTSON D.A.F. & WESTWICK J. (1996b) Interleukin-13 regulates the nitric-oxide production in human colonic epithelial cells. Comparison with interleukin-4 and interleukin-10. *Gastroenterology* **110**, A940

KOLIOS G., JORDAN N.J., LEITHEAD J., ROBERTSON D.A.F. & WESTWICK J. (1997) C-X-C and C-C chemokine expression by epithelial cells:differential effect of TH2-derived cytokines. *Proceedings of the Keystone Symposia, Copper Mountain, Colorado.* The role of chemokines in leukocyte trafficking and disease.

KRIEGLER M., PEREZ C., DEFAY K., ALBERT I. & LU S.D. (1988) A novel form of TNF/cachectin is a cell surface cytotoxictransmembrane protein: ramification for the complex physiology of TNF. *Cell* **53**, 45-53.

KRISHNASWAMY G., LUI M.C., SU S., KUMAI M., XIAO H., MARSH D.G. & HUANG S. (1993) Analysis of cytokine transcripts in the bronchoalveolar lavage cells of patients with asthma. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **9**, 279-286.

KUNKEL S.L., REMICK D.G., STRIETER R.M. & LARRICK J.W. (1989) Mechanisms that regulate the production and effects of tumor necrosis factor- α . *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* **9**, 93-117. KYAN-AUNG U., HASKARD D.O., POSTON R.N., THORNHILL M.H. & LEE T.H. (1991) Endothelial leukocyte adhesion molecule-1 and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 mediate the adhesion of eosinophils to endothelial cells in vitro and are expressed by endothelium in allergic cutaneous inflammation in vivo. *J. Immunol.* **146**, 521-528.

LAEMMLI U.K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227, 680-685.

LAITINEN L.A., HEINO M., LAITINEN A., KAVA T. & HAAHTELA T. (1985) Damage of the airway epithelium and bronchial reactivity in patients with asthma. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 131, 599-606.

LAM S., CHAN H., LE RICHE J.C., CHAN-YEUNG M. & SALARI H. (1988) Release of leukotrienes in patients with bronchial asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 81, 711-717.

LANTZ M., GULLBERG U., NILSSON E. & OLSSON I. (1990a) Characterization in vitro of a human tumor necrosis factor-binding protein: a soluble form of a tumor necrosis factor receptor. J. Clin. Invest. 86, 1396-1402.

LANTZ M., MALIK S., STEVIN M.L. & OLSSON I. (1990b) Infusion of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) causes an increase in circulating TNF-binding proteins. *Cytokine* **2**, 1

LANTZ M., THYSELL H., NILSSON E. & OLSSON I. (1991) On the binding of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) to heparin and the release in vivo of the TNF-binding protein I by heparin. *J. Clin. Invest.* **88**, 2026-2031.

LASKY L.A. (1992) Selectins : interpreters of cell-specific carbohydrate information during inflammation. *Science* **258**, 964-969.

LE J., WEINSTEIN D., GUBLER U. & VILCEK J. (1984) Induction of membrane associated interleukin-1 by tumor necrosis factor in human fibroblasts. J. Immunol. 138, 2137

LEFONT J. & VARGAFTIG B.B.(1978) Role of platelets in aspirin-sensitive bronchoconstriction in the guinea-pig; interactions with salicyclic acid. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **63**, 35-42.

LEIST T.P., FREI K., KAM-HANSEN S., ZINKERNAGEL R.M. & FONTANA A. (1988) Tumor necrosis factor α in cerebrospinal fluid during bacterial, but not viral, meningitis: evaluation in murine models infections and in patients. *J. Exp. Med.* **167**, 1734-1748.

LENNARD A.C. (1995) Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Crit. Rev. Immunol. 15, 77-105.

LEVINE B., KALMAN J., MAYER L., FILLIT H.M. & PACKER M. (1990) Elevated circulating levels of tumor necrosis factor in severe chronic heart failure. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **323**, 236-241.

LEWIS M., TARTAGLIA L.A., LEE A., BENNETT G.L., RICE G.C., WONG G.H., CHEN E.Y. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1991) Cloning and expression of cDNAs for two distinct murine tumour necrosis factor receptors demonstrate one receptor is species specific. *Immunol.* **88**, 2830-2834.

LI H.M., SIM T.C. & ALAM R. (1996) IL-13 released by and localised in human basophils. J. Immunol. 156, 4833-4838.

LIU M.C., BLEECKER E.R., LICHTENSTEIN L.M., KAGEY-SOBOTKA A., NIV Y., MCLEMORE T.L., PERMUTT S., PROUD D. & HUBBARD W.C. (1990) Evidence for elevated levels of histamine, prostaglandin D2, and other bronchoconstricting prostaglandins in the airways of subjects with mild asthma. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 142, 126-132.

LO S., K., EVERITT J., GU J. & MALIK A.B. (1992) Tumor necrosis factor mediates experimental pulmonary edema by icam-1 and cd18-dependent mechanisms. *J. Clin. Invest.* **89**, 981-988.

LOETSCHER H., PAN Y.C.E., LAHM H.W., GENTZ R., BROCKHAUS M., TABUCHI H. & LESSLAUER W. (1990) Molecular cloning and expression of the human 55kd tumor necrosis factor receptor. *Cell* **61**, 351-359.

LOETSCHER H., STUEBER D., BANNER D., MACKAY F. & LESSLAUER W. (1993) Human tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α) mutants with exclusive specificity for the 55-kDa or 75-kDa receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 26350-26357.

LUKACS N.W., STRIETER R.M., CHENSUE S.W. & KUNKEL S.L. (1994) Interleukin-4-dependent pulmonary eosinophil infiltration in a murine model of asthma. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **10**, 526-532.

LUKACS N.W., KUNKEL S.L., ALLEN R., EVANOFF H.L., SHAKLEE C.L., SHERMAN J.S., BURDICK M.D. & STRIETER R.M. (1995a) Stimulus and cellspecific expression of C-X-C and C-C chemokines by pulmonary stromal cell populations. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* **268**, L856-L861.

LUKACS N.W., STRIETER R.M., CHENSUE S.W., WIDMER M. & KUNKEL S.L. (1995b) TNF- α mediates recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils during airway inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 5411-5417.

LUKACS N.W., STRIETER R.M., SHAKLEE C.L., CHENSUE S.W. & KUNKEL S.L. (1995c) Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha influences eosinophil recruitment in antigen-specific airway inflammation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **25**, 245-251.

MANETTI R., PARRONCHI P., GIUDIZI M.G., PICCINNI M.-P., MAGGI E., TRINCHIERI G. & ROMAGNANI S. (1993) Natural killer cell stimulatory factor (interleukin-12[IL-12]) induces T helper type 1 (Th1)-specific immune responses and inhibits the development of IL-4-producing Th cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **177**, 1199-1204.

MANTOVANI A., BUSSOLINO F. & DEJANA E. (1992) Cytokine regulation of endothelial cell function. *FASEB J.* 6, 2591-2599.

MANZINI S., PERRETTI F., ABELLI I., EVANGELISTA S., SEEDS E.A.M. & PAGE C.P. (1993) Isbutfylline, a new xanthine derivative, inhibits airway hyperresponsiveness and airway inflammation in guinea pigs. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **249**, 251-257.

MARFAING-KOKA A., DEVERGNE O., GORGONE G., PORTIER A., SCHALL T.J., GALANAUD P. & EMILIE D. (1995) Regulation of the production of the RANTES chemokine by endothelial cells: Synergistic induction by IFN-gamma plus TNF- α and inhibition by IL-4 and IL-13. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 1870-1878.

MARINI M., AVONI E., HOLLEMBORG J. & MATTOLI S. (1992) Cytokine mRNA profile and cell activation in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from nonatopic patients with symptomatic asthma. *Chest* **102**, 661-669.

MARSH W.R., IRVIN C.G., MURPHY K.R., BEHRENS B.L. & LARSEN G.L. (1985) Increases in airway reactivity to histamine and inflammatory cells in

bronchoalveolar lavage after the late asthmatic response in an animal model. Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 131, 875-879.

MATTOLI S., MATTOSO V.L., SOLOPERTO M., ALLEGRA L. & FASOLI A. (1991) Cellular and biochemical characteristics of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid in symptomatic nonallergic asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 87, 794-802.

MAURER D., FIEBIGER E., REININGER B., WOLFF-WINISKI B., JOUVIN M., KILGUS O., KINET J. & STINGL G. (1994) Expression of functional high affinity immunoglobulin E receptors ($Fc \in RI$) on monocytes of atopic individuals. J. Exp. Med. **179**, 745-750.

MAURY C.P.J. & TEPPO A.-M. (1987) Raised serum levels of cachectin/tumor necrosis factor α in renal allograft rejection. J. Exp. Med. 166, 1132-1137.

MAUSER P.J., PITMAN A., WITT A., FERNANDEZ X., ZURCHER J., KUNG T., JONES H., WATNICK A.S., EGAN R.W., KREUTNER W. & ADAMS G.K., III (1993) Inhibitory effect of the TRFK-5 anti-IL-5 antibody in a guinea pig model of asthma. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* **148**, 1623-1627.

MCGEEHAN G.M., BECHERER J.D., BAST R.C., BOYER C.M., CHAMPION B., CONNOLLY K.M., CONWAY J.G., FURDON P., KARP S., KIDAO S., MCELROY A.B., NICHOLS J., PRYZWANSKY K.M., SCHOENEN F., SEKUT L., TRUESDALE A., VERGHESE M., WARNER J. & WAYS J.P. (1994) Regulation of tumor necrosis factor- α processing by a metalloproteinase inhibitor. *Nature* **370**, 558-561.

MCGRAW R.A., COFFEE B.W., OTTO C.M., DREWS R.T. & RAWLINGS C.A. (1990) Gene sequence of feline tumour necrosis factor alpha. *Nucleic Acids Research* **18**, 5563

MILENKOVIC L., RETTORI V., SNYDER G.D., BEUTLER B. & MCCANN S.M. (1989) Cachectin alters anterior pituitary hormone release by a direct action in vitro. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America* **86**, 2418-2422.

MILNE A.A.Y. & PIPER P.J. (1994) Effects of interleukin-5 inhibition on antigeninduced airway hyperresponsiveness and cell accumulation in guinea pigs. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 725, 282-287.

MILNE A.A.Y. & PIPER P.J. (1995) Role of VLA-4 integrin in leukocyte recruitment and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in the guinea pig. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 282, 243-249.

MINTY A., CHALON P., DEROCQ J.-M., DUMONT X., GUILLEMOT J.-C., KAGHAD M., LABIT C., LEPLATOIS P., LIAUZAN P., MILOUX B., MINTY C., CASSELLAS P., LOISON G., LUPKER J., SHIRE D., FERRARA P. & CAPUT D. (1993) Interleukin-13 is a new human lymphokine regulating inflammatory and immune responses. *Nature* **362**, 248-250.

MOLDAWER L.L., ANDERSSON C., GELIN J. & LUNDHOLM K.G. (1988) Regulation of food intake and hepatic protein synthesis by recombinant-derived cytokines. *Am. J. Physiol.* **254**, G450-G456.

MONTGOMERY K.F., OSBORN L., HESSION C., TIZARD R., GOFF D., VASSALLO C., TARR P.I., BOMSZTYK K., LOBB R., HARLAN J.M. & POHLMAN T.H. (1991) Activation of endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 (ELAM-1) gene transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 6523-6527.

MOSMANN T.R., CHERWINSKI H., BOND M.W., GIEDLIN M.A. & COFFMAN R.L. (1986) Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition accordig to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J. Immunol.* **136**, 2348-2357.

MOSS M.L., JIN S.-L.C., MILLA M.E., BURKHART W., CARTER H.L., CHEN W.-J., CLAY W.C., DIDSBURY J.R., HASSLER D., HOFFMAN C.R., KOST T.A., LAMBERT M.H., LEESNITZER M.A., MCCAULEY P., MCGEEHAM G., MITCHELL J., MOYER M., PAHEL G., ROCQUE W., OVERTON L.K., SCHOENEN F., SEATON T., SUI J.-L., WARNER J., WILLARD D. & BECHERER J.D. (1997) Cloning of a disintegrin metalloproteinase that processes precursor tumour-necrosis factor-α. *Nature* 385, 733-736.

MULLBERG J., DURIE F., OTTEN-EVANS C., ALDERSON M.R., ROSELOHN S., COSMAN D., BLACK R.A. & MOHLER K.M. (1995) A metalloprotease inhibitor blocks shedding of the IL-6 receptor and the p60 TNF receptor. *J. Immunol.* **155**, 5198

MUNOZ E., ZUBIAGA A.M., SIMS J.E. & HUBER B.T. (1991) IL-1 signal transduction pathways. I. Two functional IL-1 receptors are expressed in T cells. J. Immunol. 146, 136-143.

NAGAI H., YAMAGUCHI S., INAGAKI N., TSURUOKA N., HITOSHI Y. & TAKATSU K. (1993) Effect of anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibody on allergic bronchial eosinophilia and airway hyperresponsiveness in mice. *Life Sci.* **53**, PL243-PL247.

NAKAJIMA H., SANO H., NISHIMURA T., YOSHIDA S. & IWAMOTO I. (1994) Role of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1/very late activation antigen 4 and intercellular adhesion molecule 1/lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 interactions in antigen-induced eosinophil and T cell recruitment into the tissue. *J. Exp. Med.* **179**, 1145-1154. NASH A.D., BARCHAM G.J., BRANDON M.R. & ANDREWS A.E. (1991) Molecular cloning, expression and characterization of ovine TNFα. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **69**, 273-283.

NAWORTH P.P., BANK I., HANDLEY D., CASSIMERIS J., CHESS L. & STERN D. (1986) Tumor necrosis factor/cachectin interacts with endothelial cell receptors to induce release of interleukin 1. *J. Exp. Med.* **163**, 1363-1375.

NAWROTH P.P. & STERN D.M. (1986) Modulation of endothelial cell haemostatic properties by tumour necrosis factor. *J. Exp. Med.* **163**, 740-745.

NEDWIN G.E., SVEDERSKY L.P., BRINGMAN T.S., PALLADINO M.A. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1985) Effect of interleukin 2, interferon-gamma, and mitogens on the production of tumor necrosis factors α and β . *J. Immunol.* **135**, 2492-2497.

NONAKA M., NONAKA R., WOOLLEY K., ADELROTH E., MIURA K., OKHAWARA Y., GLIBETIC M., NAKANO K., O'BYRNE P., DOLOVICH J. & JORDANA M. (1995) Distinct immunohistochemical localization of IL-4 in human inflamed airway tissues. *J Immunol.* **155**, 3234-3244.

NOSO N., PROOST P., VAN DAMME J. & SCHRÖDER J.-M. (1994) Human monocyte chemotactic proteins-2 and 3 (MCP-2 and MCP-3) attract human eosinophils and desensitize the chemotactic responses towards RANTES. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 200, 1470-1476.

O'MALLEY W.E., ACHINSTEIN B. & SHEAR M.J. (1962) Action of bacterial polysaccharide on tumours-III. Damage of sarcoma 37 by serum of mice treated with *Serratia Marcescens* polysacchride, and induced tolerance. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **29**, 1169-1175.

OHNISHI T., KITA H., WEILER D., SUR S., SEDGWICK J.B., CALHOUN W.J., BUSSE W.W., ABRAMS J.S. & GLEICH G.J. (1993a) IL-5 is the preodominant eosinophil-active cytokine in the antigen-induced pulmonary late-phase reaction. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 147, 901-907.

OHNISHI T., SUR S., COLLINS D.S., FISH J.E., GLEICH G.J. & PETERS S.P. (1993b) Eosinophil survival activity identified as interleukin-5 is associated with eosinophil recruitment and degranulation and lung injury twenty-four hours after segmental antigen lung challenge. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **92**, 607-615.

OSBORN L., HESSION C., TIZARD R., VASSALLO C., LUHOWSKYJ S., CHI-ROSSO G. & LOBB R. (1989) Direct expression cloning of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, a cytokine-induced endothelial protein that binds to lymphocytes. *Cell* 59, 1203-1211.

OWEN W.F., ROTHENBERG M.E., SILBERSTEIN D.S., GASSON J.C., STEVENS R.L., AUSTEN K.F. & SOBERMAN R.J. (1987) Regulation of human eosinophil viability, density and function by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor in the presence of 3T3 fibroblasts. *J. Exp. Med.* **166**, 129-141.

PARDI R., INVERARDI L. & BENDER J.R. (1992) Regulatory mechanisms in leukocyte adhesion: flexible receptors for sophisticated travelers. *Immunol. Today* **13**, 224-230.

PENNICA D., NEDWIN G.E., HAYFLICK J.S., SEEBURG P.H., DERYNCK R., PALLADINO M.A., KOHR W.J., AGGARWAL B.B. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1984) Human tumour necrosis factor: precursor structure, expression and homology to lymphotoxin. *Nature* **312**, 724-729. PENNICA D., HAYFLICK J.S., BRINGMAN T.S. & PALLADINO M.A. (1985) Cloning and expression in *Escherichia coli* of the cDNA for murine tumor necrosis factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **82**, 6060-6064.

PEREZ C., ALBERT I., DEFAY K., ZACHARIADES N., GOODING L. & KRIEGLER M. (1990) A nonsecretable cell surface mutant of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) kills by cell-to-cell contact. *Cell* 63, 251-258.

PERLMUTTER D.H., DINARELLO C.A., PUNSAL P.I. & COLTEN H.R. (1986) Cachectin/tumor necrosis factor regulates hepatic acute-phase gene expression. J. *Clin. Invest.* 78, 1349-1354.

PHILIP R. & EPSTEIN L.B. (1986) Tumour necrosis factor as immunomodulator and mediator of monocyte cytotoxicity induced by itself, gamma-interferon and interleukin-1. *Nature* **323**, 86-89.

PILLAI S., BIKLE D.D., EESSALU T.E., AGGARWAL B.B. & ELIAS P.M. (1989) Binding and biological effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha on cultured human neonatal foreskin keratinocytes. *J. Clin. Invest.* **83**, 816-821.

PLAUT M., PIERCE J.H., WATSON C.J., HANLEY-HYDES J., NORDAN R.P. & PAUL W.E. (1989) Mast cell lines produce lymphokines in response to cross linkage of FcE-RI or to calcium ionophores. *Nature* **339**, 64-67.

POBER J.S., BEVILACQUA M.P., MENDRICK D.L., LAPIERRE L.A., FIERS W. & GIMBRONE M.A. (1986) Two distinct monokines, interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor, each independently induce biosynthesis and transient expression of the same antigen on the surface of cultured human vascular endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* **136**, 1680-1687.

POPA V., DOUGLAS J.S. & BOUHUYS A. (1973) Airway responses to histamine, acetylcholine, and propanolol in anaphylactic hypersensitivity in guinea-pigs. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **51**, 344-356.

PRETOLANI M., RUFFIÉ C., LAPA E SILVA J., JOSEPH D., LOBB R.R. & VARGAFTIG B.B. (1994) Antibody to very late activation antigen 4 prevents antigeninduced bronchial hyperreactivity and cellular infiltration in the guinea pig airways. J. *Exp. Med.* **180**, 795-805.

PUNNONEN J., AVERSA G., COCKS B.G., MCKENZIE A.N., MENON S., BENNET B., CULPEPPER J., DANG W., ZURAWSKI G. & DE VRIES J.E. (1993) Interleukin-13 induces interleukin-4-independent IgG4 and IgE synthesis and CD23 expression by human B-cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 3730-3734.(Abstract)

RADOLF J.D., NORGARD M.V., BRANDT M.E., ISAACS R.D., THOMPSON P.A.
& BEUTLER B. (1991) Lipoproteins of *Borrelia burgdorferi* and *Treponema* pallidum activate cachectin/TNF synthesis: Analysis using a CAT reporter construct.
J. Immunol. 147, 1968-1974.

REMICK D.G., STRIETER R.M., LYNCH P.J., NGUYEN D., ESKANDARI M. & KUNKEL S.L. (1989) *In vivo* dynamics of murine tumor necrosis factor- α gene expression: kinetics of dexamethasone-induced suppression. *Lab. Invest.* **60**, 766-771.

ROBBINS D.S., SHIRAZI Y., DRYSDALE B.-E., LIBERMAN A., SHIN H.S. & SHIN M. (1987) Production of cytotoxic factor for oligodendrocytes by stimulated astrocytes. *J. Immunol.* **139**, 2593-2597.

ROBINSON D., HAMID Q., BENTLEY A., YING S., KAY A.B. & DURHAM S.R. (1993) Activation of CD4+ T cells, increased T_{H2} -type cytokine mRNA expression,

and eosinophil recruitment in bronchoalveolar lavage after allergen inhalation challenge in patients with atopic asthma. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 92, 313-324.

ROBINSON D.S., HAMID Q., YING S., TSICOPOULOS A., BARKANS J.,
BENTLEY A.M., CORRIGAN C., DURHAM S.R. & KAY A.B. (1992) Predominant
T_{H2}-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **326**, 298-304.

ROBINSON D.S., YING S., BENTLEY A.M., MENG Q., NORTH J., DURHAM S.R., KAY A.B. & HAMID Q. (1993) Relationships among numbers of bronchoalveolar lavage cells expressing messenger ribonucleic acid for cytokines, asthma symptoms, and airway methacholine responsiveness in atopic asthma. *J. Allergy Clin. Immunol.* **92**, 397-403.

ROBSON R.L., WESTWICK J. & BROWN Z. (1995) Differential regulation of RANTES in response to IL-1 α and TNF α in human mesangial cells (MC). J. Am. Soc. Nephrol., 6, 851(Abstract)

ROT A. (1992) Endothelial cell binding of NAP-1/IL-8: Role in neutrophil emigration. *Immunol. Today* **13**, 291-294.

ROT A., KRIEGER M., BRUNNER T., BISCHOFF S.C., SCHALL T.J. & DAHINDEN C.A. (1992) RANTES and macrophage inflammatory protein 1α induce the migration and activation of normal human eosinophil granulocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* **176**, 1489-1495.

ROTHENBERG M.E., OWEN W.F., JR., SILBERSTEIN D.S., WOODS J., SOBERMAN R.J., AUSTEN K.F. & STEVENS R.L. (1988) Human eosinophils have prolonged survival, enhanced functional properties, and become hypodense when exposed to human interleukin 3. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 1986-1992.

ROTHENBERG M.E., LUSTER A.D., LILLY C.M., DRAZEN J.M. & LEDER P. (1995) Constitutive and allergen-induced expression of eotaxin mRNA in the guinea pig lung. *J. Exp. Med.* **181**, 1211-1216.

ROUBIN R., ELSAS P.P., FIERS W. & DESSEIN A.J. (1987) Recombinant human tumour necrosis factor (rTNF) enhances leukotriene biosynthesis in neutrophils and eosinophils stimulated with the Ca2+ ionophore A23187. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **70**, 484-490.

SAKLATVALA J. (1986) Tumour necrosis factor α stimulates resorption and inhibits synthesis of proteoglycan in cartilage. *Nature* **322**, 547-549.

SAMTER M. (1949) The response of eosinophils in the guinea-pig to sensitisation, anaphylaxis and various drugs. *Blood* 4, 217-246.

SANGER E., NICKLEN S. & COULSON A.R. (1977) DNA sequencing with chain terminating inhibitors. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America* **74**, 5463-5467.

SANJAR S., AOKI S., BOUBEKEUR K., CHAPMAN I.D., SMITH D., KINGS M.A. & MORLEY J. (1990a) Eosinophil accumulation in pulmonary airways of guinea-pigs induced by exposure to an aerosol of platelet-activating factor: Effect of anti-asthma drugs. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **99**, 267-272.

SANJAR S., AOKI S., KRISTERSSON A., SMITH D. & MORLEY J. (1990b) Antigen challenge induces pulmonary airway eosinophil accumulation and airway hyperreactivity in sensitised guinea-pigs: the effect of anti-asthma drugs. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **99**, 679-686. SARIBAN E., IMAMURA K., LUEBBERS R. & KUFE D. (1988) Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of tumor necrosis factor gene expression in human monocytes. *J. Clin. Invest.* **81**, 1506-1510.

SAXNE T., PALLANDINO M.A., HEINEGARD D., TALAL N. & WOLLHEIM F.A. (1988) Detection of tumor necrosis factor α but not tumor necrosis factor β in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid and serum. *Arth. Rheum.* **31**, 1041-1045.

SCHALL T.J., LEWIS M., KOLLER K.J., LEE A., RICE G.C., WONG G.H.W., GATANANGA T., GRANGER G.A., LENTZ R., RAAB H., KOHR W.J. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1990) Molecular cloning and expression of a receptor for human tumor necrosis factor. *Cell* **61**, 361-370.

SCHELLENBERG R.R., ISHIDA K. & THOMSON R.J. (1991) Nedocromil sodium inhibits airway hyperresponsiveness and eosinophilic infiltration induced by repeated antigen challenge in guinea-pigs. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* **103**, 1842-1846.

SCHWEIGERER L., MALERSTEIN B. & GOSPODAROWICZ D. (1987) Tumor necrosis factor inhibits the proliferation of cultured capillary endothelial cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 143, 997-1004.

SCHWEIZER R.C., WELMERS B.A.C., RAAIJMAKERS J.A.M., ZANEN P., LAMMERS J.-W.J. & KOENDERMAN L. (1994) RANTES- and interleukin-8induced responses in normal human eosinophils: Effects of priming with interleukin-5. *Blood* **83**, 3697-3704.

SECKINGER P., ZHANG J.-H., HAUPTMANN B. & DAYER J.-M. (1990) Characterization of a tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) inhibitor: evidence of immunological cross-reactivity with the TNF receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **87**, 5188-5192. SECKINGER P., ISAAZ S. & DAYER J.-M. (1997) A human inhibitor of tumor necrosis factor α. J. Exp. Med. 167, 1511-1516.

SELIG W. & TOCKER J. (1992) Effect of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist on antigen-induced pulmonary responses in guinea pigs. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **213**, 331-336.

SELMAJ K.W. & RAINE C.S. (1988) TNF mediates myelin and oligodendrocyte damage in vitro. Ann. Neurol. 29, 339-346.

SELMAJ.K, RAINE.C S., CANELLA.B & BROSNAN.C F. (1991) Identification of lymphotoxin and tumor necrosis factor in multiple sclerosis lesions. *J. Clin. Invest.* 87, 949-954.

SERTL K., KOWALSKI M.L., SLATER J. & KALINER M.A. (1988) Passive sensitization and antigen challenge increase vascular permeability in rat airways. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 138, 1295-1299.

SHALABY M.R., AGGARWAL B.B., RINDERKNECHT E., SVEDERSKY L.P., FINKLE B.S. & PALLADINO M.A. (1985) Activation of human polymorphonuclear neutrophil functions by interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factors. *J. Immunol.* **135**, 2069-2073.

SHANAHAN W.R., HANCOCK W.N. & KORN J.H. (1989) Expression of IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor by endothelial cells: Role in stimulating fibroblast PGE2 synthesis. J. Exp. Pathology (USA) 4, 17-27.

SHANLEY T.P., SCHMAL H., FRIEDL H.P., JONES M.L. & WARD P.A. (1995) Role of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α (MIP-1 α) in acute lung injury in rats. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 4793-4802.

SHAW G. & KAMEN R. (1986) A conserved AU sequence from the 3' untranslated region of GM-CSF mRNA mediates selective mRNA degradation. *Cell* **46**, 659-667.

SHEAR M.J., PERRAULT A. & ADAMS J.R. (1943) Chemical treatment of tumors-VI. Method employed in determining the potency of hemorrhage-producing bacterial preparations. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 4, 99-105.

SHIRAI T., YAMAGUCHI H., ITO H., TODD C.W. & WALLACE R.B. (1985) Cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of the gene for human tumour necrosis factor. *Nature* **313**, 803-806.

SHIRAI T., SHIMIZU N., HORIGUCHI S. & ITO H. (1989) Cloning and expression in Escherichia coli of the gene for rat tumor necrosis factor. *Agric. Biol. Chem.* 53, 1733-1736.

SHORT J.M., FERNANDEZ J.M., SORGE J.A. & HUSE W.D. (1988) Lambda ZAP: a bacteriophage lambda expression vector with *in vivo* excision properties. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 16, 7583-7600.

SMITH C.A., DAVIS T., ANDERSON D., SOLAM L., BECKMANN M.P., JERZY R., DOWER S.K., COSMAN D. & GOODWIN R.G. (1990) A receptor for tumor necrosis factor defines an unusual family of cellular and viral proteins. *Science* 248, 1019-1023.

SMITH D., BURROWS L.J. & WESTWICK J. (1991) Aerosol exposure of guineapigs to rhIL-8 causes pulmonary eosinophil accumulation but not airway hyperreactivity. *Adv. Asthmol.* **958**, 415-418.

SMITH R.A., KIRSTEIN M., FIERS W. & BAGLIONI C. (1986) Species specificty of human and murine tumor necrosis factor: a comparative study of tumor necrosis factor receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 14871-14874.

SMITH R.A. & BAGLIONI C. (1987) The active form of tumor necrosis factor is a trimer. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 6951-6954.

SNAPPER C.M. & PAUL W.E. (1987) Interferon-gamma and B-cell stimulatory factor-1 reciprocally regulate Ig isotype production. *Science* **236**, 944-947.

SOUSSI GOUNNI A., LAMKHIOUED B., OCHIAI K., TANAKA Y., DELAPORTE E., CAPRON A., KINET J.-P. & CAPRON M. (1994) High-affinity IgE receptor on eosinophils is involved in defence against parasites. *Nature* **367**, 183-186.

SPINAS G.A., BLOESCH D., KAUFMANN M.T., KELLER U. & DAYER J.M. (1990) Induction of plasma inhibitors of interleukin 1 and TNFα activity by endotoxin administration to normal humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* **259**, R993

SPRINGER T.A., THOMPSON W.S., MILLER L.G., SCHMALSTIEG F.C. & ANDERSON D.C. (1984) Inherited deficiency of the Mac1, LFA-1, p150/95 glycoprotein family and its molecular basis. *J. Exp. Med.* **160**, 1901-1918.

SPRINGER T.A. (1990) Adhesion receptors of the immune system. *Nature* **346**, 425-434.

SPRIGGS D.R., IMAMURA K., RODRIGUEZ C., SARIBAN E. & KUFE D.W. (1988) Tumor necrosis factor expression in human epithelial tumor cell lines. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 455-460.

STANDIFORD T.J., KUNKEL S.L., LUKACS N.W., GREENBERGER M.J., DANFORTH J.M., KUNKEL R.G. & STRIETER R.M. (1995) Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha mediates lung leukocyte recruitment, lung capillary leak and early mortality in murine endotoxemia. *J. Immunol.* **155**, 1515-1524.

STAUNTON D.E., DUSTIN D.M. & SPRINGER T.A. (1989) Functional cloning of ICAM-2 a cell adhesion ligand for LFA-2 Homologous to cell-1. *Nature* **339**, 61-65.

SU X., MORRIS D.D. & MCGRAW R.A. (1991) Cloning and characterisation of gene TNFα encoding equine tumor necrosis factor-α. *Gene* **107**, 319-321.

SUN X.-M. & HSUEH W. (1988) Bowel necrosis induced by tumor necrosis factor in rats is mediated by platelet-activating factor. J. Clin. Invest. 81, 1328-1331.

SUTTON B.J. & GOULD H.J. (1993) The human IgE network. Nature 366, 421-428.

TAI P.-C., SUN L. & SPRY C.J.F. (1991) Effects of IL-5, granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and IL-3 on the survival of human blood eosinophils *in vitro*. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **85**, 312-316.

TAKASUKA N., MATSUURA K., YAMAMOTO S. & AKAGAWA K. (1995) Suppression of TNFα mRNA expression in LPS-primed macrophages occurs at the level of nuclear factor-kB activation, but not at the level of protein kinase C or CD14 expression. J. Immunol. 154, 4803 TAMATANI T., KIMURA S., HASHIMOTO T. & ONOZAKI K. (1989) Purification of guinea pig tumor necrosis factor (TNF): Comparison of its antiproliferative and differentiative activities for myeloid leukemic cell lines with those of recombinant human TNF. J. Biochem. 105, 55-60.

TAMKUN J.W., DESIMONE D.W., FONDA D., PATEL R.S., BUCK C., HORWITZ A.F. & HYNES R.O. (1986) Structure of integrin, a glycoprotein involved in the transmembrane linkage between fibronectin and actin. *Cell* **46**, 271-282.

TANAKA Y., ADAMS D.H., HUBSCHER S., HIRANO H., SIEBENLIST U. & SHAW S. (1993) T-cell adhesion induced by proteoglycan-immobilized cytokine MIP-1β. *Nature* **361**, 79-82.

TARTAGLIA L.A., WEBER R.F., FIGARI I.S., REYNOLDS C., PALLADINO M.A. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1991) The two different receptors for tumor necrosis factor mediate distinct cellular responses. *Proceedings Of The National Academy Of Sciences Of The United States Of America* **88**, 9292-9296.

TARTAGLIA L.A., ROTHE M., HU Y. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1993) Tumour necrosis factor's cytotoxic activity is signaled by the p55 TNF receptor. *Cell* **73**, 213-216.

TARTAGLIA L.A. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1992a) Tumor necrosis factor receptor signalling. J. Biol. Chem. 267(7), 4304-4307.

TARTAGLIA L.A. & GOEDDEL D.V. (1992b) Two TNF receptors. *Immunol. Today* 13, 151-153.

TAYLOR-ROBINSON A.W., LIEW F.Y. & SEVERN A. (1994) Regulation of the immune response by nitric oxide differentially produced by Th1 and Th2 cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **24**, 980-984.

TEPPER R.I., LEVINSON D.A., STANGER B.Z., CAMPOS-TORRES J., ABBAS A.K. & LEDER P. (1993) IL-4 induces allergic-like inflammatory disease and alters T cell development in transgenic mice. *Cell* **62**, 457-467.

TERAN L.M., NOSO N., CARROLL M., DAVIES D.E., HOLGATE S. & SCHRODER J.-M. (1996) Eosinophil recruitment following allergen challenge is associated with the release of the chemokine RANTES into asthmatic airways. J. Immunol. 157, 1806-1812.

TRACEY K.J., BEUTLER B., LOWRY S.F., MERRYWEATHER J., WOLPE S., MILSARK I.W., HARIRI R.J., FAHEY T.J., ZENTELLA A., ALBERT J., SHIRES G.T. & CERAMI A. (1986) Shock and tissue injury induced by recombinant human cachectin. *Science* **234**, 470-474.

TSUJIMOTO M., SHUJI Y., VILCEK J. & WEISSMAN G. (1986) Tumor necrosis factor provokes superoxide anion generation from neutrophils. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 137, 1094-1100.

ULICH T.R., GUO K., IRWIN B., REMICK D.G. & DAVATELIS G.N. (1990) Endotoxin-induced cytokine gene expression in vivo II. Regulation of tumor necrosis factor and interleukin- $1\alpha/\beta$ expression and suppression. *Am. J. Pathol.* **137**, 1173-1185.

ULICH T.R., WATSON L.R., YIN S., WANG P., THANG H. & DEL CASTILLO J. (1991) The intratracheal administration of endotoxin and cytokines I. Characterization of LPS-induced IL-1 and TNF mRNA expression and the LPS-, IL-1-, and TNF-induced inflammatory infiltrate. *Am. J. Pathol.* **138**, 1485-1496.

VAN OOSTERHOUT A.J.M., LADENIUS A.R.C., SAVELKOUL H.F.J., VAN ARK I., DELSMAN K.C. & NIJKAMP F.P. (1993a) Effect of anti-IL-5 and IL-5 on airway hyperreactivity and eosinophils in guinea pigs. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 147, 548-552.

VAN OOSTERHOUT A.J.M., VAN ARK I., HOFMAN G., SAVELKOUL H.F.J. & NIJKAMP F.P. (1993b) Recombinant interleukin-5 induces in vivo airway hyperresponsiveness to histamine in guinea pigs. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **236**, 379-383.

VAN ZEE K.J., KOHNO T., FISCHER E., ROCK C.S., MOLDAWER L.L. & LOWRY S.F. (1992) Tumor necrosis factor soluble receptors circulate during experimental and clinical inflammation and can protect against tumor necrosis factoralpha in vitro and in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **89**, 4845-4849.

VAN ZEE K.J., STACKPOLE S.A., MONTEGUT W.J., ROGY M.A., CALVANO S.E., HSU K.C., CHAO M., MESCHTER C.L., LOETSCHER H., STUBER D., ETTLIN U., WIPF B., LESSLAVER W., LOWRY S.F. & MOLDAWER L.L. (1994) A human tumor necrosis factor- α mutant that binds exclusively to the p55 TNF receptor produces toxicity in the baboon. *J. Exp. Med.* **179**, 1185-1191.

VANNIER E., MALEFYT R.D., SALAZAR-MONTES A., DE VRIES J.E. & DINARELLO C.A. (1996) Interleukin-13 (IL-13) induces IL-1 receptor antagonist gene expression and protein synthesis in peripheral blood mononuclear cells: Inhibition by an IL-4 mutant protein. *Blood* 87, 3307-3315.

VARLEY J.G., PERRING S., SEMINARIO M.C., FLEMING J., HOLGATE S.T. & CHURCH M.K. (1991) Aerosol deposition in the guinea-pig. A comparison of two methods of exposure. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 143, A708

VILCEK J., PALOMBELLA V.J., HENRIKSEN-DESTEFANO D., SWENSON C., FEINMAN R., HIRAI M. & TSUJIMOTO M. (1986) Fibroblast groth enhancing

activity of tumor necrosis factor and its relationship to other polypeptide growth factors. J. Exp. Med. 163, 632-643.

WALKER C., VIRCHOW J.-C., JR., BRUIJNZEEL P.L.B. & BLASER K. (1991) T cell subsets and their soluble products regulate eosinophilia in allergic and nonallergic asthma. *J. Immunol.* **146**, 1829-1835.

WALKER C., BODE E., BOER L., HANSEL T.T., BLASER K. & VIRCHOW J. (1992) Allergic and nonallergic asthmatics have distinct patterns of T-cell activation and cytokine production in peripheral blood and bronchoalveolar lavage. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 146, 109-115.

WANG A.M., CREASEY A.A., LADNER M.B., LIN L.S., STRICKLER J., VAN ARSDELL J.N., YAMAMOTO R. & MARK D.F. (1985) Molecular cloning of the complementary DNA for human tumor necrosis factor. *Science* **228**, 149-154.

WANG J.M., RAMBALDI A., BIONDI A., CHEN Z.G., SANDERSON C.J. & MANTOVANI A. (1989) Recombinant human interleukin 5 is a selective eosinophil chemoattractant. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **19**, 701-705.

WARDLAW A.J., MOQBEL R., CROMWELL O. & KAY A.B. (1986) Plateletactivating factor. A potent chemotactic and chemokinetic factor for human eosinophils. J. Clin. Invest. 78, 1701-1706.

WARNER J.C. & LIBBY P. (1989) Human vascular smooth muscle cells. Target for and source of tumor necrosis factor. J. Immunol. 142, 100-109.

WARZOCHA K., BIENVENU J., COIFFIER B. & SALLES G. (1994) Mechanisms of action of the tumor necrosis factor and lymphotoxin ligand-receptor system. *Eur. Cytokine Netw.* 5, 83-96.

WATSON M.L., LEWIS G.P. & WESTWICK J. (1988) Neutrophil stimulation by recombinant cytokines and a factor produced by IL-1-treated human synovial cell cultures. *Immunology* **65**, 567-572.

WATSON M.L., SMITH D., BOURNE A.D., THOMPSON R.C. & WESTWICK J. (1993) Cytokines contribute to airway disfunction in antigen challenged guinea-pigs: inhibition of airway hyperreactivity, pulmonary eosinophil accumulation and tumour necrosis factor generation by pretreatment with an interleukin 1 receptor antagonist. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **8**, 365-369.

WEBB L.M.C., EHRENGRUBER M.U., CLARK-LEWIS I., BAGGIOLINI M. & ROT A. (1993) Binding to heparan sulphate or heparin enhances neutrophil responses to interleukin 8. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 7158-7162.

WEG V.B., WILLIAMS T.J., LOBB R.R. & NOURSHARGH S. (1993) A monoclonal antibody recognizing very late activation antigen-4 inhibits eosinophil accumulation in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **177**, 561-566.

WEG V.B., WALSH D.T., FACCIOLI L.H., WILLIAMS T.J., FELDMANN M. & NOURSHARGH S. (1995) LPS-induced ¹¹¹In-eosinophil accumulation in guinea-pig skin: Evidence for a role for TNF-α. *Immunology* **84**, 36-40.

WEGNER C.D., GUNDEL R.H., REILLY P., HAYNES N., LETTS L.G. & ROTHLEIN R. (1990) Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) in the pathogenesis of asthma. *Science* 247, 456-459.

WEISS S.J. (1989) Tissue destruction by neutrophils. N. Engl. J. Med. 320, 365-375.

WELBORN III M.B., VAN ZEE K., EDWARDS P.D., PRUITT J.H., KAIBARA A., VAUTHEY J.-N., ROGY M., CASTLEMAN W.L., LOWRY S.F., KENNEY J.S., STUBER D., ETTLIN U., WIPF B., LOETSCHER H., COPELAND III E.M., LESSLAUER W. & MOLDAWER L.L. (1996) A human tumor necrosis factor p75 receptor agonist stimulated in vitro T cell proliferation but does not produce inflammation or shock in the baboon. *J. Exp. Med.* **184**, 165-171.

WESSELIUS L.J., SMIRNOV I.M., O'BRIEN-LADNER A.R. & NELSON M.E. (1995) Synergism of intratracheally administered tumor necrosis factor with interleukin-1 in the induction of lung edema in rats. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* **125**, 618-625.

WESTWICK J., LINDLEY I.J.D. & KUNKEL S.L. (1991) Chemotactic Cytokines: Biology of the inflammatory peptide supergene family. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology vol 305. New York: Plenum. pp. 1-190.

WHITE A.-M., YOSHIMURA T., SMITH A.W., WESTWICK J. & WATSON M.L.
(1997) Inflammation induced by recombinant guinea-pig tumor necrosis factor-α. Am.
J. Physiol. (Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.) in press.

WHITE J.R., IMBURGIA C., DUL E., APPELBAUM E., O'DONNELL K., O'SHANNESSY D.J., BRAWNER M., FORNWALD J., FOLEY J.J., SCHMIDT D.B., SCHLEIMER R. & SARAU H.M. (1997) Identification of a novel CC chemokine Ckb-6 with eosinophil chemotactic activity which functions through the CCR3 receptor. *Proceedings of the Keystone Symposia, Copper Mountain, Colorado.* The role of chemokines in leukocyte trafficking and disease.

WODNAR-FILIPOWICZ A., HEUSSER H. & MORONI C. (1989) Production of the haemopoietic growth factors GM-CSF and interleukin-3 by mast cells in response to IgE receptor-mediated activation. *Nature* **339**, 150-152.

WRIDE M.A. & SANDERS E.J. (1995) Potential roles for tumor necrosis factor α during embryonic development. *Anat. Embryol. Berl.* **191**, 1

YAMAGUCHI Y., HAYASHI Y., SUGAMA Y., MIURA Y., KASAHARA T., KITAMURA S., TORISU M., MITA S., TOMINAGA A., TAKATSU K. & SUDA T. (1988) Highly purified murine interleukin 5 (IL-5) stimulates eosinophil function and prolongs in vitro survival. IL-5 is an eosinophil chemotactic factor. *J. Exp. Med.* **167**, 1737-1742.

YANAGAWA H., SONE S., HAKU T., MIZUNO K., YANO S., OHMOTO Y. & OGURA T. (1995) Contrasting effect of interleukin-13 on interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and proinflammatory cytokine production by human alveolar macrophages. *Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol.* **12**, 71-76.

YOSHIMURA T. & JOHNSON D.G. (1993) cDNA cloning and expression of guinea pig neutrophil attractant protein-1 (NAP-1): NAP-1 is highly conserved in guinea pig. *J. Immunol.* **151**, 6225-6236.

YOUSEFI S., HEMMANN S., WEBER M., HÖLZER C., HARTUNG K., BLASER K. & SIMON H.-U. (1995) IL-8 is expressed by human peripheral blood eosinophils: Evidence for increased secretion in asthma. *J. Immunol.* **154**, 5481-5490.

ZUANY-AMORIM C., CREMINON C., NEVERS M.C., NAHORI M.A., VARGAFTIG B.B. & PRETOLANI M. (1996) Modulation by IL-10 of antigeninduced IL-5 generation, and CD4⁺ T lymphocyte and eosinophil infiltration into the mouse peritoneal cavity. *J. Immunol.* **157**, 377-384.

ZURAWSKI G. & DE VRIES J.E. (1994) Interleukin 13, an interleukin 4-like cytokine that acts on monocytes and B cells, but not on T cells. *Immunol. Today* 15, 19-26.